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Mission

We are an energy company.

We concretely support a just energy transition,

with the objective of preserving our planet

and promoting an efficient and sustainable access to energy for all.
Our work is based on passion and innovation,

on our unique strengths and skills,

on the equal dignity of each person,

recognizing diversity as a key value for human development,

on the responsibility, integrity and transparency of our actions.

We believe in the value of long-term partnerships with the Countries
and communities where we operate, bringing long-lasting prosperity for all.

Global goals for a sustainable development

The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, presented in September 2015, identifies the 17
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) which represent the common targets of sustainable develop-
ment on the current complex social problems. These goals are an important reference for the internatio-
nal community and Eni in managing activities in those Countries in which it operates.
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Consolidated disclosure of Non-Financial Information

This Annual Report includes the consolidated Disclosure of Non-Financial Information (NFI), prepared in accordance with Legislative De-
cree No. 254/2016, relating to the following topics: environment; social; people; human rights; anti-corruption. The disclosure on these
topics and KPIs included in this report are defined in accordance with the “Sustainability Reporting Standards” published by the Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI Standards), for which NFl is subject to limited assurance. In addition, the Task force on Climate-related Financial

Disclosures (TCFD) recommendations and World Economic Forum (WEF) Core metrics were taken into account.

Integrated Annual Report

Eni's 2021 Annual Report is prepared in accordance with principles included in the “International Framework”, published by International In-
tegrated Reporting Council (IIRC). It is aimed at representing financial and sustainability performance, underlining the existing connections
between competitive environment, group strategy, business model, integrated risk management and a stringent corporate governance
system.

The mission represents more explicitly the Eni's path to face the global challenges, contributing to achieve the SDGs determined by the UN

in order to clearly address the actions to be implemented by all the involved players.

ESEF (European Single Electronic Format) requirements
This report has not been prepared in accordance with the EU Delegated Regulation 2019/815 (ESEF Regulation), implementing the Tran-
sparency Directive. The Annual Report in ESEF format (only in Italian language) is published in the specific section of the Company’s

website (www.eni.com, Publications) and is available at the centralized storage mechanism authorized by Consob “1info” — (www.Tinfo.it).

Disclaimer

This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements in particular under the section “Outlook” regarding capital expenditures,
dividends, buy-back programs, allocation of future cash flow from operations, financial structure evolution, future operating performance,
targets of production and sale growth and the progress and timing of projects. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and
uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that will or may occur in the future. Actual results may differ from
those expressed in such statements, depending on a variety of factors, including the impact of the pandemic disease; the timing of brin-
ging new oil and gas fields on stream; management'’s ability in carrying out industrial plans and in succeeding in commercial transactions;
future levels of industry product supply; demand and oil and natural gas pricing; operational problems; general macroeconomic conditions;
political stability and economic growth in relevant areas of the world; changes in laws and governmental regulations; development and use
of new technology; changes in public expectations and other changes in business conditions; the actions of competitors. “Eni” means the
parent company Eni SpA and its consolidated subsidiaries.
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Activities

Eni is a global energy company with a high technological content, engaged in the entire
value chain: from the exploration, development and extraction of oil and natural gas, to the
generation of electricity from cogeneration and renewable sources, traditional and bio refining
and chemical, and the development of circular economy processes. Eni extends its reach to
end markets, marketing gas, power and products to local markets and to retail and business
customers also offering services of energy efficiency and sustainable mobility. Both CO,
capture and storage and Natural Climate Solutions initiatives will be implemented to absorb
residual emissions.

Consolidated expertise, technologies and geographical distribution of assets are Eni
levers to strengthen its presence along the value chain.

Along this path, Eni is committed to become a leading company in the production and sale
of decarbonized energy products, increasingly customer-oriented. Decarbonization will be
achieved through the implementation and strengthening existing technologies and activities
such as:

» Efficiency and digitalization in operations and customer services;

» Renewables through increased capacity and integration with the retail business;

» Biorefineries with an increasing input of raw material from waste and from an integrated
agribio-feedstock production chain not in competition with food production;

Circular economy with increased production of biomethane, use of waste products and
recycling of end products;

Blue and green hydrogen to power highly energy-intensive industrial activities and
sustainable mobility;

Natural or artificial carbon capture to absorb residual emissions through Natural Climate
Solutions, including REDD+ forest conservation initiatives and CCS projects.

v

v
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Gas will be an important support to intermittent sources in the energy transition.
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Business Model

Eni business model is aimed at the creation of value for all stakeholders
through a strong presence along the entire value chain of energy. Eni aims
to contribute, directly or indirectly, to the achievement of the Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs) of the United Nations 2030 Agenda, supporting
a just energy transition, which responds with concrete and economically
sustainable solutions to the challenges of combating climate change and
giving access to energy in an efficient and sustainable way, for all.

Eni organically combines its business plan with the principles of environmental
and social sustainability, extending its range of action along three pillars:

Value creation
for stakeholders

1. Eni business is constantly focused on operational excellence. This
translates into an ongoing commitment to valuing people, safeguarding
OPERATIONAL both the health and safety of people and asset integrity, protecting
EXCELLENCE the environment, integrity and respect for human rights, resilience and
diversification of activities and ensuring sound financial discipline. These
elements allow the company to seize the opportunities related to the
possible evolutions of the energy market and to continue on the path of
transformation.

2. Eni's business model envisages a decarbonization path towards carbon
neutrality by 2050 based on an approach oriented to emissions generated
throughout the life cycle of energy products and on a set of actions that
will lead to the total decarbonization of processes and products by 2050.
This path, achieved through existing technologies, will allow Eni to totally
reduce its carbon footprint, both in terms of net emissions and in terms of
net carbon intensity.

CARBON
NEUTRALITY
BY 2050

3. The third guideline refers to Alliances for the promotion of development
o I:E through the enhancement of the resources of the Countries where it

ALLIANCES FOR operates, promoting access to electricity and promoting Local Development
@ DEVELOPMENT Programmes (LDPs) with a broad portfolio of initiatives in favour of
communities. This distinctive approach, referred to as Dual Flag, is based
on collaborations with other internationally recognized players in order to
identify the needs of communities in line with the National Development
Plans and the United Nations 2030 Agenda. Eni is also committed to
creating job opportunities and transferring its know-how and expertise to
its local partners.

Competences, Eni's business model is developed along these three pillars by leveraging
technological innovation internal expertise, the development and application of innovative technologies
and digitalization and the digitalization process.

A fundamental element of the business model is the Corporate Governance
system, inspired by the principles of transparency and integrity, outlined further
in the “Governance” section.
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VALUE CREATION FOR STAKEHOLDERS

Through an integrated presence all along the energy value chain
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Responsible
and Sustainable Approach

COMMITMENTS

COMBAT
CLIMATE
CHANGE

Eni has defined a medium-long term plan to take full advantage of
the opportunities offered by the energy transition and progressively
reduce the carbon footprint of its activities, committing to achieve total
decarbonization of all its products and processes by 2050.

SDGs: 7912 13 15 17

@
w PEOPLE
w HEALTH

SAFETY

RESPECT FOR THE
ENVIRONMENT

(]
_w HUMAN RIGHTS

1 SUPPLIERS

o o
@  TRANSPARENCY,
@R ANTI-CORRUPTION
AND TAX STRATEGY

Eni is committed to supporting the “Just Transition” process by
consolidating and developing skills, enhancing every (professional and
non-professional) dimension of its people and recognising the values of
diversity and inclusion of all diversities.

SDGs:3 45810

Eni considers the protection of the health of its people, families and
communities in the Countries where it operates to be a fundamental
requirement and promotes their physical, psychological and social well-being.
SDGs:2 36 8 17

Eni considers workplace safety an essential value to be shared among
employees, contractors and local stakeholders and it is committed to
reduce incidents down to zero and to preserve assets integrity.

SDGs: 3 8

Eni promotes the efficient management of natural resources and the
safeguard of protected and relevant to biodiversity areas through actions
aimed at improving energy efficiency and the transition to a circular
economy and identifying potential impacts and mitigation actions.
SDG:36911 12 14 15

Eni is committed to respecting Human Rights (HRs) in its activities
and to promoting their respect with partners and stakeholders. This
commitment is based on the dignity of every human being and the
responsibility of businesses to contribute to the well-being of individuals
and local communities.

SDGs:1 234681016 17

Develop a sustainable supply chain, generating and transferring value to
all stakeholders through the Sustainable Procurement Programme.
SDGs:3 57891012 13 17

Eni carries out its business activities with loyalty, fairness, transparency,
honesty, integrity and in compliance with the laws.
SDGs: 16 17

MODEL

'@‘ COOPERATION

The cooperation model integrated into the business model is a distinctive
feature of Eni, which aims to support Countries in achieving their
development goals.

SDGs:1 234567891013 1517

(» TECHNOLOGICAL
INNOVATION

For Eni, research, development and rapid implementation of new technologies
are an important strategic lever to drive business transformation.
SDGs:7 912 13 17

(a) Total Recordable Injury Rate and Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate.
(b) Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative, supported by Eni since 2005.
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Eni's Mission clearly expresses the commitment of Eni to play a decisive role in the “Just Transition” process to achieve the
goal of net-zero emissions by 2050, with a view to sharing social and economic benefits with workers, the supply chain,
communities and customers in an inclusive, transparent and socially equitable manner, contributing to the achievement of
the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

MAIN RESULTS 2021 MAIN TARGETS
N
» -25% GHG emission intensity index UPS vs. 2014 > -43% GHG emission intensity index upstreamin 2025vs. 2014
» -31% volumes of hydrocarbons sent for routine flaring vs. 2014 »  Zeroroutine flaring in 2025
> -92% UPS fugitive methane emissions vs. 2014 (target achieved) > -80% UPS fugitive methane emissions in 2025 vs. 2014
» -26% UPS Net Carbon Footprint vs. 2018 »  Net Zero Carbon Footprint UPS in 2030 and Eni in 2035
» -10% Net GHG Lifecycle Emissions vs. 2018 » Net Zero GHG Lifecycle Emissions and Carbon Intensity
» 2% Net Carbon Intensity vs. 2018 in2050 )
. )
» 31,888 employees in service at 31 December (reported +3.6% vs. 2020) > Increase by 3 percentage points vs. 2020 of women
» +1.6 percentage point increase in women hired (26.2% in 2021) > %ng}s/:eir?’gwyezrgggcement rate with target >1 to 2025
» ~1.04 min hours of training (-0,3% compared to 2020) 1€ In the rep et
- » age diversity: +5 p.p. vs. 2021 of the population under 30
» 1,500 professional profiles mapped

by 2025
> +20% hours of training in 2025 vs. 2021

» Digital initiatives for monitoring and improving the

> 379,481 health services provided healthiness of indoor working environments

» 158,784 registrations to health promotion initiatives ) ) -
X ) o ) - » Improving access to community well-being and health

» 17 agreements signed with local communities, 8 of which for health crisis > Development of initiatives to promote correct lifestyles

management f

or employees

» TRIR=0.34; LTIF® = 0.23; FATALITY INDEX = 0
» 114 real emergency drills carried out with the involvement of personnel and » TRIR<0.40; 0 fatal accidents

operational vehicles »  Extension of digital initiatives in the field of safety to
» Over 60 courses on behavioural safety delivered (> 15,000 hours) contracting companies and digitalization of HSE processes
» Process Safety: awareness raised for over 14,000 employees and 10,000 »  Focus on behavioural safety and the human factor

contractors

»  Commitment to minimise fresh water withdrawals in
areas under water stress

» Reuse of fresh water in line with the trend of the last 5
years

» Re-injected production water in line with the trend of
the last 5 years net of the operating structure

» Development of new technologies for waste recovery
and implementation on an industrial scale

91% reuse of fresh water

+10% fresh water withdrawn vs. 2020

+19% waste generated from production activities vs. 2020
-35% barrels spilled from operational oil spills vs. 2020
Extension of biodiversity mapping to renewable energy plants

vVVvwVvwVww

» Completion of the three-year business and HRs training
programme

» Continue in the process of developing specific analysis
on 100% of new projects with HRs risks, including
agro-business projects

» 23,893 hours of training provided in the year on HRs

100% of the professional procurement family trained on HRs

» Reinforced clauses on HRs included since May 2021 in all contracts with
suppliers in the tender documentation and in all contractual standards

v

» Processing and roll out of the work-related HRs Due Diligence Model o ) )
»  98% of security contracts with HRs clauses ' Kee(p 100 % pf new suppliers assessed according to
social criteria
» Subscription of 2,500 qualified Eni suppliers to Open-es, in a path of growth
» ~1,000 suppliers invited to cyber-security training and self assessment B
» Application of sustainability safeguards in procurement procedures from April ’ Qﬁsé?ﬁz?aepet ?; gLe srizggabzlgzd;velopment path for
» Launch of the Sustainable Energy Basket Bond 9 PP Y
» Sustainability requirements in procurement procedures for ~ €2.5 bin
» 9 Countries where Eni supports EITI® Multi stakeholder Groups at local level » Provision to all employees of the new course “Code
» 20 internal audits conducted with anti-corruption checks of Ethics, Anti-Corruption and Corporate Social
» IS0 37001:2016 surveillance audit passed Responsibility”
» Anti-Corruption and Anti-Money Laundering module introduced to the new » IS0 37001:2016 certification maintained
e-learning course “Code of Ethics, Anti-Corruption and Corporate Responsibility” »  Continuous improvement of the Anti-Corruption
» Update of the Anti-Corruption MSG Compliance Program )
N
» €105.3 mininvested in local development » By 2025 ensure access: to energy for ~290K people; to
» Cooperation agreements signed including UNDP (United Nations Development education for ~72K students; to water services for ~95K
Programme), AICS (Italian Agency for Cooperation and Development) and civil people; to economic diversification initiatives for ~17K©
society organizations people; to health services for ~296K people
J
» €177 million invested in research and development > Guarantee that 70% of investment in research
» 30 new applications for first patent filings, of which 11 related and development is spent on decarbonization
to renewable sources issues

(c) The 17,000 beneficiaries include only people trained and/or supported for the start-up or strengthening of specific economic activities, not beneficiaries for infrastructure construction (roads, civil buildings, etc.)
or for new agro-business activities underway. In some cases beneficiaries are not trained but receive inputs, funds or other to start economic activities.
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Letter to shareholders

Dear Shareholders,

Eniis following with great attention and deep condolences the dramatic events of the conflict
in Ukraine and participates in the pain of people involved. Since 2014, when the international
sanctions regime against Russia was applied, we have implemented a policy of progressive
disengagement from upstream activities in the Country. Our current activities in Russia are
immaterial, limited to the interest in the Blue Stream pipeline for the export of Russian gas to
Turkey, of which we announced the divestment. In a context characterized by such magnitude
geopolitical crisis and potential huge “disruptions” in the raw material markets, we are making
great efforts with institutions and our partners to ensure the security of energy supplies to
Italy and our customers around the world in order to guarantee the normal course of civil life
and the economy.

In recent months, international gas supplies were regularly, thanks also to our diversified
portfolio; in any case, our company is preparing to manage possible extreme scenarios,
leveraging on the flexibility of gas supplies in our portfolio, on the availability of infrastructures
and important volumes of LNG, on the long-term relations with producing Countries
overlooking the Mediterranean area.

Looking at our results and what happened in 2021, our Company reacted quickly and
decisively to the deep social and economic crisis caused by COVID-19 pandemic, accelerating
the transformation of its business model for the leadership in the energy transition and pursue
the carbon neutrality strategy by 2050.

Strong attention has been paid to safeguarding capital and financial solidity through discipline
and redefinition of priorities in capital allocation.

With the mitigation of the health emergency followed by COVID-19 pandemic, the strong
macroeconomic restart of 2021, progressively extended from Asia to Western countries,
has driven the recovery of global oil & gas demand, rebounded synchronously in all the
geographies.

This generated tensions on unresponsive supply due to lower investments in the upstream
sector in the latest years, reproposing in all the critical issue of energy security.

In this framework, hydrocarbon prices reported a wide shoot with natural gas prices at an all-
time high and at four-fold increases compared to 2020, while Brent prices increased by 70%.
Leveraging on selective capex spending, cost reduction and portfolio optimizations, Eni has
been able to seize the strengthening of the scenario, reporting excellent operational and
financial results.

Eni reported an adjusted operating profit of €9.7 billion and an adjusted net profit of €4.3
billion. The robust adjusted cash generation of €12.7 billion easily funded organic capex
(€5.8 hillion) to maintain the production plateau and to boost renewable business growth,
generating an organic free cash flow of €7.6 billion. Generated cash flows funded capex
focused on business’ transition (€2.1 billion), dividends payment and buyback program
(overall €2.8 billion) which returned to pre-pandemic levels and reduced net borrowings to €9
billion and leverage to 0.20 compared to 0.31 as of December 31, 2020.

Eni will continue to focus on financial discipline to limit cash neutrality currently at a Brent
of 40 $/bbl to cover organic capex and dividends, leveraging on technology to accelerate
decarbonisation and exploit value from the portfolio restructuring, considering the imminent
IPO of Plenitude’s retail & renewable business.

The upstream portfolio is confirmed to be an important lever of value creation for the energy
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transition, as demonstrated, on the one hand, by the success of Var Energi listing on the Norwegian stock
exchange, the largest IPO of an O&G company in over a decade, and, on the other hand, the set up together
with BP of a strategic vehicle in Angola, combining the operations of the two partners.

The public offering of Plenitude shares, of which we will retain control, is one of the strategic steps towards
zero Scope 3 emissions associated to our retail customers. Plenitude will be structured as a financially
autonomous entity to ensure a more efficient capital structure and will leverage a unique business model,
resulting from the synergic combination of the retail customer portfolio, renewables and charging points
for electric vehicles to accelerate the growth of green capacity by reducing its risk profile and increasing
the market share. The new entity laid the foundation on a solid base of 10 million customers and over 2
GW of renewable capacity, installed and under construction.

In 2021, we significantly progressed in our path to decarbonization thanks to our pragmatic approach in
addressing emissions reduction by enhancing existing technologies, assets and skills to offerimmediately
applicable industrial and economic solutions, while investing in “break-through” technologies able to
change the energy paradigm in the long-term.

Together with the Commonwealth Fusion System, a spin-out company of MIT of which we are the
main partner, we achieved a breakthrough result in testing superconductors for the confinement of
the plasma from fusion, a technology that could represent a game changer in the decarbonization
path, being potentially able to produce huge amounts of energy, safely, virtually inexhaustible and zero
emissions. This achievement paves the way for the collection of net energy in a demonstration plant
that we aim to build by 2025.

In the United Kingdom, the Eni-led HyNet integrated project for the transport, capture and storage of CO,,
operated by a consortium of companies, has been granted access to priority public funding by the British
authorities, as part of the Country’s decarbonization plans. The start of activities is expected by 2025,
allowing the access to a tariff-regulated business model.

The development of biofuels is one of the drivers of Eni's energy transition path based on the circular
economy. This target leverages on our two distinctive biorefineries in Gela and Venice, characterized by
cutting-edge proprietary technologies and steady product and process improvements.

In 2021, started the production of sustainable aviation fuels "SAF” (sustainable aviation fuels) from
“UCQ" raw materials (waste oils and other waste) not in competition with the food chain, by applying the
proprietary technologies of traditional refining.

The production of SAF is expected to ramp-up with about 10 thousand tons/year through co-feeding of the
oil-loaded plants with UCO, until the start-up in 2024 of the Eni Biojet project at the Gela biorefinery. This
latter will allow to sale additional 150 thousand tons/year of SAF, being entirely produced from organic raw
materials, able to meet the potential obligation of the Italian market for 2025.

We confirm our commitment for palm-free biofuels by 2023, thanks to our continuous process innovations
and the entry into operation of the BTU unit at Gela which will able to significantly expand the flexibility of
feedstock processing chain. In 2021 we reduced by a third the incidence of palm oil.

In partnership with several African countries we operate in Angola, Benin, Congo, Ivory Coast, Mozambique,
Kenya and Ruanda, we are progressing projects based on biofuels to decarbonize the local energy mix,
through the set-up of integrated agro-biofeedstock supply chains to supply renewable feedstock to Eni bio-
refineries, without impacting the local food chain and promoting circular economy through the recovery
and valorization of non strategic area. Furthermore these agreements will allow to create new jobs and to




10

Eni Annual Report 2021

foster local development. In addition, these projects will be supported by Eni research, also by leveraging
on the agreement with the Bonifiche Ferraresi Group, aimed at establishing an equal joint venture for
the development of agricultural research and experimentation projects of oil plant seeds to be used as
feedstock in Eni's biorefineries.

The sustainability of industrial operations is combined with financial sustainability.

In 2021 we adopted a set of guidelines on sustainable funding on the capital market (Sustainability-Linked
Financing Framework), the first in the world in the energy sector, providing for future financing contracts
and derivative instruments a reward mechanism, where possible, according to the achievement of one or
more decarbonization targets.

In application of this framework, in May 2021 we issued the first sustainability-linked bond in our sector,
worth €1 billion at a very competitive cost, linked to the achievement of Net Carbon Footprint Upstream
objectives (Scope 1 and 2) and the renewable installed capacity. The success of this operation reflects the
credibility of our emission targets and our ability to create value through the energy transition.

The progress of our decarbonisation strategy and the excellence of Eni's sustainable performance are
recognised and appreciated by financial markets and ESG investors.

Eni has been included among the top ten companies in Euronext's new MIB ESG index and has been
confirmed as a leader in the main ESG ratings and specialist indices (MSCI, Sustainalytics, V.E, FTSE4Good
Developed Index, World Benchmark Alliance), obtaining the Prime Status from the ISS ESG rating. Excellent
results were also achieved in climate-focused indices (Climate Action 100+ Net Zero Benchmark, Carbon
Tracker, Transition Pathway Initiative). Eni has been included for the first time in the Bloomberg's Gender-
Equality Index (GEI), a market capitalization-weighted index monitoring the performance of listed
companies committed to transparency in the reporting of gender data. The index, which includes 418
companies in 45 countries and regions, measures gender equality based on five pillars: female leadership
and talent development, equal pay and gender pay, inclusive culture, anti-sexual harassment policies, and
pro-women brands.

Eni's excellent 2021 results were driven by the robust performance of E&P segment, which reported an
EBIT of €9.3 billion, six times that of 2020, with a production of 1.68 million boe/d, in line with our plans.

Exploration activity is a driver of growth and value creation for Eni. In 2021, we discovered 700 million boe
of new resources at a competitive cost of 1.3 $/boe. The main success of the year was the discovery of
the giant Baleine in the deep offshore of the Ivory Coast, with a mineral potential of over 2 billion barrels of
oil in place and about 2.4 trillion cubic feet (TCF) of associated gas.

It is set to be developed with a phased fast-track approach and will be the first development in Africa at net
zero emissions (Scope 1 and 2). The importance of this discovery underpins any opportunities for early
monetization through the application of the dual-exploration model. Exploration in areas close to producing
assets (ILX - Infrastructure Led Exploration) continued to generate excellent returns in particular in Angola
in Block 15/06 with a sequence of satellite discoveries, in 2021 those of Cabaca N and Cuica, able to
maintain the plateau of the FPSO N'Goma operating the area, extending the useful life and cash flows.
Other important proximity discoveries were those of Sayulita in Mexico's offshore Block 10, which boosts
the area’s commercial prospects, Eban, located offshore Ghana, CTP 4 block near the Sankofa production
hub, and Maha's appraisal offshore Indonesia.

Our development phase creates value thanks to the integration with the exploration phase to maximize
synergies with existing assets, the parallelization of activities and the fast-track approach including the
start-up in early production and the subsequent ramp-up to reduce financial exposure. Leveraging this
model, we will develop through the “fast track” approach, the Baleine field expected to start-up in 2023,
while in 2027 the Cabaca N/Cuica discoveries in Angola, Merakes in Indonesia, Berkine in Algeria and
Mahani in UAE were started up.

Eni's significant progress in reducing the time-to-market of reserves is underpinned by our Coral South
flagship project, approved in 2017 just thirty-six months after the finalization of the exploratory campaign
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and now close to completion with the launch of the FLNG (Floating Liquefied Natural Gas) unit, the first
floating LNG plant, whose construction started in 2018 is aligned to the time schedules and budgets,
despite the pandemic. The FLNG has reached the Rovuma Basin, off the coast of Mozambique, where
it will be connected to underwater production wells by the second half of 2022 for first gas. The project
will generate significant revenues for the country, and will create more than 800 new jobs during the
operational period.

We intend to exploit value from our upstream portfolio through the set up with selected partners of
autonomous corporate vehicles, with strategic value able to grow and generate returns for shareholders.
Var Energi, the JV established in 2018 by Eni and HitecVision, the largest independent company in the E&P
sector in Norway records the validity and robustness of our model.

The JV has grown by about 30% since 2018, currently producing 245,000 boe and distributing a stable flow
of dividends to shareholders.

The IPO on the Oslo Stock Exchange in February 2022 allowed us to monetize part of that unexpressed
value. On the basis of the Var Energi model we are progressing terms for establishing a JV with BP in
Angola, which will combine the two partners’ assets and will become the top player in the Country.

The Global Gas/LNG portfolio “GGP" segment also recorded a record year with an EBIT of almost €600
million, against the backdrop of a very complex scenario characterized by a tight supply of gas at a global
level triggering unprecedented increases in spot prices at continental hubs, but with adverse trends as
highlighted by the reversal of the spreads between the price of Italian gas compared to European prices. In
this extreme volatile environment, the sector leveraged portfolio flexibilities and contractual renegotiations
that underpinned the excellent 2021 performance.

The set-up of a JV with a strategic partner such as Snam for the management of supply backbones from
Algeria is part of our strategy to exploit value from our asset portfolio by freeing up resources for the
energy transition.

The R&M business faced one of the most challenging refining scenarios in history with negative margins
throughout the year due to the delay in post-COVID recovery at key segments such as jet fuel and the
significantincrease in CO, costs. The good performance of the marketing activity and plants optimization
allowed us to achieve a substantial breakeven. Thanks to the acquisition of the Italian operator FRI-EL,
Eni entered the bioenergy sector and leveraging on the upgrading of the acquired assets, we expect to
produce biomethane.

The Chemical business, through Versalis, reported a solid performance with an EBIT of about €200 million
compared to a loss of the same amount in 2020, due to the increase in plant utilization rate granting
greater availability of product in a phase of strong recovery of the petrochemical cycle with periods of
tension on the supply side and very strong commodity margins.

We continued our strategy of repositioning the production mix reducing oil-linked petrochemicals by
increasing exposure to the specialty and green chemical segments. In this context, we acquired the control of
Finproject, consolidating our position in the field of applications of high-performance formulated polymers and
compounding, less subject to commaodity fluctuations, and acquired technologies and plants of Ecoplastic, a
specialized company in the recovery chain of used plastics, with the aim of accelerating the growth of advanced
mechanical recycling and expanding the range of polymers for recycling Versalis Revive®.

In 2022 we will launch the restructuring of the Porto Marghera site with the conversion into a hub for
the production of plastics entirely obtained from recycled raw material. Proprietary technologies will play
a key role in accelerating the “green” conversion of Versalis by reducing dependence on oil feedstock;
among these, we focus on the chemical recycling of non-reusable plastics (HOOP technology), on the
enhancement of forest biomass for the production of bioethanol and biogas (PROESA technology) in
collaboration with qualified partners such as Saipem and BTS Biogas.

The Retail & Renewable segment managed by Plenitude achieved robust results with an Ebitda of €0.6
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billion (+25% vs. 2020), a customer base of more than 10 million POD (+4% vs. December 31, 2020) and
a renewable capacity installed/under construction of over 2 GW, well above the initial guidance for 2021,
thanks to a number of targeted acquisitions of wind/PV plants in operation/under construction in Spain,
France and Italy, also exploiting synergies deriving from our retail business in these Countries, the expansion
in the USA and from organic growth. The acquired projects portfolio and the participation in all three A/B/C
phases of the Dogger Bank offshore wind project in the North Sea allow us to revise upwards our installed
capacity targets by 2025. Plenitude’'s products and services offer has been enriched with the entry into the
segment of charging points for electric vehicles through the acquisition of BeCharge aiming at developing a
network of around 30 thousand charging points by 2025. The partnership between Eni, BeCharge and Enel X
for the interoperability of their respective charging networks will make our sustainable mobility strategy even
more solid, giving all customers the opportunity to access the service in a simple and economical way, also
including customers of the “eni Live Stations”. In our service stations we intend to install by 2050 about 1,000
fast/ultra-fast charging points to make them more and more “mobility” point”.

Strategy and 2022-2025 industrial plan

Over the next four years, we expect Brent prices to be supported by current market dynamics, with demand
recovering to pre-pandemic levels by 2022 and supply limited by production issues and financial discipline
of international oil and gas companies. Eni forecasts 80 $/bbl in 2022, 75 $/bbl in 2023 and over on a
stable price at 70 $/bbl.

In the long-term, crude oil price is expected to grow in line with inflation until 2035, and then decline due to
the progression of the energy transition. This scenario is subject to continuous monitoring in light of the
unpredictable evolution of the crisis between Russia and Ukraine.

For the next four years we expect a capex plan of €28 billion (on average about €7 billion/year) that
will be implemented according to our parameters of financial and operational discipline, in compliance
with minimum profitability thresholds, ensuring the consistency of emission profiles with long-term
decarbonization objectives and full funding through the operating cash flow. Organic free cash flow and
proceeds from the divestment plan, mainly the IPO of Plenitude and Var Energi, will allow us to maintain a
robust capital structure and ensure competitive returns for our shareholders.

Our capital allocation processes take a further step towards the Paris objectives with a 25% share of the
capex plan, compared to 20% of the previous plan, to strengthen renewable generation capacity, grow the
circular economy of biofuels and green chemistry, “scale-up” of new energy solutions and services, as well
as energy efficiency and decarbonize legacy assets.

We confirm the role of our two business groups in implementing distinct but synergic paths of execution
of Eni's net zero emission strategy by 2050: Natural Resources business groups is committed to maximize
value and decarbonize 0&G assets; Energy Evolution business groups is engaged in the development of
renewables and circular economy businesses and in the industrial transformation of legacy assets.

We expect to further improve our emission reduction targets. We are committing to go even further by
reaching -35% by 2030 and -80% by 2040 in our net Absolute GHG Emissions (Scope 1+2+3) target,
compared to -25% and -65% reduction set respectively in 2030 and 2040 in our previous strategic plan.
Eni's Net Zero emission (Scope 1+2) has been set at 2035, anticipated of 5 years (compared to the previous
2040) expecting a new intermediate target of -40% vs. 2018 by 2025.

In line with these guidelines, the E&P segment will be managed to maximize operating cash flow
while respecting financial discipline, to generate resources needed to fund the growth of the transition
businesses and to remunerate shareholders, while developing solutions for capture and storage of CO,
and Natural Climate Solutions initiatives to accelerate the achievement of the net zero target (Scope 1+2)
of the business.

Exploration is a strategic pillar of Eni's decarbonization path. It plays a dual role: replacing produced
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reserves and granting energy supplies that Eni will need in the transition phase and aligning our portfolio
of resources to the production mix target and to medium/long-term emission profiles consistent with our
net zero target by 2050.

The initiatives will be very selective to comply with the constraints of capital discipline with an average
annual spending of about €0.4 billion of which 90% related to near-field initiatives with fast economic
reward, while the remaining 10% allocated to selected high risk/high reward themes with a high share of
operatorship to be monetized in case of significant successes through our dual exploration model.

Approximately €4 billion/year will be allocated to development activities. Hydrocarbon production is
expected to increase by 3% per year over the plan period, up to 1.89 million boe/d by 2025 thanks to the
contribution of the start-ups and ramp-ups planned in the four-year period. These increases added to the
contribution of exploration of proximity will ensure about 800 kboe/d of new production, leveraging also on
the optimizations to extend the useful life of fields and offset natural declines. In 2022, we plan the relevant
start-up of Coral South LNG in Mozambique, while in 2023 we expect the start-up of Baleine in Ivory Coast
and of the LNG project in Congo.

Our upstream decarbonization plan is going on: by 2025 it will reach 65% of net zero emissions (Scope 1
and 2) calculated on equity productions, set for 2030; confirmed the target of reducing emission intensity
from operated production by 43% from 2014 thanks to planned energy efficiency actions, the zeroing of
routine gas flaring by 2025 and operations optimizations. Furthermore, emissions offset will be reached
through initiatives in the field of Natural Climate Solutions, whose carbon credits are certified from leading
audit firms. On the basis of the contractual provisions of initiatives in progress, we estimate a progressive
growth in emission credits to about 11 million tons by 2025.

Referring to CO, capture projects, in 2025 is expected the start-up of the HyNet cluster located in Liverpool
Bay in the UK, the completion of the testing phase at Ravenna hub in 2023 and the evaluation/feasibility
study of other storage hubs.

Leveraging on the synergies with our biorefining, we will develop on an industrial scale the agribusiness in
certain partners countries in Africa, to produce crops to be applied as feedstock for HVO in compliance with
the highest sustainability standards. Kenya and Congo are the countries in the start-up phase, where pilot
projects have been started up at the beginning of 2022 and where are expected subsequent extensions of
crops up to the production of over 170 thousand tons in 2025.

GGP, whose asset base will be simplified thanks to the partial divestment of entities managing the supply
backbones from Algeria. Thus, leveraging a de-risky portfolio by mitigating exposure to the TTF vs. PSV
spread (Northern European markets vs. Italy) due to the 2021 renegotiations and trading skills, generating
stable and sustained EBIT and a robust cash flow. The other driver of value creation will be the growth in
the LNG market following the increased equity availability (in Indonesia with the Merakes project and in
Nigeria with the launch of new capacity at Bonny plant) and the maximization of the utilization rate of the
Damietta equity plant, and targeting contracted volumes of over 15 MTPA of LNG.

Plenitude, leveraging on its financial and operational autonomy, will be one of the drivers of the Group’s
decarbonization path, reaching the net zero target emissions for its customers by 2040 thanks to the
supply of gas and power from 100% renewable sources, bio or carbon neutral (hydrogen) and offsetting
residual emissions with green certificates. The four-year plan foresees by 2025 over 11 million delivery
points compared to the current 10 million, a three-fold increase in installed capacity to over 6 GW compared
to 2022 and the expansion of the EV re-charging network up to around 30 thousand units by 2025. The
driver of this development will be the integration between the production of renewable power and retail
customers, in particular in the countries of co-presence, which will allow to maximize synergies with an
always competitive and progressively greener offer.

The R&M business has defined a plan for the development of biorefining and the efficiency/optimization
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of traditional assets and the evolution of the network toward a sustainable mobility. Biorefining capacity
is expected to reach 2 million tonnes by 2025 thanks to the conversion of an extra-European traditional
refinery in joint with other partners and the upgrading of the Venice plant. Another driver of value will be the
conversion plan of acquired plants for the production of electricity from bioenergy into biomethane with
the aim of injecting 200 mcm into the grid by 2025.

The sustainable mobility project will redesign our service stations transforming them into mobility
hubs, combining traditional fuels with the offer for zero-emission vehicles: charging stations, innovative
hydrogen fuels, bio Ing, 100% HVO and battery replacement services for electric city cars. The service
station will become a multi-service hub to respond to customer needs by leveraging partnerships with
qualified operators (e-commerce, food & beverage, parking, rent-a-car, merchandise, cards).

Versalis will continue its transformation strategy to become a leading, diversified and sustainable chemical
company, applying proprietary technologies for reconversion and growth. The traditional plant set up
will be optimized and more efficient; the Porto Marghera hub will be converted into a production hub for
mechanical recycling plastics thanks to the integration of Ecoplastic, as well as in an incubator of new
businesses with the construction of the hydrogen IPA plant.

The specialization of Versalis portfolio will allow us to benefit from the strong growth expected in important
segments for the energy transition (premium elastomers for EV, polyethylene grades for photovoltaics)
and will be enhanced by the solid positioning in compounding, thanks to the integration of Finproject that
we fully acquired last year.

Eni technologies will play a key role in supporting the decarbonisation process and business growth,
contributing to create new attackable markets. One of the main action plan, will be the development of
magnetic confinement fusion technology after the excellent results of 2021, with the aim of entering into
operation SPARC by 2025, the first fusion plant in the world that will demonstrate net energy production,
able to pave the way for the next commercial phase scheduled for the early 30s.

Other actions concern circular economy, with the launch of the HOOP plant for the chemical recycling of
otherwise non-reusable plastics, the conversion of the wet fraction of waste into energy products (waste-
to-fuels/chemicals/hydrogen), the application of the proprietary PROESA technology for the enhancement
of forest biomass through conversion into bioethanol or biogas and new renewable technologies, such as
wave-energy exploitation (ISWEC), CO, capture through biofixation by algae (mineralisation) and potential
developments in the thermoelectric energy production with intrinsic capture of CO,. The R&D expenditure
plan is about €1 billion over the four-year period.

Overall, the 2022-2025 action plan foresees a Group with robust fundamentals and growing profitability,
thanks to the transformation strategy adopted to face the downturn which, on the one hand, increased the
resilience of traditional businesses and their cash generation, and, on the other hand, laid the foundations
for a phase of strong development of the transition business hinging on the integration of technologies, on
new business models and on the close collaboration with our stakeholders.

The audience of our stakeholders will benefit from the Company’s increasingly sustainable industrial
action thanks to the progressive reduction of emissions, attention to local content, respect for human
rights in the supply chain, the quality of our products/services and the continuous development programs
of our people based on the enhancement of everyone's contribution and engagement.

Results expected in the next four years will make our carbon neutrality strategy to 2050 even more robust
thanks to the growing visibility of intermediate targets and milestones. Financial discipline and selective
spending, cost control and margin expansion initiatives will allow us to further contain cash neutrality and
gain significant operating surplus of cash under our conservative Brent assumptions, which will fund the
acceleration of green businesses growth, maintain strong balance sheet ratios and ensure competitive
shareholder returns.
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In view of the scale and complexity of the events surrounding the crisis between Russia and Ukraine, the
immediate issue of energy security and supply stability is a crucial factor in the definition of strategies and
operational plans in the near future.

At the end of a two-year period characterized, first, by a global crisis, then by a strong macroeconomic
recovery, in an always challenging and uncertain context, the Company is stronger and more resilient, able
to play a leading role in the economy transition process, and for all this, we give credit to the women and
men of Eni who, never as in this period, have shown team culture, flexibility, toughness and ability to better
implement our mission.

To all of them our heartfelt thanks.

Rome, March 17, 2022

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Lucia Calvosa Claudio Descalzi
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
and General Manager




“During 2021, we delivered excellent
results and accelerated the pace

of our transformation strategy,
which leverages the integration of
technologies, new business models
and valuable relationships with our
stakeholders. The strict financial
discipline and cost efficiencies

we implemented to withstand

the downturn have allowed us to
best capture the strong economic
recovery of 2021. On the one hand,
our upstream segment has kept
generating the financial resources
needed to fund our decarbonization
strategy while, on the other, the
new energy transition businesses,
like those combined under our new
entity Plenitude, have performed
strongly. In this way, we have
reached a Group EBIT of €£€9.7

bln and adjusted net profit of

€43 bln. Robust cash generation,

underpinned by a selective
approach to making investment
decisions, has freed €7.6 bln of
organic free cash flow, which we
used to: boost the growth of green
businesses; fund dividends and a
share buy-back at pre-pandemic
levels; and deleverage the balance
sheet - achieving an indebtedness
ratio of 20% vs. 31% a year ago.
Our portfolio restructuring has
moved on to unlock value from our
businesses, optimize our cost of
capital and maximize growth [.I"

Claudio Descalzi CEO Eni

Eni Annual Report 2021

Eni at a glance

In 2021 Eni achieved one of the best economic and financial performance of the last ten
years and accelerated the transformation strategy towards an offer of decarbonized pro-
ducts and services. In 2021, once the emergency overcome, the macroeconomic reco-
very, progressively expanded from Asia to Western countries, has driven global oil & gas
demand which after the decline of the pandemic peak is bounced synchronously across
all the geographies, creating supply-side tensions due to investment cuts in the upstream
sector, re-proposing the issue of energy security.

Outstanding results: Thanks to the spending selectivity, cost reduction and
portfolio optimizations, Eni was able to capture the strengthening of the scena-
rio, reporting an excellent set of operating and financial results with an adjusted
operating profit of €9.7 bin (an increase of €7.8 bin vs. 2020, up by 400%). Cash
flow from operations of €12.7 bln financed net capex of €5.8 bin. Organic free
cash flow of €7.6 bin funded the payment of dividends and the buy-back (overall
€2.8 bIn) and the portfolio operations to support the transition business (€2.1
bln). The capital structure remains solid and robust, reaching pre-crisis levels
with a reduction in net debt to €9 bln and the leverage ratio at 0.20 vs. 0.31 repor-
ted at the end of 2020.

Portfolio valorization: Eni implemented initiatives targeted to extract value from
the portfolio restructuring, through the creation of independent and focused vehicles
able to attract capital, create value and accelerate growth. As part of this strategy, lau-
nched the listing process of Plenitude, Eni's subsidiary which integrates gas & power
retail activities, renewables and electric mobility with the target of decarbonizing Eni's
customers portfolio. On February 16, 2022, was listed at the Norwegian stock market
a share of about 11.2% of Var Energi (including the share of the greenshoe option),
representing the largest IPO in the European O&G sector for over a decade, enabling
Eni to enhance the investments made so far and ensuring the growth of the company
thanks to new possible capital contribution. On March 11, 2022, signed the agreement
with BP in Angola for the establishment of Azule Energy, a new controlled business
combination aimed at accelerate the development of assets in the country.

Business transformation: the transformation of our business model was ac-
celerated in 2021. The target of “Net Zero Scope 1+2+3 to 2050” will allow Eni's cu-
stomers to move towards an offer of decarbonised products. Achieved a level of
Group's installed capacity from renewables of approximately 1.2 GW, more than tri-
pled in 2021, exceeding the target of more than 2 GW of installed capacity including
assets under construction. In biorefining and production of related bio-feestocks
have been achieved important results, reducing the incidence of palm oil in the pro-
duction of biodiesel. In Africa in collaboration with the governments of Kenya, Ango-
la, Congo, Benin, Ivory Coast, Mozambique and Rwanda made progress in biofuel
projects through the creation of an integrated agro-biofeedstock supply chains not in
competition with the food chain to supply Eni's biorefineries and decarbonize the lo-
cal energy mix. The expertise gained over the years have enabled Eni to achieve solid
results and to implement the transformation, ensuring excellent HSE performance in
health, safety and asset integrity.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 2021 2020 2019
Sales from operations (€ million) 76,575 43,987 69,881
Operating profit (loss) 12,341 (3,275) 6,432
Adjusted operating profit (loss)® 9,664 1,898 8,597
Exploration & Production 9,293 1,547 8,640
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 580 326 193
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 152 6 21
Plenitude & Power 476 465 370
Adjusted net profit (loss)® ® 4,330 (758) 2,876
Net profit (loss)® 5821 (8,635) 148
Net cash provided by operating activities 12,861 4,822 12,392
Capital expenditure®© 5313 4,644 8,376
of which: exploration 391 283 586
development of hydrocarbon reserves 3,443 3077 5,931
Dividend to Eni's shareholders pertaining to the year® 3,022 1,286 3,078
Cash dividend to Eni's shareholders 2,358 1,965 3018
Total assets at year end 137,765 109,648 123,440
Shareholders' equity including non-controlling interests at year end 44,519 37,493 47,900
Net borrowings at year end before IFRS 16 8,987 11,568 11,477
Net borrowings at year end after IFRS 16 14,324 16,586 17,125
Net capital employed at year end 58,843 54,079 65,025
of which: Exploration & Production 48014 45252 53358
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio (823) 796 1,327
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 9815 8,786 10,215
Plenitude & Power 5474 2,284 1,787
Share price at year end Gl 12.2 8.6 139
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (million) 3,566.0 3572.5 3,592.2
Market capitalization® (€ billion) 44 31 50
SUMMARY FINANCIAL DATA 2021 2020 2019
Net profit (loss)
- per share® G 1.60 (2.42) 0.04
- per ADR@®) ) 378 (5.53) 0.09
Adjusted net profit (loss)
- per share® € 1.719 (0.21) 0.80
- per ADR®®) ) 2.81 (0.48) 1.79
Cash flow
- per share® € 361 1.35 345
- per ADR®® ) 8.54 3.08 7.72
Adjusted Return on average capital employed (ROACE) (%) 8.4 0.6) 53
Leverage before IFRS 16 20 31 24
Leverage after IFRS 16 32 44 36
Gearing 24 31 26
Coverage 15.7 (3.1) 7.3
Current ratio 1.3 1.4 1.2
Debt coverage 89.8 29.1 724
Net Debt/EBITDA adjusted 83.7 1741 100.7
Dividend pertaining to the year (€ per share) 0.86 0.36 0.86
Total Share Return (TSR) (%) 524 (34.1) 6.7
Dividend yield®© 7.1 42 6.3
EMPLOYEES 2020
Exploration & Production (number) 9,815 10,272
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 847 700 711
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 13,072 11,471 11,626
Plenitude & Power 2,464 2,092 2,056
Corporate and other activities 6,897 7,417 7,388
Group 32,689 31,495 32,053

Eni Annual Report 2021

(a) Non-GAAP measures.

(b) Attributable to Eni's shareholders.
(c) Includes reverse factoring
operations in 2021

(d) The amount of dividend for the
year 2021 is based on the Board's
proposal.

(e) Number of outstanding shares by
reference price at year end.

®
=

(a) Fully diluted. Ratio of net profit/
cash flow and average number of
shares outstanding in the period
Dollar amounts are converted on
the basis of the average EUR/USD
exchange rate quoted by Reuters
(WMR) for the period presented
(b) One American Depositary
Receipt (ADR) is equal to two Eni
ordinary shares.

(c) Ratio of dividend for the period
and the average price of Eni shares
as recorded in December.
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() KPIs refer to 100% of the operated

assets, where not indicated

(b) GHG Protocol Category 11 - Corporate

Value Chain (Scope 3) Standard

Estimated on the basis of the upstream
production (Eni's share) in line with IPIECA

methodologies

(c) KPIs are calculated on an equity bases.

%

(a) Related to consolidated
subsidiaries

(b) Includes Eni's share in joint
ventures and equity-accounted
entities.

(c) Three-year average.
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INNOVATION 2021 2020 2019
R&D expenditure (€ million) 177 157 194
First patent filing application (number) 30 25 34
HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT® 2021 2020 2019
TRIR (Total Recordable Injury Rate) Wg?;g'drﬁgﬂrg?g'%‘é%%% 034 0.36 0.34
employees 0.40 0.37 0.21
contractors 0.32 0.35 0.39
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) (mmtonnes CO,eq.) 40.1 37.8 41.2
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) 0.81 0.73 0.69
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3) from use of sold products® 176 185 204
Net GHG Lifecycle Emissions (Scope 1+2+3)© 456 439 501
Net Carbon Intensity (Scope 1+2+3)© (9CO,eq./MJ) 67 68 68
Net carbon footprint upstream (Scope 1+2)© (mmtonnes CO,eq.) 11.0 1.4 14.8
Net carbon footprint Eni (Scope 1+2)© 336 33.0 37.6
E:;%CJCGUES an;gfgggﬁs)@cope 1)/operated hydrocarbon gross (tonnes CO,eq./kboe) 202 200 196
Carbon efficiency index Group 320 31.6 314
Methane fugitive emissions (upstream) (ktonnes CH,) 9.2 11.2 21.9
Volumes of hydrocarbon sent to routine flaring (billion Sm3) 1.2 1.0 1.2
Total volume of oil spills (> 1 barrel) (barrels) 4,406 6,824 7,265
of which: due to sabotage 30517 5866 6,232
operational 1,355 958 1,033
Freshwater withdrawals (mmcm) 125 113 128
Re-injected production water (%) 58 53 58
OPERATING DATA 2021 2020 2019
EXPLORATION & PRODUCTION
Hydrocarbon production (kboe/d) 1,682 1,733 1,871
Net proved reserves of hydrocarbons (mmboe) 6,628 6,905 7,268
Reserve life index (years) 10.8 10.9 10.6
Organic reserve replacement ratio (%) 55) 43 92
Profit per boe® © ($/boe) 4.8 3.8 77
Opex per boe® 7.5 6.5 6.4
Finding & Development cost per boe® 20.4 17.6 15.5

GLOBAL GAS & LNG PORTFOLIO
Natural gas sales
of which: Italy

outside Italy
LNG sales
REFINING & MARKETING AND CHEMICALS
Capacity of biorefineries
Sold production of biofuels certified
Average bio refineries utilization rate
Retail market share in Italy
Retail sales of petroleum products in Europe
Service stations in Europe at year end
Average throughput of service stations in Europe
Average oil refineries utilization rate
Production of petrochemical products
Average petrochemical plant utilization rate
PLENITUDE & POWER
Renewable installed capacity at period end
Energy production from renewable sources
Retail and business gas sales
Retail and business power sales to end customers
Thermoelectric production
Power sales in the open market

(bcm) 70.45 64.99 72.85
36.88 37.30 37.98
3357 27.69 34.87

10.9 9.5 10.1

(mmtonnes/year) 1.1 1.1 1.1
(ktonnes) 585 622 256
(%) 65 63 44

22.3 23.2 23.6

(mmtonnes) 7.23 6.61 8.25
(number) 5314 5,369 5411
(kliters) 1,521 1,390 1,766

(%) 76 69 88
(ktonnes) 8,476 8,073 8,068
(%) 66 65 67

(MW) 1,137 335 174

(GWh) 986 340 61
(bcm) 7.85 7.68 8.62
(TWh) 16.49 12.49 10.92

22.36 20.95 21.66
28.54 25.33 28.28




20

Eni Annual Report 2021

Stakeholder engagement activities

Operating in 69 countries with different socio-economic contexts, the understanding of stakeholders’ points of view and
expectations as well as the inclusion and sharing of choices are for Eni fundamental elements for the creation of long-term value
by building relationships based on mutual trust, transparency and integrity. Since 2018, the understanding of local contexts and the
management of stakeholder expectations on sustainability issues have been supported by the use of the company’s IT platform
called “Stakeholder Management System” (SMS) that “maps” stakeholders according to their relevance and their disposition
towards the company'’s activities, in the countries and territories where it operates. In addition, SMS tracks relationships with
stakeholders including requests, grievances and response actions undertaken, and supports the traceability required by internal
anti-corruption regulatory tools on relationships with relevant parties. In this way, the system allows to understand the main
issues relevant to stakeholders and the potential impacts on Human Rights, also identifying the possible presence of vulnerable
groups and areas listed cultural and/or natural interest sites by UNESCO (World Heritage Sites, WHS). The system is used for
activities and new projects in all Eni business lines, monitoring relations with about 4.800 stakeholders (+20% compared to 2020).

STAKEHOLDER CATEGORIES

PEOPLE

AND NATIONAL

AND INTERNATIONAL
UNIONS

FINANCIAL
COMMUNITY

LOCAL COMMUNITIES
AND COMMUNITY
BASED ORGANIZATIONS

CONTRACTORS,
SUPPLIERS

AND COMMERCIAL
PARTNERS

CUSTOMERS AND CONSUMERS

DOMESTIC, EUROPEAN

AND INTERNATIONAL
INSTITUTIONS

UNIVERSITIES
AND RESEARCH
CENTRES

VOLUNTARY ADVOCACY
AND CATEGORY ORGANIZATIONS
AND INDUSTRY ASSOCIATIONS

ORGANIZATIONS
FOR COOPERATION
AND DEVELOPMENT

»

»

MAIN STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR

Professional and training paths on emerging skills related to business strategies and expansion of skills
mapping.

Training initiatives to support inclusion and recognition of the value of all kinds of diversity and
international initiatives supporting team building and innovation.

Capital Markets Day (strategic plan 2021-24 and long term plan to 2050) and virtual Road-Show in major
financial centers and Capital Markets Day for Plenitude presentation.
Road-Shows with investors and proxy advisors on executive compensation 2021.

Mapping of over 770 local communities (including indigenous ones) in the host countries and definition
of local engagement initiatives.

Consultations of local authorities and communities for new exploratory activities and/or for the
development of new projects, as well as for the planning and management of local development projects.

Involvement of suppliers in the energy transition path through 15 thematic workshops and participation
in conferences and events.

Development and launch of Open-es, the platform open to all for the sustainable development of
companies through training and engagement initiatives (measurement of CO2 and drafting of the
sustainability report).

Meetings and workshops with Presidents, General Secretaries and Energy Managers of national and
local Consumer Associations (AdC) on topics such as sustainability, circular economy, remediation,
environmental restoration, energy transition, energy saving, customer service and new business initiatives.

Meetings and working tables with political and institutional representatives and local, national,
European and international organizations on energy, climate, energy transition, environment, sustainable
development, research and innovation, digitalization and the circular economy.

Participation in discussions on energy and environmental issues promoted by the italian Government
and Parliament, the european institutions, international bodies and foreign national institutions.

Meetings with universities, Research centres and public bodies, consortia and third-party companies
with which Eni collaborates for the development of innovative technologies.

Agreements and collaborations with the Polytechnic of Milan and Turin, University of Bologna, Naples
(Federico I1), Pavia, Padua, Milan Bicocca, MIT, CNR, INSTM, ENEA, RSE and INGV®.

Collaborations with a) University of Basilicata to support the Master Geoscience for Energy Transitions
b) Enna Kore University for business training contributions for academic courses.

Membership and participation in OGCI, IPIECA, WBCSD, UN GLOBAL COMPACT, EITI®: collaboration with
IHRB® and other international human rights institutions.

Conferences, debates, events and training initiatives on sustainability issues (energy, circular economy,
remediation, corporate social responsibility); implementation of guidelines and sharing of best practices.
Meetings with associations and participation in working groups on strategic issues, monitoring any
legislative developments.

Consolidation, through collaboration/partnership agreements, of the development activities carried out
together with international organizations. Agreements developed with United Nations Development
Programme — UNDP United Nations Industrial Development Organization — UNIDO, World Bank.

(a) Massachusetts Institute of Technology; National Research Council; National Inter-University Consortium for Material Science
and Technology; National Agency for New Technologies, Energy and Sustainable Economic Development; Research on the Energy
System; National Institute of Geophysics and Volcanology.
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Occupational Health and Safety

Transparency, anti-corruption and tax strategy
Combat climate change/reduce GHG emissions
Reduce environmental impacts

Local development

Protection of human rights

Biodiversity

People and the Development of Human Capital
Innovation

Digitalization and Cyber Security

Relations with customers and consumers
Responsible Supply Chain Management
Diversity, inclusion and work-life balance

Local Content

Energy access

Circular economy
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Signing of the new agreement for smart working in Italy with new corporate welfare measures.

» Agreement for integration into the GFA - of ILO Convention No.190 and ILO Recommendation No.206 on
eliminating violence and harassment in the workplace. o [ I )
» Expansion contract signed with the Trade Unions to promote generational turnover and initiatives for skills
updating.
» Conference call on quarterly results.
» Participation of Top Management in thematic conferences organized by banks. [ ) o0
» Participation in ESG thematic conferences.
» Management of requests and grievances expressed by the local communities.
» Consultations with communities in countries where Human Rights Impact Assessments have o ®
been conducted.
» Due Diligence on Human rights: application of the risk-based model on the respect of human
rights along the procurement process.
» “Basket Bond - Sustainable Energy” program, an innovative finance tool targeting Eni qualified o o O
suppliers and the energy chain, designed to allow companies engaged in energy transition to
implement projects and investments aimed at sustainable development.
» Sponsorship of consumer association initiatives on sustainability and circular economy.
» Territorial meetings with the regional consumer associations of the National Council of @ o o
Consumers and Users
» Representation of Eni’s position on energy transition and decarbonization in the main international
multilateral fora (e.g., G20, B20, COP26).
» Activities of engagement and institutional dialogue within the partnership/membership with think @ o O
tanks and national, european and international associated bodies and with international organisms
and/or promoted by European institutions on energy transition and related geopolitical issues.
» Establishment with the CNR of 4 research centres in Southern Italy for sustainable environmental
and economic development in Italy and worldwide.
» With the Polytechnic of Milan: activated collaborations for the development of impact assessment
models (Local Content and SDGs) and for new editions of the Master Energy Innovation; joined the v e
Joint Hydrogen Research Platform “Hydrogen-JRP”; established a Joint Centre for "Acceleration
of the Energy Transition in the field of Technologies for the Environment and Energy”.
» Meetings with Local Business Associations on the Eni Sustainable Supply Chain system and the
company’s energy issues.
» Presidency of the Action Council “Sustainability & Global Emergencies” within the B20 Italy 2021
organized by Confindustria. [ ) [ )
» Signing of: a) a collaboration agreement concerning the Confindustria Best Performer of the
Circular Economy Competition; b) “Work and Energy Manifesto for a sustainable transition”
between Confindustria Energia and Trade Unions.
» Agreements with Italian and European institutions, development banks, the private sector, cooperation
bodies and agencies, faith-based organizations and civil society organisations: Cassa Depositi e
Prestiti - CDP, Standard Bank, Italian Agency for Development Cooperation - AICS, USAID, Ajuda [ J [ J ® o

de Desenvolvimento de Povo para Povo - ADPR AVSI, CUAMM, VIS, E4impact Foundation, Banco
Alimentare, Don Bosco Institute of Maputo.

(b)

Oil and Gas Climate Initiative; International Petroleum Industry Environmental Conservation Association; World Business

Council for Sustainable Development; Interministerial Committee on Human Rights; Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative.

©
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Strategy

The war in Ukraine is

forcing us to reconsider the
world as we know it. It is a
humanitarian tragedy and
has created new threats

to energy security which

we must meet without
abandoning our ambitions
for a just transition.

Our strategy has made us
well prepared to address
these challenges. Our
immediate response to the
current crisis has been to
leverage our established
alliances with producing
countries to find replacement
energy sources for Europe’s
energy needs. We can make
available to the market more
than 14 TCF of additional
gas resources for the short to
medium term.

This complements our work
to develop new decarbonised
products and services

which can help deliver both
energy security and carbon
reduction by providing to
our customers a full set

of decarbonized energy
products and services.

The result of this strategic
approach underpins our
decision to accelerate our
pathway to net zero with

a 35% cut to Scope 1+2+3
emissions by 2030, and 80%
by 2040 compared to 2018.
[.]

Claudio Descalzi, Eni CEO
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A
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Accelerated emissions reduction

Net zero emissions by 2050, added new net absolute emission
(Scope 1, 2 and 3) reduction targets vs. 2018:

-35% by 2030 80% by 2040
Net Carbon Footprint by 2035 (Scope 1 and 2):
40% by 2025 Net zero by 2035

Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions Upstream:
-65% by 2025 (vs. 2018) Net zero emission by 2030

E

B R

B e

New Energy Solutions

Plenitude: green electricity for over 15 million customers
with more than 15 GW of renewable capacity by 2030

Biorefining: capacity growth up to 6 MTPA in the next decade
Hydrogen: contribution in our plan for around 4 MTPA by 2050
Magnetic fusion: the first commercial plant is expected in the next 10 years

Increased the share of investments directed at new energy solutions to almost
30% by 2025, 60% by 2030, and up to 80% by 2040.

Disciplined financial plan

Average yearly capex: around €7 bln; 2022 capex at around €7.7 bln
IRR of Upstream projects in execution: 21% @Eni Scenario

IRR of new renewable projects: +200 bps vs. Plenitude WACC

Cash Flow From Operations: €55 bln along the 4-year plan period @ Eni scenario

Sustainable Finance instruments: more than €13 bln in 2025

Value creation for shareholders
Annual total dividend: €0.88 per share, based on the
Brent reference between 80-90 $/bbl

Dividend payment: four equal quarterly instalments
in September and November 2022, March and May 2023

Share buyback program equal to €1.1 bln in 2022 at the Brent reference price

In July and October 2022, for scenarios above 90 $/bbl further buy-backs
equivalent to 30% of the associated incremental free cash flow
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Net Absolute GHG Emissions (Scope 1+2+3)
MtCO,eq
Strategy 2021
Strategy 2022 Strategy 20
-35%
Net Carbon Footprint Eni (Scope 1+2) \ -55%
MtCO,eq
-40% \
Net zero
Net zero
2018 (baseline) 2030 2040 2050
New energy solutions sold
+ POWER
RENEWABLES
PRODUCTS =
g)HYDHOGEN
| -
2025 2030 @ 2040 2050 New Energy Solutions @ Traditional
MAGNETIC FUSION
Commercial Plant
SUSTAINABLE INSTRUMENTS* € bin
>13
2022-2025 @ Committed 8
Capex ~€7 bln Uncommitted
average/year 0
2019 2021 2025
FLEXIBLE CAPEX PLAN *Include bonds, loans, bank credit lines and rate derivatives.
VALUE CREATION FOR SHAREHOLDERS
2022 DISTRIBUTION L UPSIDE [ RESILIENCE
€0.88 dividend per share . Additional buyback 30% Simplified, enhanced dividend
€1.1 bln buyback of incremental FCF for Brent above > 90 $/bbl per share sliding scale
Brent reference price @ 80 $/bbl (New price assessment in July and October) vs. previous policy

DIVIDEND PAID ON A QUARTERLY BASIS STARTING 3Q 2022




24

Eni Annual Report 2021

Strategic Plan 2022-2025

Eni's strategy is defined in a scenario for the next four years characterized by a Brent price
supported by current market dynamics, with a demand growth expected to recover pre-
pandemic levels by 2022 and a limited supply from the production issues and financial
discipline of the international oil companies.

In the long-term, the price of crude oil is expected to grow in line with inflation until 2035,
then decline following the progression of the energy transition. This scenario is subject to
continuous monitoring due to the unpredictable evolution of the crisis between Russia and
Ukraine. Financial discipline and spending selectivity, cost control and margins expansion will
allow Enito further contain cash neutrality and generate significant operating cash surplus at
Eni's conservative scenario Brent assumptions, which will be used to accelerate the growth
of green businesses and keep solid asset ratios.

In the four-year period, Eni's management foresees an investment plan of €28 billion (on
average about €7 billion/year) which will be implemented according to the parameters of
financial and operational discipline of the Group, in compliance with minimum profitability
thresholds, ensuring the consistency of emission profiles with long-term decarbonisation
objectives and full coverage through flow of operating cash. The organic free cash flow and
gains fromthe disposals, in particular Plenitude and Var Energi IPOs on the stock exchange will
allow to maintain a solid capital structure and to ensure competitive returns to shareholders.

Capital allocation processes provide a further step forward, coherently with the Paris targets
with a 25% share of the capex plan, compared to a 20% share of the previous plan, aimed
at strengthening the renewable generation capacity, growing circular economy of biofuels
and green chemistry, to the "scaling up" of new energy solutions and services (CCS) and
energy efficiency and decarbonization of legacy assets. These objectives will be achievable
thanks to the two Business Groups able to implement distinct paths in synergy, aimed at
the execution of Eni's net zero emission strategy by 2050: the Natural Resources Business
Group committed to maximize value and decarbonize the O&G assets; the Energy Evolution
Business Group aimed at developing new businesses in renewables and circular economy
and implementing the industrial transformation of legacy assets.

Overall, the 2022-2025 plan projects a Group with robust fundamentals and growing
profitability, thanks to the transformation strategy implemented in response to downturn that,
onthe one hand, increased the resilience of traditional businesses and their ability to generate
cash, and, on the other hand, created the conditions for a phase of strong development of the
transition business, based on the integration of technologies, on new business models and
on the closer collaboration with stakeholders. The expected results in the next four years will
make Eni's carbon neutrality strategy by 2050 more solid, thanks to the growing visibility of
the intermediate targets and the steps closer.
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EXPLORATION & PRODUCTION

Eni's upstream strategy, in compliance with the target of footprint carbon reduction, aims
at the maximization of returns and cash generation, leveraging on the enhancement of
an optimized asset portfolio, exclusively based on conventional assets, characterized by
project modularity, accelerated time-to-market and limited exposure over the medium-term.
The evolution of the production mix foresees the gas component at 60% in 2030 and over
90% after the 2040. Net Scope 1 and 2 emissions of upstream assets calculated on the
basis of equity output are expected to zeroing in 2030, leveraging, in addition to energy
efficiency, on Natural Climate Solutions that will ensure the compensation of residual
emissions. Other driver for the achievement of the Group's decarbonization objectives are
the projects for CO, capture and storage geological with a target of about 10 mmtons per
year by 2030 (Eni's share).

The 2022-25 Plan provides for the growth of cash generation and the progressive reduction

of the cash neutrality up to Brent levels of around $25/bbl through:

» growth of production in the 2021-2025 period at a 3% average annual rate, thanks to the
contribution of projects already started or starting in the four-year period;

» capital discipline with an average expenditure of about €4.5 billion per year over the 2022-
2025 period characterized by high flexibility (>45% capex uncommitted in the 2024-2025
period);

» further development of integrated initiatives with the Global Gas & LNG Portfolio segment for
the gas equity enhancement;

» maximizing efficiency and business continuity;

» enhancement and rationalization of the exploration portfolio, with the aim of discovering 2.2
bin boe of resources at a unit cost of lower than $1.5 per barrel; exploration will be focused
(about 90%) in areas adjacent to near-field production fields and existing or soon to enter into
operation infrastructures and will be a strategic driver in the decarbonization path, aligning
the portfolio of resources with the objectives of production mix and the medium/long-term
emission profiles.

Cash generation will also be supported by portfolio transformation with the exit from marginal
and/or high break even assets and the focus on high cash generating assets and the creation
of the business combination in Angola and the listing of Var Energi, in order to reduce
financial exposure and enable more accelerated asset growth. The overall contribution of the
abovementioned actions will allow to achieve a 2022-2025 cumulative organic free cash flow
equal to approximately €29 billion.

25
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GLOBAL GAS & LNG PORTFOLIO

In the plan period, GGP will continue the strategy of maximizing returns, leveraging on the
flexibility of gas portfolio through optimization and renegotiation initiatives. In the current
situation, GGP will also leverage on portfolio, capabilities and business relationships to
strengthen and diversify the national supply. The other driver of growth and value creation
is the expansion in the LNG business through development in new premium and growing
markets in the Middle East/Far East and the increasing integration with the upstream business
for the enhancement of gas equity in Congo, Angola, Indonesia, Nigeria, Mozambique and
Egypt thanks to the strategic terminal of Damietta. The portfolio of contracted LNG volumes
is expected to exceed 15 mmtons/y by 2025. The valorization of gas pipeline interests will also
contribute to value creation. The abovementioned actions will allow to achieve a 2022-2025
cumulative free cash flow equal to approximately €2.7 billion.

REFINING & MARKETING

The strategy of the Refining & Marketing business is focused on the development of the
biorefining capacity, expected to almost double to 2 mmtons/y in 2025 and grow further
until reaching the capacity of 6 mmtons/y in the next decade; biorefineries will be supplied
exclusively with second and third generation palm oil free charges by 2023. In the retail
marketing is foresees the gradual mix evolution of products sold, reaching 100% of the sale of
decarbonized products by 2050.

The 2022-25 Plan provides:

» the diversification of the green offer through (i) the strengthening of biorefining with
an increase of processing capacity up to 2 mmtons by 2025, palm oil free from 2023,
leveraging on second generation oils not in competition with the food chain and other
innovative feedstocks (waste/residues) that will cover approximately 90% of the feedstock
by 2025; (ii) the development of the biomethane business; (iii) the extension of the SAF
(Sustainable Aviation Fuel) production capacity;

» thegrowth of marketingin Europe leveraging on the high margin segments, the strengthening
of the offer of alternative fuels, the further development of non-oil services in retail and,
more generally, the promotion of sustainable mobility through a dedicated entity.

CHEMICAL

Eni's long-term strategy aims to significantly reduce exposure of the chemical business to
the cycle volatility and the cost of the oil feedstock through the specialization of the product
portfolio and the development and integration of the chemical business from renewable
sources and chemical/mechanical recycling.

The 2022-25 Plan provides:

» the progressive specialization of the polymer portfolio towards higher value added
products and extension of the downstream supply chain towards "compounding” to
reduce volatility margins;

» the development of chemistry from renewables and the expansion of circular economy
initiatives, in particular mechanical and chemical recycling also through partnerships;

» the progressive reduction of GHG emissions, increasing energy efficiency.

PLENITUDE

The main medium/long-term strategic lines aim to the development in synergy of the
renewable installed capacity with targets of 15 GW by 2030 and 45 GW by 2050 and the
retail customers portfolio up to exceed 20 million contracts by 2050 through the selection
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of areas of renewables expansion linked to the presence of our customers as well as
the development of activities in areas where Eni already operates. In 2040, decarbonized
products from Eni’s portfolio (energy from renewables and biomethane) and new energy
services will be offered to retail customers.

The 2022-25 plan provides:

» Plenitude's IPO and the creation of a unique business model which combines production
from renewables, energy sales and energy services to retail customers and a widespread
network recharging points for electric vehicles; the operation is one of the strategic steps
towards zero Scope 3 GHG emissions associated with our retail customers;

» the installation of more than 6 GW of installed capacity by 2025;

» growth of the customer portfolio with the aim of exceeding 11 million of delivery points by 2025,
leveraging on the international development and growth of the power customer portfolio;

» thefocusonbusiness related to energy efficiency and distributed photovoltaic generation
and the development of the E-Mobility market with the aim of reaching around 30,000
recharging points by 2025.

POWER

The 2022-25 Plan provides:

» the maximization of results, thanks to the flexibility and efficiency of the plants and
targeted investments;

» the identification and development of new technological solutions with low carbon impact.

CAPEX PLAN

The four-year capex plan is focused on high-value projects with rapid return and includes an
overall investments of approximately €28 billion. The plan is characterized by high flexibility
with more than 55% of investments in the 2024-25 period not yet contracted. In line with
medium and long-term targets and to feed the process of decarbonization of the company,
Eni plans investments in renewable sources, efficiency energy, circular economy and flaring
reduction of over €7 billion.

Strategy execution combined with a strict financial discipline and the asset portfolio optimizations
will further strengthen the financial structure to support the acceleration of green businesses
growth and the remuneration of our shareholders on a top level in the industry.

REMUNERATION POLICY

Eni's management is committed to guarantee competitive shareholders’ return by executing a
progressive shareholder remuneration policy, that is reflective of the volatility of crude oil prices.
It has been established a floor dividend of €0.36 per share that is paid with a Brent price
of at least 43 $/bbl. The floor dividend is complemented by a variable dividend which size
progresses alongside the rise in crude oil prices till 80 $/bbl, according to a preset scale of
amounts at various Brent prices ranges.

For 2022, having assessed the progress of the Company in executing its strategy, a solid
financial position and an improved outlook for crude oil prices, the management expects to
increase the annual total dividend to €0.88 per share, based on the assumption of a Brent
reference price of $80/bbl for the year and to activate share buy-back for €1.1 billion.
Furthermore, in case of crude oil prices above 90 $/bbl, management is expected to reassess
by July and again in October, the oil scenario. In case of an upward revision to the Brent
reference price assumption for the year, it will activate incremental buy-backs amounting to
30% of the excess cash from operations deriving from the updated Brent price.
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The Integrated Risk Management
(IRM) process is aimed at
ensuring that management takes
risk-informed decisions, with
adequate consideration of actual
and prospective risks, including
short, medium and long-term

ones, within the framework of an
organic and comprehensive vision.
The IRM Model is based on a
system of methodologies and
skills that leverages on principle
of the third parties assessments
(data quality, objectivity of the
detection and quantification of
the mitigation actions) in order
to improve the effectiveness of
the analyses, ensure an adequate
support for the main decision
making processes (definition of
the Strategic Plan and medium
and long-term objectives) and
guarantee the disclosure to

the administration and control
structures.
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Integrated Risk Management

Integrated Risk Management Model

The IRM Model is characterized by a structured approach, based on international
best practices and considering the guidelines of the Internal Control and Risk
Management System (see page 42), that is structured on three control levels.
Risk Governance attributes a central role to the Board of Directors (BoD) which
defines the nature and level of risk in line with strategic targets, including in
evaluation process all the elements that can be relevant in a view of the Company’s
sustainable success.

The BoD, with the support of the Control and Risk Committee, outlines the guidelines
for risk management, so as to ensure that the main corporate risks are properly
identifled and adequately assessed, managed and monitored, determining the
degree of compatibility with company management consistent with the strategic
targets. For this purpose, Eni’'s CEQ, through the IRM process, presents every three
months a review of the Eni's main risks to the Board of Directors. The analysis
is based on the scope of the work and risks specific of each business area and
processes aiming at defining an integrated risk management policy; the CEO also
ensures the evolution of the IRM process consistently with business dynamics and
the regulatory environment. Furthermore, the Risk Committee, chaired by the CEO,
holds the role of consulting body for the latter with regards to major risks. For this
purpose, the Risk Committee evaluates and expresses opinions, at the instance of
CEQ, related to the main results of the IRM process.

CHAIRMAN

BODY

BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS)

| CONTROL AND RISK COMMITTEE

CEO®

1

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

RISK COMMITTEE

D ANANY,

FIRST LEVEL SECOND LEVEL OF CONTROL THIRD LEVEL
OF CONTROL OF CONTROL
Functions Dedicated
identified in the /non-exclusively
Compliance/ Process Owner -dedicated
Process Owner - .
. Governance core business i
RISK compliancey models and business fugi(;tll?sl:)segifa?ig}[/) INTERNAL
OWNER Governance support AUDIT©
Financial processes Planning
Reporting Officer and control
Integrated Compliance Integrated Risk Management
Compliance Objectives® — L Strategic, Operating and Reporting Objectives —/

(a) Director in charge of the Internal Control and Risk Management System.

(b) Including objectives on the reliability of financial reporting.

(c) Internal Audit Director reports hierarchically to the Board of Directors, and on its behalf, to the Chairman, without prejudice to the provisions
relating to its appointment, termination, remuneration and resources and his functional reporting to the Control and Risk Committee and to
the CEO, as director in charge of the Internal Control and Risk Management System.
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Integrated Risk Management Process

The IRM process ensures the detection, consolidation and analysis of all Eni's risks and supports
the BoD to verify the compatibility of the risk profile with the strategic targets, also in a medium-long
term approach. The IRM supports management in the decision-making process by strengthening
awareness of the risk profile and the associated mitigations. The process, regulated by the
“Management System Guideline (MSG) Integrated Risk Management” is continuous, dynamic and
includes the following sub-processes: (i) risk governance, methodologies and tools (ii) risk strategy,
(iii) integrated risk management, (iv) risk knowledge, training and communication.

The IRM process starts from the contribution to the definition of medium and long-term plans and
Eni's Strategic Plan (risk strategy) through the definition of proposals for de-risking targets and
strategic treatment actions, the analysis of the risk profile underlying the proposed Plan and the
identification of the main actions with effective de-risking of the company’s top risks. The results of
the activities were presented to the Administrative and Control structures in January 2021.

The “Integrated Risk Management” sub-process includes: periodic risk assessment and monitoring
cycles (Integrated Risk Assessment) in order to understand the risks taken on the basis of the strategic
and medium-long term targets and the initiatives defined to achieve them; contract risk management
and analysis aimed at the best allocation of the contractual responsibilities with the supplier and their
adequate management in the operational phase; integrated analysis of existing risks in the Countries
of presence or potential interest (ICR) which represents a reference for risk strategy, risk assessment
and project risk analysis activities; support to the decision-making process for the authorization of
investment projects and main transactions (Integrated Project Risk Management and M&A).

The risks are assessed with quantitative and qualitative tools considering both the likelihood of
occurrence and the impacts that would occur in a defined time horizon when the risk occurs.

The assessment is expressed following an inherent and a residual level (taking into account the
effectiveness of the mitigation actions) and allows to measure the impact with respect to the
achievement of the objectives of the Strategic Plan and for the whole life as regards the business.
The risks are represented on the basis of the likelihood of occurrence and the impact on matrices
that allow their comparison and classification by relevance.

Risks with economic/financial impact are also analyzed in an integrated perspective on the basis
of quantitative models that allow to define on a statistical basis the distribution of risk flows or to
simulate the aggregate impact of risks in the face of hypothetical future scenarios (what if analysis
or stress test).

In 2021, two assessment sessions were performed: the Annual Risk Profile Assessment performed
in the first half of the year, involving 125 subsidiaries in 43 Countries and the Interim Top Risk
Assessment performed in the second half of the year, relating to the update of the evaluation and
treatment of Eni’s top risks and the main business risks.

The two assessment results were submitted to Eni's management and control bodies in July and
December 2021. In addition, three monitoring processes were performed on Eni's top risks.

The monitoring of such risks and the relevant treatment plans allow to analyze the risks evolution
(through update of appropriate indicators) and the progress in the implementation of specific
treatment measures decided by management. The top risks monitoring results were submitted to
the management and control bodies in March, July and October 2021.
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The risk knowledge, training and communication sub-process is aimed at increasing the diffusion
of the culture of risk, at strengthening a common language among the resources that operate in
the risk management area across the different Eni businesses as well as sharing information and
experiences, also through the development of a community of practice.

Eni's top risks portfolio consists of 20 risks classified in: (i) external risks, (ii) strategic risks and,
finally, (iii) operational risks (see Targets, risks and treatment measures on the following pages).

Targets, risks and treatment measures

STRATEGIC RISK

MAIN RISK Price Scenario, risk of unfavourable fluctuations in Brent and other commodities prices compared
EVENTS to planning assumptions.

TREATMENT > Actions aimed at improving the resilience (reduction of cash neutrality), flexibility (in terms
MEASURES of investment decisions) and efficiency (capital discipline and action on structural costs) of
the company;
> increase in value through the growth of production, M&A actions and business combinations;
» integration of gas portfolio with LNG activities also through the development of integrated
initiatives for the enhancement of gas equity (pipes and LNG) leveraging commercial skills,
access to the end and trading markets;
) targeted strategies for hedging the price of gas equity and hedging of commercial exposures
with Value At Risk Limits, approved by top management;
> maximize the optimization/ABT activities of the portfolio by fully capturing the value linked
to the increased volatility of the gas markets and the flexibility of physical withdrawals;
» maximization of synergies between the renewable capacity under development and power
customer portfolio (integrated energy management and hedging with customer portfolio);
> optimization of traditional production structures and green, organic and recycling business
development.

MAIN RISK Climate change referred to the possibility of change in scenario/climatic conditions which may
EVENTS generate phisical risks and connected to energy transition (legislative, market, technological
and reputational risks) on Eni's businesses in the short, medium and long-term.

TREATMENT > Structured governance with the central role of the Board in managing main issues connected
MEASURES with climate change, presence of specific committees;

> medium and long-term plan to 2050, which combines business development guidelines for
progressive industrial transformation with ambitious targets for reducing GHG emissions
associated with energy products sold by Eni as well as offsetting emissions; four-year plan
with provision for each business of operational actions to support and implement the industrial
transformation indicated in the medium and long-term plan;
assessment of the resilience of the portfolio through stress tests based on low carbon scenarios;
flexibility of strategy and investments;
diversification with the development of new business/products;
short-term and long-term management incentive plans that include objectives related to the
‘climate strategy” consistent with the guidelines defined in the Strategic Plan;
) leadership in disclosure and adherence to international initiatives;
> key role of low carbon research and technological development.

v v e w

MAIN RISK Referred to the possible mismatch of the cost of supply and the minimum take constraints
EVENTS envisaged by supply contracts with respect to current market conditions.

TREATMENT ) Diversified supply portfolio and prices-volumes renegotiation;
MEASURES > portfolio balancing with sales to hubs (in Italy and in Northern Europe) of volumes not for
mainstream distribution channels;
> legal defense, continuous control of arbitration management and negotiations by dedicated
organisational structures.

Qo O

[e)
Eni’s target: D.E@D COMPANY PROFITABILITY ﬂ% CORPORATE REPUTATION O’@O RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS, LOCAL DEVELOPMENT
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STRATEGIC RISK
DECREASING MAINRISK Contraction in demand/Competitive environment relating to the market demand and supply
DEMAND/ EVENTS imbalance or an increase in competitiveness leading to: i) reduction of sale volumes, ii) increase
difficulties in defending customer base/develop growth initiatives, iii) generate adverse dynamics in
COMPETITIVE the prices of finished products, iv) reduction of demand.
ENVIRONMENT

dynamics of the end markets;

alignment of the supply portfolio with market prices;

maximization of the export volumes of the LNG plants in the portfolio;

differentiated strategy of exposure coverage by commodity market and daily monitored;

integration of midstream and upstream activities and portfolio management of gas equity

volumes, to facilitate the maximization of their value; identification of projects with low break

even and fast time-to-market;

> consolidation of the Italian network market share with requalification of the Italian network of
properties on premium levels;

) evolution towards the Mobility Services station with an integrated offer of carriers and services;

) specialization in the chemical portfolio towards products with greater added value and
extension of the downstream supply chain towards compounding;

> development of chemical platforms from renewables and recycling;

» organic growth in the customer portfolio abroad and gas/power customer base rebalancing in
Italy with Anti-Churn actions;

> loyalty of the retail customer base, also through the maximization of the contribution of
businesses related to the provision of services for energy efficiency and distributed generation
and E-mobility;

> consolidation of the market position in the renewable energy sector, in particular in the countries
of retail presence through the development of the pipeline of acquired projects;

» increase in the flexibility of power plants through targeted investments, specialization in the
capacity market and development of new services, ensuring the best integration with other
business lines.

TREATMENT > Optimization of portfolio management of equity volumes, also in relation to the different
I ]_. MEASURES

v v v w

EXTERNAL RISK

BIOLOGICAL MAINRISK Risk related to the spread of pandemics and epidemics and the deterioration of health
EVENTS infrastructure and health response capacity.
D—% TREATMENT »  Eni Crisis Unit's constant management and monitoring to align, coordinate and identify
Qo O MEASURES reactions;
o };O » preparation and implementation of a plan to react to health emergencies (Medical

Emergency Response Plan - MERP) to be adopted by all Eni subsidiaries and employers.
The plan is also aimed at defining a business continuity plan;

) restrictive and preventive measures (also through alternative working methods) in offices
and operating sites;

» coordination and centralization of protection and medical devices procurement;

» centralized management of international health emergency services.

GEOPOLITICAL MAINRISK Impact of geopolitical issues on strategic actions and business operations.
EVENTS
D[% TREATMENT » Institutional activities with national and international players in order to overcome crisis
Qg o WEEHE situations;
o’@’o » continuous monitoring of the environment, mainly focused on the critical political/
5 institutional developments and regulatory aspects which can potentially affect the business;

» enhancement of Eni’'s presence leveraging on economic and social issues of Countries where
Eni operates.

o Qo O
Eni's target: ﬂ[@l} COMPANY PROFITABILITY ﬂ% CORPORATE REPUTATION C(DO RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS, LOCAL DEVELOPMENT
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COUNTRY

ENERGY SECTOR
REGULATION

STAKEHOLDER

PERMITTING
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EXTERNAL RISK

Political and social instability related to both political and social instability (in the countries
where the Group operates) and criminal/bunkering events against Eni and its subsidiaries, with
potential repercussions in terms of lower production, project delays, potential damage to people
and assets. Global security risk relates to actions or fraudulent events which may negatively
affect people and material and immaterial assets. Credit and Financing risk related to the credit
proceeds delay and the financial stress of the partners.

» Geographical diversification of the portfolio with exit from marginal assets as well as targeted
and synergic acquisitions of new assets;

» institutional relations and negotiations with Ministries/Local Authorities;

» presence of a security risk management system supported by specific sites and Countries
analysis of the preventive measures; implementation of emergency plans aimed at maximum
safety of people and the management of activities and assets;

» signing of specific repayment plans for some countries, using already tested contractual or
financial instruments;

» request for sovereign guarantees and letters of credit to protect credit positions.

Impacts on the operations and competitiveness of the businesses associated with the evolution
of the energy sector regulation.

» Control of legislative and regulatory evolution; dialogue with institutions to represent Eni's position;

» definition of strategic and operational actions in line with regulatory changes: increase in the
capacity of biorefineries and diversification of feedstock and products (phase out of palm
oil, agro biofeedstock, Biojet production in Livorno and Gela, biomethane development);
chemical development from renewable sources and development of products from advanced
mechanical recycling; supply to retail customers of energy efficiency services, distributed
generation development and synergies with the renewable business.

Relationships with local stakeholders on Oil & Gas industry activities.

» Integration of targets and sustainability projects (i.e. Community Investment) within the
four-year strategic Plan and incentive program;

» stakeholder management through a sustainable approach to activities and social and
territorial development projects;

» enhancement of local content, collaboration agreements with international organizations
(FAO, UNDP, UNESCO, UNIDO...);

» continuous dialogue with local institutions and the territory;
respect for and promotion of Human Rights through the operation of the Human Rights
Management Model, analysis of the impact on human rights in business processes.

Permitting, relating to the occurrence of possible delays or failure to issue authorizations,
renewals or permits by the Public Administration with impacts on project times and costs as well
as repercussions in social, environmental and image and reputation terms.

» Constant dialogue with the institutions also with the aim of proposing legislation;
» hearings in parliamentary committees;

» continuous involvement from the early stages of the authorities and stakeholders on project
objectives and progress;

» transfer and sharing of know-how with the bodies involved, also through greater involvement
of technical bodies;

» supervision and monitoring of sectoral authorization procedures with the competent Local Authorities;

» visits/inspections of representatives of the institutions to the sites concerned;

» acquisitions of renewable energy plants through strategic partnerships and M&A operations
of already authorized projects;

» start-up of Eni's central platform functional to the management of the Permitting and
Environmental Compliance process of the operating sites.

Qo O

[e)
Eni’s target: D.l:@') COMPANY PROFITABILITY @% CORPORATE REPUTATION O,Ggo RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS, LOCAL DEVELOPMENT
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ACCIDENTS Blowout risks and other accidents affecting the upstream assets, refineries and petrochemical
plants, as well as the transportation of hydrocarbons and derivatives by sea and land (i.e. fires,
explosions, etc.) with damages on people and assets and impact on company profitability and
reputation.

Insurance coverage;

real time monitoring for wells;

proactive monitoring of incidental events with identification of weak signals in the Process
Safety field and completion of the actions resulting from Audit and Risk Assessment related
to Process Safety issues;

technological and operational improvements and continuous implementation of the Asset
Integrity Management system to prevent accidents together with the increase in plant reliability;
standard contractual specifications (EniVoy for spot trips and EniTime for charter trips),
sub-charters of Time Charter Ships to eligible counterparties and on the basis of international
contractual standards;

vetting: management and coordination of activities relevant for the assessment, inspection,
technical selection of ships and operator ratings and assignment of a rating to operators;
contract risk Management (Pre/Post award);

continuing education.

CYBER SECURITY Cyber Security & Industrial espionage refers to cyber attacks aimed at compromising
information (ICT) and industrial (ICS) systems, as well as the subtraction of Eni's sensitive data.

Centralized governance model of Cyber Security, with units dedicated to cyber intelligence
and prevention, monitoring and management of cyber attacks;

strengthening of Cyber Security Operation infrastructures and services with a new
management model, the extension of services to the cloud and the strengthening of
technologies dedicated to the detection & reaction of attacks;

cyber threat intelligence: analysis and investigations aimed at proactively identifying
anomalies, threats and cyber breaches concerning accounts, assets or corporate information;
constant updating and alignment of the rules dedicated to the information security
management and data protection;

strengthening of critical infrastructures in Italy through the execution of specific Cyber
Protection Programs and Technological Enforcement and monitoring for foreign subsidiaries
aimed at directing and implementing technological measures and solutions in the Field of
Cyber Security;

strengthening of the corporate culture in the Cyber Security with particular focus to the
behaviors to be adopted (e.g. safe smart working).

INVESTIGATIONS Environmental, health and safety proceedings may trigger impacts on company profitability
(costs for remediation activities and/or plant implementation), operating activities and corporate
AND PROCEEDINGS reputation. Involvement in anti-corruption investigations and proceedings.

Specialist assistance for Eni SpA and the Italian and foreign unlisted subsidiaries;
continuous monitoring of regulatory developments and constant evaluation of the adequacy
of existing presidium and control models;

enhancement of the process of assigning and managing assignments to external
professionals through new methods aimed at ensuring transparency and traceability;
internal training activities at all levels on the topics of interest;

monitoring of relations with the Public Administration and definition of routes for the
management of relevant problems and for the development of the territory;

constant discussion with the Ministry of the Environment on the authorization procedures as
a part of remediation activities;

continuous monitoring of the efficacy and efficiency of reclamation activities;

focused communications;

audit activities on compliance with anti-corruption regulations and 231 Legislative Decree;
collaboration with stakeholders and the Public Administration (e.g. Ministries, Higher Institute
of Health, Universities).

o Qo O
Eni's target: ﬂ[@l} COMPANY PROFITABILITY ﬂ% CORPORATE REPUTATION O,Ego RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS, LOCAL DEVELOPMENT




Governance

Integrity and transparency are
the principles that have inspired
Eni in designing its corporate
governance system' a key pillar

of the Company’s business model.

The governance system, flanking
our business strategy, is intended
to support the relationship of trust
between Eni and its stakeholders
and to help achieve business
goals, creating sustainable

value for the long-term. Eni is
committed to building a corporate
governance system founded

on excellence in our open
dialogue with the market and all
stakeholders.

Starting from January 1%, 2021, Eni
applies the recommendations of
the 2020 Corporate Governance
Code, which Eni’'s Board of
Directors adopted on December
23,2020.

The Corporate Governance Code
identifies “sustainable success”
as the objective that must guide
the action of the management
body and which takes the form
of creating long-term value for
shareholders, taking into account
the interests of other relevant
stakeholders.
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Eni, however, has been considering the interest of stakeholders other than shareholders
as one of the necessary elements Directors must evaluate in making informed
decisions since 2006.

With this in mind, we consider ongoing, transparent communication with stakeholders
an essential tool for better understanding their needs. It is part of our efforts to ensure
the effective exercise of shareholders’rights. In 2021 Eni continued to pursue a dialogue
with the market on matters of governance and to seize the opportunities deriving
from studies and experience at the international level, in spite of the complications
associated with the health emergency which prevented more immediate contacts, in
particular with reference to the shareholders’ meeting. In any case, shareholders were
granted all legal rights and additional information tools in order to allow the greatest
possible involvement.

Furthermore, in line with the principles defined by the Board of Directors, Eni is
committed to creating a Corporate Governance system inspired by criteria of excellence,
also participating in initiatives to improve it. Initiatives in 2021 in particular include the
participation in working groups for in-depth study of issues related to the application of
the new Code, including the Observatory on engagement policies, set up by Assonime (the
Association of Italian joint stock companies) to offer a permanent forum for discussion
between listed companies called upon to define a policy of dialogue with shareholders,
as required by the Corporate Governance Code. The in-depth study of the issue, also
through the analysis of engagement policies adopted by institutional investors and asset
managers as well as by representative trade associations, led to the development of
an engagement policy approved on March 8, 2022 by Eni's Board of Directors, upon
proposal of the Chairman, in agreement with the Chief Executive Officer.

The Eni Corporate Governance

Eni Corporate Governance model

Eni's Corporate Governance structure is based on the traditional Italian model,
which — without prejudice to the role of the Shareholders’ Meeting — assigns the
management of the Company to the Board of Directors, supervisory functions to the
Board of Statutory Auditors and statutory auditing to the Audit Firm.

Appointment and composition of corporate bodies

Eni's Board of Directors and Board of Statutory Auditors, and their respective Chairmen, are
elected by the Shareholders’ Meeting. To ensure the presence of Directors and Statutory
Auditors selected by non-controlling shareholders a slate voting mechanism is used.
Eni's Board of Directors and Board of Statutory Auditors?, whose term runs from May
2020 until the Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve the 2022 financial statements,
are made up of 9 and 5 members, respectively. Three directors and two standing
statutory auditors, including the Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors, are elected

(1) For more detailed information on the Eni Corporate Governance system, please see the Corporate
Governance and Shareholding Structure Report drafted in accordance with Article 123-bis of Legislative
Decree no. 58/1998 and published on the Company’s website in the Governance section.

(2) Following the resignation of a standing Statutory Auditor on September 1, 2020, replaced by an alternate
Auditor, the Shareholders' Meeting of May 12, 2021 appointed a Statutory Auditor and an alternate Auditor for
the duration of the term of the Board of Statutory Auditors in office, to restore full membership of the Board
of Statutory Auditors.
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by non-controlling shareholders, thereby giving minority shareholders a larger number of representatives
than that provided for under law. In deciding the composition of the Board of Directors, the Shareholders’
Meeting was able to take account of the guidance provided to investors by the previous Board with regard
to diversity, professionalism, experience and competence, also with reference to corporate strategies, the
Company’s transformation and energy transition. The outcome was a balanced and diversified Board of
Directors. The Board of Statutory Auditors also prepared new shareholders’ advice providing indications
on the composition of the body in relation to the tasks it is called upon to perform. The composition of
the Board of Directors and of the Board of Statutory Auditors is also more diversified in gender terms, in
accordance with the provisions of applicable law and the By-laws. The latter was promptly amended to be
compliant with the law in February 2020 in view of the renewal of the corporate bodies. In particular, for
6 consecutive terms the management and control bodies shall be composed of at least 2/5 of the less
represented gender. Furthermore, based on the assessments most recently carried out on February 17,
2022, the number of independent directors on the Board of Directors (72 of the 9 serving, of whom 8 are non-
executive directors including the Chairwoman) remains greater than the number provided for in the Bylaws
and by corporate governance best practices.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Slate Independence® Gender diversity Age®
3 2 4 4
majority independent male 40-50 years
B minority M non-independent M female 51-60 years

W 61-70 years

(a) Independence as defined by applicable law and Corporate Governance Code.
(b) Figures at December 31, 2021.

The structure of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors appointed a Chief Executive Officer on May 14, 2020 and established four
internal committees with advisory and recommendation functions: the Control and Risk Committee?, the
Remuneration Committee®,the Nomination Committee and the Sustainability and Scenarios Committee.
The Committees report, through their Chairmen, on the main issues they address at each meeting of the
Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors also retained the Chairman’'s major role in internal controls, with specific regard
to the Internal Audit unit. In agreement with the Chief Executive Officer, the Chairman proposes the

(8) Independence as defined by applicable law, to which the Eni By-laws refer, and by the Corporate Governance Code.

(4) As regards the composition of the Control and Risk Committee, Eni requires that at least two members shall have appropriate
experience with accounting, financial or risk management issues, exceeding the provision of the 2018 Corporate Governance Code, in
force at the time of the appointment, confirmed by the new Corporate Governance Code, which recommends only one such member. In
this regard, on May 14, 2020 the Eni Board of Directors determined that 2 of the 4 members of the Committee, including the Chairman,
have the appropriate experience.

(5) In line with the Recommendation of the 2018 Corporate Governance Code, in force at the time of the appointment, confirmed by
the new Corporate Governance Code, the Rules of the Remuneration Committee require that at least one member shall have adequate
expertise and experience in finance or compensation policies. These qualifications are assessed by the Board of Directors at the time
of appointment. In this regard, on May 14, 2020 the Eni Board of Directors determined that all three members of the Committee have
the appropriate expertise and experience. The level of expertise and experience of the Committee members therefore exceeds that
provided for in the Committee Rules and Corporate Governance Code.
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Member appointed from the
majority list

Member appointed from the
majority list non-executive and
independent pursuant to law and,
from April 1,2021, pursuant to
Corporate Governance Code.
Member appointed from the
minority list and independent
pursuant to law and Corporate
Governance Code.

Member appointed from the
majority list and independent
pursuant to law and Corporate
Governance Code.

Member appointed from the
majority list, non-executive
Member appointed from the
majority list, independent pursuant
to law, and from February 17,
2022, pursuant to Corporate
Governance Code.

Member appointed from the
minority list and independent
pursuant to law and Corporate
Governance Code. From April 29,
2021 he's lead independent
director.

External member.

Chairman of the Board of
Statutory Auditors

Internal Audit Director.

Member appointed on May 12,
2021 on the proposal of the
Ministry of Economy and Finance,
independent pursuant to law and
Corporate Governance Code.

Alternate Statutory Auditors:
Roberto Maglio - Member
appointed on May 12,2021 on the
proposal of the Ministry of
Economy and Finance; Claudia
Mezzabotta - Member appointed
from the minority list.

From April 1,2021

Also Integrated Compliance
Director.

From February 7, 2022, the Chief
Operating Officer Natural
Resources is Guido Brusco.
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appointment, revocation and remuneration of its Head and the resources available to it, without prejudice
to the support to the Board of the Control and Risks Committee and the Nomination Committee, to the
extent of their competences, and having heard the Board of Statutory Auditors, and also directly manages
relations with the unit on behalf of the Board of Directors (without prejudice to the unit's functional
reporting to the Control and Risk Committee and the Chief Executive Officer, as the director in charge of
the internal control and risk management system). The Chairman is also involved in the appointment of
the primary Eni officers responsible for internal controls and risk management, including the officer in
charge of preparing financial reports, the members of the Watch Structure, the Head of Integrated Risk
Management and the Head of Integrated Compliance.
Finally, the Board of Directors, acting on a recommendation of the Chairman, appoints the Secretary,
charged with providing assistance and advice to the Chairman, the Board of Directors and the individual
directors®. In view of this role, the Secretary, who reports to the Board of Directors and, on its behalf, to the
Chairman, must also meet professional requirements, as provided for in the Corporate Governance Code,
while the Chairman oversees his independence.

The following chart summarises the Company’s Corporate Governance structure as at December

31, 2021:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Eni SpA

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER (CEO)

Claudio Descalzi®

DIRECTORS (NON-EXECUTIVE)
» Ada Lucia De Cesaris® T
» Filippo Giansante®

» Pietro A. Guindani©

» Karina A. Litvack®

» Emanuele Piccinno®

» Nathalie Tocci@

» Raphael Louis L. Vermeir®@

CONTROL AND
RISK COMMITTEE

SUSTAINABILITY AND
SCENARIOS COMMITTEE

CHAIRMAN

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

(©) CHAIRMAN

—
Lucia Calvosa®

BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS

Shareholders’
Meeting

(Audit Committee SOA)

—— INTERNAL
AUDIT DIRECTOR
Gianfranco Cariola**

—— BOARD SECRETARY
AND COUNSEL
Luca Franceschini***

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICERS

Alessandro Puliti****
(Natural Resources)
Giuseppe Ricci
(Energy Evolution)

OFFICER IN CHARGE

OF PREPARING FINANCIAL REPORTS

Francesco Esposito

231 SUPERVISORY BODY
Attilio Befera (Chairman)®
Antonella Alfonsi®

Ugo Lecis®™

Rosalba Casiraghi®
Gianfranco Cariola®

CHAIRMAN

Rosalba Casiraghi®©

STATUTORY AUDITORS*

» Enrico Maria Bignami©
» Marcella Caradonna™
» Giovanna Ceribelli©@

» Marco Seracini@

AUDIT FIRM
PwC SpA

MAGISTRATE OF
THE COURT
OF AUDITORS

Manuela Arrigucci

(6) The Charter of the Board Secretary and Board Counsel, attached to the Rules of the Board of Directors, is available on the Eni

website, in the Governance section.
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The following is a chart setting out the current macro-organizational structure of Eni SpA as at
December 31, 2021:
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CHAIRMAN'S Lucia Calvosa
OFFICE Chairman of the Board

Claudio Descalzi
Chief Executive Officer (a) The Board Secretary and Counsel

reports hierarchically and functionally

to the Board of Directors and, on its
behalf, to the Chairman
.. . . (b) The Internal Audit Director reports
Luca Franceschini Gianfranco Cariola hierarchicall ard :
" rarchically to the Board and, on its
Office of the CEO Board Secretary Internal Audit behalf, to the Chairman, without
and Counsel® Director® prejudice to its functional reporting to
the Control and Risk Committee and to
the CEO, in his capacity as director in
( [ [ A charge of establishing and maintaining
the Internal Control and Risk
Roberto Ulissi Luca Franceschini Grazia Fimiani Stefano Speroni Management System. From April 1
Corporate Affairs Integrated Compliance Integrated Legal Affairs and éﬁ‘)aigf :’:?C‘C:"fz:i\:tﬂ;ﬂ&zﬁéﬂ ‘351
and Governance Director Risk Management Commercial Negotiations 2021 the Internal Audit Director was
Director Director Director Marco Petracchini
(c) From February 7, 2022 the Natural
Resources Chief Operating Officer is
( | | \ Guido Brusco.
Claudio Granata Francesca Zarri Lapo Pistelli Erika Mandraffino (d) Until March 4, 2022
Human Capital & Technology, Public Affairs External Communication
Procurement Coordination R&D & Digital Director Director
Director Director
Alessandro Puliti Francesco Gattei Giuseppe Ricci
Natural Resources Chief Financial Energy Evolution
Chief Operating Officer® Officer Chief Operating Officer
Deputy Luca Bertelli Deputy Umberto Carrara
. . iarini(@
Deputy Cristian Signoretto Deputy Alberto Chiarini®

Decision making

The Board of Directors entrusts the management of the Company to the Chief Executive Officer,
while retaining key strategic, operational and organizational powers for itself, especially as regards
governance, sustainability’, internal control and risk management.

Organizational arrangements

Inrecentyears, the Board of Directors has devoted special attention to the Company’s organizational
arrangements, including a number of important measures being taken with regard to the internal
control and risk management system and compliance.

More specifically, the Board decided that the Integrated Risk Management function reports directly
to the Chief Executive Officer and created an Integrated Compliance function, also reporting to
the Chief Executive Officer, separate from the Legal unit. Furthermore, in June 2020, the Board
redefined the organizational structure of the Company with the establishment of two General
Departments (Energy Evolution and Natural Resources), launching a new structure consistent
with the corporate mission and functional to the achievement of strategic objectives.

Among the Board of Directors’ most important duties is the appointment of people to key
management and control positions in the Company, such as the officer in charge of preparing
financial reports, the Head of Internal Audit, the members of the Watch Structure. In performing
these duties, the Board of Directors is supported by the Nomination Committee.

(7) For more information concerning non-financial disclosures, please see the section of the Report on the Consolidated Disclo-
sure of Non-Financial Information (NFI), pursuant to Legislative Decree No. 254/2016.



38

Eni Annual Report 2021

Reporting flows

In order for the Board of Directors to perform its duties as effectively as possible, the Directors
must be in a position to assess the decisions they are called upon to make, possessing appropriate
expertise and information. The current members of the Board of Directors, who have a diversified
range of skills and experience, including on the international stage, are well qualified to conduct
comprehensive assessments of the variety of issues they face from multiple perspectives. The
directors also receive timely complete briefings on the issues on the agenda of the meetings
of the Board of Directors. To ensure this operates smoothly, Board meetings are governed by
specific procedures that establish deadlines for providing members with documentation and the
Chairman ensures that each Director can contribute effectively to Board discussions. The same
documentation is provided to the Statutory Auditors. In addition to meeting to perform the duties
assigned to the Board of Statutory Auditors by Italian law, including in its capacity as the “Internal
Control and Audit Committee”, and by US law in its capacity as the “Audit Committee”, the Statutory
Auditors also participate in the meetings of the Board of Directors and, also through individual
members, at meetings of the Control and Risk Committee thus ensuring the timely exchange of key
information for the performance of their respective duties.

The adequacy and timeliness of reporting flows towards the Board of Directors is subject to periodic
review by the same Board as part of the annual self-assessment process (see next section).

Ongoing training and self-assessment

On an annual basis, the Board of Directors conducts a self-assessment (the Board Review)?, for
which benchmarking against national and international best practices and an examination of Board
dynamics are essential elements, also with a view to provide shareholders with guidance on the
most appropriate professional profiles for members of the Board. Following the Board Review, the
Board of Directors develops an action plan, if necessary, to improve the functioning of the Board
and its Committees.

In 2020, the self-assessment exercise — as reported in last year's Report — was concluded at the
meeting of May 27, 2021, with the presentation of the results of the self-assessment process,
as illustrated by the consultant, identifying, through the use of questionnaires and individual
interviews, role characteristics, responsibility, size, composition and functioning of the Board and
its Committees. In this meeting, based on the results of the self-assessment, an action plan was
approved with some evaluations and proposals for improving the Board activities.

In 2021, the self-assessment was carried out in continuity with the previous financial year, taking
inspiration from the results of the 2020 board review, as well as from the evaluations and proposals
for improvement of the Board activity included in the action plan. In the year 2021 it was decided
not to carry out the peer review.

The self-assessment process was carried out through questionnaires and interviews which
concerned in particular: (i) the size, functioning and composition of the Board and the Committees,
also taking into account elements such as professional characteristics, experience, including in
management, and diversity, including gender, of its members, as well as their seniority in office;
(i) the strategic and Plan monitoring role, including ESG issues and the internal control and risk
management system. The self-assessment activity carried out for 2021 ended in the meeting
of February 17, 2022, with the presentation of the results of the process, as illustrated by the
consultant, confirming both the positive elements, already emerged from the previous 2020 board
review, and the realization of the improvement initiatives expressed in the action plan, and a further,
very positive evolution of all the issues subject to analysis and evaluation.

In addition, in determining the procedures for the performance of the Board Review, the Eni Board
also assesses whether to perform a Peer Review of the Directors, in which each director expresses

(8) For more information on the Board Review process, see the section devoted to that process in the 2021 Corporate Governance and
Shareholding Structure Report .
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his or her view of the contribution made by the other Directors to the work of the Board. The
Peer Review, which has been completed five times in the last nine years and was completed,
most recently, in conjunction with the Board Review 2020, is best practice among ltalian listed
companies. Eni was among the first Italian companies to perform one, starting in 2012. The peer
review carried out in 2020 highlighted the main dynamics that influence the functioning of the
team, also identifying several strengths as well as areas needing improvement. The Board of
Statutory Auditors also conducted its own self-assessment in 2021.

For a number of years now, Eni has supported the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory
Auditors with an induction programme, which involves the presentation of the activities and
organization of Eni by top management. following the appointment of the Board of Directors and
the Board of Statutory Auditors, numerous induction sessions were held open to Directors and
Statutory Auditors, in the context of meetings of both the Board and the Board of Statutory Auditors
and the Board Committees, on issues under the remit of the Committees themselves. During
2020 and 2021, the training activity continued through ongoing training and induction activities. In
particular, the issues addressed include those relating to the corporate structure and its business
model, Eni's mission and decarbonization path, sustainability, governance, compliance, the
internal control and risk management system, accounting and tax issues, remuneration policy and
human capital, as well as internal regulations on transactions with related parties, cybersecurity
and business strategies pursued by the Company in the most important sectors.

The governance of sustainability

Eni's governance structure reflects the Company’s willingness to integrate sustainability,
including in the form of “sustainable success” as outlined in the Corporate Governance Code,
into its business model. The Board of Directors has a central role in defining sustainability
policies and strategies, acting upon proposal of the CEQ, in the identification of annual, four-
year and long-term objectives shared between functions and subsidiaries and in verifying the
related results, which are also presented to the Shareholders’ Meeting. In detail, a central theme
in which the Board of Directors plays a key role is challenge related to the process of energy
transition to a low carbon future®.

In this regard, it should be noted that the self-assessment process relating to 2021, carried out with
the support of an independent external consultant and completed in February 2022, provided
the Directors with the opportunity to reflect specifically on ESG issues and their implementation
in internal policies, the energy transition plan and strategy, climate change, and sustainability in
general, issues on which the Board expressed extremely positive opinions. Furthermore, it should
be noted that even in the self-assessment process relating to 2020, which ended on May 27,
2021, ESG issues had represented a specific point of attention, and, in particular, there was a
positive opinion by the Board on the understanding and attention to these themes, which will be
continuously deepened and detailed.

Furthermore, with a view to pursuing sustainable success, Eni's Board of Directors, in line with the
2020 Corporate Governance Code, promotes dialogue with shareholders and other stakeholders
relevant to the Company. In particular, as already indicated, the Board, upon proposal of the
Chairman in agreement with the Chief Executive Officer, has adopted the policy for managing
dialogue with shareholders, also in order to ensure an orderly and consistent communication.

(9) For further information on the role of the Board of Directors in the process of energy transition and the pursuit of sustainable success,
see the section of this Report relating to the Consolidated Non-Financial Statement, pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 254/2016.

(10) On the basis of the results of the self-assessment process on the last year of term of the outgoing Board, also in relation to the issue
of climate change and the role of the Board in facing this future challenge, the outgoing Board prepared its advice to the Shareholders
on the composition of the future Board which highlighted the advisability of including members with, among other things, skills and
experience to fully understand the decarbonization process as well as, with specific reference to the issue of the energy transition and its
centrality in Eni's strategic plan, the importance of professionalism with experience in contexts of strategic change of similar complexity
on a global scale, and “Soft skills” such as the ability to integrate sustainability issues into the business vision.
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Another central issue of interest for the Board of Directors is respect for Human Rights: in 2021
Eni continued the path undertaken, that led to the approval of the Eni Declaration on respect for
human rights by Eni's Board of Directors in December 2018, also implementing a management
model aimed at ensuring the performance of the due diligence process according to the United
Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (UNGP).

Furthermore, continuing on the path of transformation, in September 2019 Eni's Board of Directors
approved a new corporate mission, which takes inspiration from the 17 United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs) and highlights Eni's values related to climate, the environment, access to
energy, cooperation and partnerships for development, respect for people and human rights. The mission
highlights the principles that underpin the Company’s business model aimed at integrating sustainability
into all Company’'s activities, having regard not only for climate and environment but also for the
development, enhancement and training of human resources, considering diversity as an opportunity.

THE MAIN SUSTAINABILITY ISSUES ADDRESSED BY THE BOARD IN 2021

» 2021 Financial sustainability strategy and sustainability reporting

» 2020 Sustainability Report: “Eni For™

» Update of the UK Modern Slavery Act and Australian “Modern Slavery Act” statement

» 2020 Financial Statements, including the consolidated Non-Financial Statement

» The Remuneration Report, including sustainability targets in the definition of performance plans
» 2020 HSE Report

» Four-year and long-term Plan (including non-financial targets)

Thanks to the growing commitment to transparency and to the business model built by Eni in
recent years to create long-term sustainable value, Eni's stock has achieved the top positions in
the most popular ESG ratings and confirmed its presence in the main ESG indices™. In particular,
in 2021 Eni was included in the MIB® ESG index, the new Borsa Italiana index dedicated to blue
chips that excel in ESG performance.

The Sustainability and Scenarios Committee

In performing its duties in the field of sustainability, the Board is supported by the Sustainability
and Scenarios Committee, established for the first time in 2014 by the Board itself, which provides
advice and recommendations on scenario and sustainability issues. The Committee plays a key
role in addressing the sustainability issues integrated into the Company’s business model?.

(11) For timely updates on ESG indices and ratings of relevance to the financial markets, please refer to the Shareholder Relations page of
the 2021 Corporate Governance Report and to the Investor Relations page of the site.
(12) For more information on the Committee activities in 2020, please see the relevant section in the 2021 Corporate Governance Report.
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Remuneration Policy

Eni's Remuneration Policy for its Directors and top management contributes to the Company’s
strategy, through incentive plans which is linked to the achievement of results in terms of econom-
ic-financial profitability, social and environmental sustainability and energy transition, defined with
a long-term view, taking into account the stakeholder’s perspectives.

Eni's Remuneration Policy is also consistent with the corporate governance model adopted and
with the recommendations of the Corporate Governance Code, providing in particular that the
remuneration of Directors, members of the Board of Statutory Auditors, General Managers and
Managers with strategic responsibilities is functional to the pursuit of sustainable success of the
Company and consider the need to dispose, retain and motivate people with competence and
professionalism required from the position held in the company (Principe XV of the Corporate
Governance Code).

For this purpose, the remuneration of Eni's top management is established on the basis of the
position and the responsibilities assigned, with due consideration given to market benchmarks for
similar positions in national and international companies similar to Eni in business features, also
in relation to the reference sector and company size, through specific pay comparison carried out
with the support of international suppliers.

As part of Eni Remuneration Policy, considerable importance is given to the variable component,
also on a per-share basis, which is linked to the achievement of certain results, through incentive
plans connected to the fulfilment of preset, measurable and complementary targets which repre-
sent the main Company’s priorities in line with the Company’s Strategic Plan and the expectations
of shareholders and stakeholders, in order to promote a strong focus on results and combine the
operating, economic and financial soundness with social and environmental sustainability, coher-
ently with the long-term nature of the business and the related risk profiles.

The Policy defined for the next term 2020-2023 provides the confirmation, in the Short-Term Plan
of Incentive of Short Term with deferral, of a target related to environmental sustainability and
human capital (weight 25%), focused on safety and reduction of GHG emission intensity (Scope 1
+ Scope 2), as well as, from 2021, a specific target related to the increase of renewables installed
capacity (weight 12.5%).

The 2020-2022 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan includes a target related to environmental sus-
tainability and energy transition (overall weight 35%), articulated on a series of goals linked to the
processes of decarbonization and energy transition and to the circular economy.

The Remuneration Policy is described in the first section of the Remuneration Report, available on
the Company’s website (www.eni.com) and is presented for a binding vote at the Shareholders’
Meeting, with the cadence required by its duration and in any case at least every three years or in
the event of changes to it'®.

(13) In accordance with Art. 123 ter, paragraph 3 bis of the Italian Decree Law No. 58/98.
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The internal control and risk management system'*

Eni has adopted an integrated and comprehensive internal control and risk management system
at different levels of the organizational and corporate structure, based on a set of rules, procedures
and organizational structures aimed at allowing an effective identification, measurement,
management and monitoring of the main risks, in order to contribute to the sustainable success
of the Company.

The internal control and risk management system is also based on Eni's Code of Ethics, which sets
out the rules of conduct for the appropriate management of the Company’s business and which
must be complied with by all the members of the Board, as well as of the other corporate bodies
and all other third parties working with or in name or for the interest of Eni. Eni has adopted rules
for the integrated governance of the internal control and risk management system, the guidelines
of which were approved by the Board.

Furthermore, on adopting the new Corporate Governance Code, Eni's Board of Directors established
various actions and application and improvement methods to comply with the recommendations
on the internal control and risk management system (ICRMS), already generally accepted as in line
with the best practices of corporate governance?®.

In this respect, in order to strengthen the integration between strategic planning and internal
controls and risk management, upon the proposal of the Chief Executive Officer and with the
support of the Control and Risks Committee, the Board of Directors has called for the definition
of "operational" guidelines for the ICRMS, that exceed the ICRMS model contained in internal
regulations, as part of the Strategic plan, in line with the strategies of the company.

It was also envisaged that the implementation of the operational guidelines of the ICRMS is subject
to periodic monitoring on the basis of a report by the Chief Executive Officer.

Eni has also equipped itself with a reference model for Integrated Compliance, which together with
Model 231 and the Code of Ethics, is aimed at ensuring that all Eni personnel who are contributing
to the achievement of business objectives operate in full compliance with the rules of integrity and
applicable laws and regulations in an increasingly complex national and international regulatory
framework, defining a comprehensive process, developed using a risk-based approach, for
managing activities to prevent non-compliance.

With this in mind, risk assessment methodologies were developed aimed at modulating controls,
calibrating monitoring activities and planning training and communication activities based on the
compliance risk underlying the various cases, to maximize their effectiveness and efficiency. The
Integrated Compliance process was designed to stimulate integration between those who work in
the business activities and the corporate functions that oversee the various compliance risks, both
internal or external to the Integrated Compliance unit.

Furthermore, acting on the proposal of the Chief Executive Officer, having obtained a favourable
opinion from the Control and Risk Committee, the Board of Directors of Eni approved the internal
rules concerning the Market Information Abuse (Issuers). These, by updating the previous Eni
rules for the aspects relating to “issuers”, incorporate the amendments introduced by Regulation
No. 596/2014/EU of April 16, 2014 and the associated implementing rules, as well as the national
regulations, taking account of Italian and foreign institutional guidelines on the matter.

The updated internal rules lay down principles of conduct for the protection of confidentiality
of corporate information in general, to promote maximum compliance, as also required by Eni's
Code of Ethics and corporate security measures. Eni recognizes that information is a strategic
asset to be managed in such a way as to ensure the protection of the interests of the Company,
shareholders and the market.

(14) For more information, please see the 2021 Corporate Governance Report.
(15) For more information, please see the 2021 Corporate Governance Report.
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In order to ensure the protection of corporate assets, of the interests of shareholders and the
market, as well as the transparency and integrity of conduct, Eni has adopted — in compliance
with Consob regulatory provisions — internal rules on transactions involving the interests of
directors and statutory auditors and transactions with related parties. These rules were most
recently updated in 2021 by the Board of Directors, with the unanimous and favourable opinion
of the Control and Risks Committee, with the aim of ensuring regulatory compliance, but also
taking into account the experience gained, as well as the indications of the Board Committees and
supervisory bodies.

An integral part of the Eni internal control system is the internal control system for financial
reporting, the objective of which is to provide reasonable certainty of the reliability of financial
reporting and the ability of the financial report preparation process to generate such reporting in
compliance with generally accepted international accounting standards.

Eni's CEQ, Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and Head of Accounting and Financial Statements and
budget manager, in his capacity as officer in charge of preparing financial reports, are responsible
for planning, establishing and maintaining the internal control system for financial reporting. A
central role in the Company’s internal control and risk management system is played by the Board
of Statutory Auditors, which in addition to the supervisory and control functions provided for in
the Consolidated Law on Financial Intermediation, also monitors the financial reporting process
and the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems, consistent with the
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code, including in its capacity as the “Internal Control and
Audit Committee” pursuant to Italian law and as the “Audit Committee” under US law.
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Exploration & Production

>7OO mmboe

new exploration equity resources
discovered at a competitive
cost of 1.3 S/barrel

HyNet Project
for the CO, geological capture
and storage in the UK.

Signed 19 Memorandum
of Understanding with local
industries for the storage
of their emissions

Net carbon footprint
upstream -26% vs. 2018
In 2021 achieved progress in line with
new target of -65% in 2025

and net zero in 2030

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
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2021 2019

Total recordable incident rate (TRIR)®

of which: employees

contractors
Profit per boe®©
Opex per boe®@
Cash flow per boe
Finding & Development cost per boe©@@
Average hydrocarbon realization
Production of hydrocarbons®
Net proved reserves of hydrocarbons
Reserves life index
Organic reserves replacement ratio
Employees at year end
of which outside Italy

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)@

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)/operated hydrocarbon gross production@®©

Methane fugitive emissions®

Volumes of hydrocarbon sent to routine flaring®
Net carbon footprint upstream (Scope 1+2)®

Oil spills due to operations (>1 barrel)®

Re-injected production water®

(total recordable injuries/worked hours) X 1,000,000

($/boe)

(kboe/d)
(mmboe)
(years)
)
(number)
(mmtonnes CO,eq.)
(tonnes CO,eq./kboe)
2
(ktonnes CH,)
(billion Sm3)
(mmtonnes CO,eq.)
(barrels)
%)

0.25
0.09
0.30
4.8
7.5
20.6
20.4
51.49
1,682
6,628
10.8
55
9,409
6,045
223
20.2
9.2
1.2
11.0
436
58

0.28
0.18
0.31
38
6.5
9.8
17.6
28.92
1,733
6,905
10.9
43
9,815
6,123
21.1
20.0
112
1.0
1.4
882
53

0.33
0.18
0.37
7.7
6.4
18.6
15.5
43.54
1,871
7,268
10.6
92
10,272
6,781
22.8
19.6
21.9
1.2
14.8
988
58

(a) Calculated on 100% operated assets.

(b) Related to consolidated subsidiaries.

(c) Three-year average.

(d) Includes Eni's share of equity-accounted entities.

(e) Hydrocarbon gross production from fields fully operated by Eni (Eni’s interest 100%) amounting to 1,041 mmboe, 1,009 mmboe and 1,114 mmboe in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

(f) Calculated on equity bases and included carbon sink.
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Liquids reserves Natural gas reserves

Italy

‘. ‘ . Rest of Europe
North Africa
o ah
Sub-Saharan Africa

Kazakhstan
Rest of Asia

3.26 bboe 3.37 bboe

Americas

@ Australia and Oceania

Upstream intensity emission Scenario vs. Performance
(CO,eq./kboe)

=
100

2014 2018 2021 2019 2020 2021

@ Direct GHG emission @ Adjusted operating profit (€ bin)
(Scope 1)/operated hydrocarbons —— Brent ($/b) Eni - average price realization (S/boe)
gross production

Performance of the year

» Total recordable injury rate (TRIR) was 0.25, down by 9%, confirming Eni's commitment to reduce injuries in
each of its operations.

» Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) of the operated assets reported an increase of 6% from 2020, mainly due
to the resumption of activities.

» Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)/operated hydrocarbon gross production was 20.2 tonnes CO, eq./ kboe,
substantially in line with 2020.

» Methane fugitive emissions of the operated assets were down by 18% from 2020 mainly as result of the
constant commitment to periodic on-site monitoring and the related maintenance activities.

» Net Carbon Footprint upstream (GHG emissions Scope 1 + Scope 2 accounted for on an equity basis net
of carbon sink) slightly decrease from 2020.

» Volumes of hydrocarbon sent to routine flaring of the operated assets increased by 12% from 2020, mainly
due to the resumption of activities at the Abu-Attifel and El Feel plants in Libya, shut down in 2020.

» Qil spills due to operations more than halved from 2020, leveraging on to the technical measures adopted
in the operating activities.

» Re-injected production water increased from 2020 thanks to the complete recovery of the re-injection
activities in Congo and Libya.

» Oil and natural gas production was 1.7 million boe/d before price effects. Growth was fueled by continued
production ramp-ups at the giant Zohr in Egypt and Merakes (Indonesia) gas fields, with the latter achieving
first gas in April. Performance was negative impacted by greater maintenance activity in Norway, Italy and
the UK, lower activity in Nigeria and mature fields decline.

» Net proved reserves at December 31, 2021 amounted to 6.6 bboe based on a reference Brent price of 69
S/barrel. The all-sources replacement ratio was 55%; 73% three-year average all sources replacement ratio.
The reserves life index was 10.8 years (10.9 years in 2020).
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Decarbonization initiatives

» The projects of the CO, geological capture and sequestration using depleted fields as well as reusing
in other production cycle are a key drivers of Eni transition strategy. In particular, the HyNet integrated
project in the United Kingdom where Eni operates (100% interest) the transport and storage of CO,
in depleted gas fields in the Liverpool Bay area. In October 2021 the project has been selected by UK
authorities between the two priority CCS projects in the country and granted access to priority public
funding by the UK government Carbon Capture Storage Infrastracture Fund (CCSIF) manage by BEIS
(Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy department) to support with £1 billion the realization in the
United Kingdom of at least 4 CCS hubs by 2030. The project will ensure significant support to the
UK’s decarbonisation process with 10 mmtonnes/year of CO, storage at full capacity compared to
the recent ambition in the Net Zero Strategy (October 2021) of 20-30 mmtonnes/year of CO, storage
capacity as well as with 80% to the 5 GW of low-carbon hydrogen, target set by the UK government
for 2030. Other ongoing initiative concerned a plan to build a hub for the capture and storage of CO, in
depleted fields off the coast of Ravenna which will be designed to store 500 mmtonnes. Leveraging on
the development of CCS projects, the target is to reach a storage capacity of 7 mmtonnes/year net to
Eni in 2030.

» Progressed Eni's initiatives within the Natural Climate Solutions, such as projects focusing on the forest’s
protection, conservation and sustainable management, mainly in developing Countries, by means of the
REDD+ project scheme which was designed by the United Nations. In particular, in 2021, Eni launched other
projects in the Republic of Zambia and Tanzania, in addition to Luangwa Community Forest project. Eni
continues to evaluate further initiatives in different Countries by means of partnerships with governments
and international players in Africa, Latin America, and Asia. Planned and defined initiatives will ensure the
offsetting of residual emissions in the Eni's decarbonization strategy.

» In Africa signed agreements with the government of Kenya, Angola, Congo, Ivory Coast, Benin, Mozambique
and Rwanda for biofuel projects through the set-up of integrated agro-biofeedstock supply chains to supply
renewable feedstock to Eni's biorefineries, without impacting the local food chain and to decarbonize the
local energy mix. In particular, these projects aimed at the production of such feedstock ensure security
and strategic supply of sustainable feedstock (Low ILUC) and de-risking with respect to market purchases.
The development model of these initiatives also enhances environmental issues, as it contributes to the
decarbonization of marketed products and allows the recovery of degraded land and tackle deforestation,
as well as social issues with positive impacts on the country such as employment, rural income and market
access for farmers. The model enhances human rights protections and promotes the health, food security
and access rights to land of country populations.

» Finalized the agreement with the Bonifiche Ferraresi Group aimed at establishing an equal joint venture
for the development of agricultural research and experimentation projects of oil plant seeds to be used as
feedstock in Eni's biorefineries. Based on the agreement, Eni purchased a minority stake in the subsidiary
of BF Bonifiche Ferraresi and in BF SpA.

» Solenova, a joint venture between Eni and Sonangol, reached the Final Investment Decision (FID) and
signed the EPC contract for the first phase start-up of Caraculo’s photovoltaic project, located in Namibe,
Angola, to be launched in fourth quarter of 2022. The plant will have a total capacity of 50 MW and will be
implemented by stages, the first set to reach a capacity of 25 MW.

» Signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the Australian company Santos to jointly seek cooperation
opportunities within CO, capture and storage or utilization project and to enhance partnership in the
hydrocarbon developments in northern Australia. Other agreements finalized in Egypt and Norway.

Exploration

» Exploration activity achieved excellent results in 2021 with the discovery of 700 mmboe of new resources
at a competitive cost of 1.3 S/boe. Exploration is still a distinctive approach of Eni's upstream model, and
the achieved results have allowed Eni to get the title of “explorer of the Year 2021" by the World Energy
Capital Assembly.
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» Exploration confirmed its track-record with the Baleine discovery in the CI-101 operated block, in the
offshore Ivory Coast, which identified an estimated potential approximately 2 billion barrels of oil in
place and 2.4 trillion cubic feet (TCF) of associated gas. The final investment decision for Phase |
has been reached after five months from discovery. In particular, defined with the authorities of the
Country the development plan of the Baleine discovery, through a phased fast-track development plan,
with an expected start-up in early production in the first half of 2023 and a subsequent ramp-up. The
project will be a Scope 1 and 2 net-zero development, the first of this kind in Africa. Carbon neutrality
will leverage on certain emission reduction drivers by means of improved cookstoves (sustainable
development) and forest conservation (REDD+) initiatives. Baleine confirms Eni's commitment to
generate high value while reducing the carbon footprint and focus to improve the time-to-market of
exploration discoveries.

» Achieved near-field exploration successes in Angola, where the Cuica-1 oil discovery will ensure to extend the
useful life of the FPSO which operates the block, in Ghana, with the Eban oil discovery in the CTP 4 operated
block near to the Sankofa production hub, and in Mexico, with the oil discovery in the Sayuilta exploration
prospect following the Saasken discovery made in 2020. Other significant exploration successes were
made in Egypt, Indonesia, Norway and the United Kingdom.

» Reloading exploration portfolio with the addition of approximately 15,800 square kilometers of new leases
in Angola, the Ivory Coast, Egypt, the UAE, Norway, the UK and Vietnam.

» In 2021 exploration expenses were €558 million (€510 million in 2020) and included the write-off of
unsuccessful wells amounting to €364 million (€314 million in 2020), which also related to the write-off of
unproved exploration rights, if any, associated to projects with negative outcome. In particular, exploration
and appraisal activities comprised write-offs of unsuccessful exploration wells costs for €331 million
mainly in Gabon, Montenegro, Myanmar, Bahrain, Egypt and Angola. Write-offs of €35 million are related to
exploration licenses due mainly to exiting from marginal areas for geopolitical or environmental issues. In
addition, 100 exploratory drilled wells are in progress at year-end (52.4 net to Eni).

Development

» Achieved production start-up of the following projects:
in Indonesia, in the operated East Seppingaan block (Eni's interest 65%) in the deep offshore eastern
Kalimantan with the Merakes gas project;
in Angola, with the tie-in of the satellite discoveries of Cuica and Cabaca North in offshore operated
Block 15/06, leveraging on the existing FPSO in the areg;
in the onshore Sharjah Emirate, with start-up of the Mahani gas and condensate project in the Area B
concession (Eni's interest 50%), just two years after signing the concession agreement and one year
since discovery.

» In Angola signed with BP an agreement for establishing the Azule Energy, a new jointly controlled venture,
which will combine the two partners’ upstream portfolio in the Country to accelerate the assets development.

» Eniand the private equity fund HitecVision, shareholders of Var Energi, have finalized the process of listing
the investee at the Norwegian stock exchange placing about 11.2% interest.

» Development expenditure amounted to €3.4 billion, directed mainly outside Italy, in particular in Egypt,
Angola, the United States, Mexico, the United Arab Emirates, Indonesia and Iraq.

» Eni progressed its commitment to initiatives and programs to promote local development through a
distinctive approach that is also based on collaborations with other internationally recognized players
as well as with public-private partnerships. In particular, in January 2022 signed an agreement with
the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) in Mexico to identify
joint initiatives that contribute to the sustainable development of the domestic market; in February
2022 in collaboration with the European Union and UNICEF, launched a project in partnership with
the Governorate of Basra in Irag, aimed at improving water quality. In addition, initiatives advanced in
Angola with Halo Trust, for the land demining in Benguela area, and the program with FAO to promote
water access in Nigeria.

» In 2021, overall R&D expenditure amounted to €65 million (€59 million in 2020); a total of 6 new patents were filed.
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RESERVES
OVERVIEW

The Company has adopted comprehensive classification criteria for the estimate of proved, proved
developed and proved undeveloped oil and gas reserves in accordance with applicable US Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) regulations, as provided for in Regulation S-X, Rule 4-10. Proved oil and gas
reserves are those quantities of liquids (including condensates and natural gas liquids) and natural gas
which, by analysis of geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to
be economically producible from a given date forward, from known reservoirs, under existing economic
conditions, operating methods, and government regulations prior to the time at which contracts providing
the right to operate expire, unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain.

Oil and natural gas prices used in the estimate of proved reserves are obtained from the official survey
published by Platt's Marketwire, except when their calculation derives from existing contractual conditions.
Prices are calculated as the unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each
month within the 12-month period prior to the end of the reporting period. Prices include consideration of
changes in existing prices provided only by contractual arrangements.

Engineering estimates of the Company’s oil and gas reserves are inherently uncertain. Although
authoritative guidelines exist regarding engineering criteria that have to be met before estimated oil and
gas reserves can be designated as “proved”, the accuracy of any reserves estimate is a function of the
quality of available data and engineering and geological interpretation and evaluation. Consequently,
the estimated proved reserves of oil and natural gas may be subject to future revision and upward and
downward revisions may be made to the initial booking of reserves due to analysis of new information.
Proved reserves to which Eni is entitled under concession contracts are determined by applying Eni's
equity interest to total proved reserves of the contractual area, until expiration of the relevant mineral right.
Eni's proved reserves entitlements under PSAs are calculated so that the sale of production entitlements
cover expenses incurred by the Group for field development (Cost Oil) and recognize a share of profit set
contractually (Profit Qil). A similar scheme applies to service contracts.

RESERVES GOVERNANCE

Eni retains rigorous control over the process of booking proved reserves, through a centralized model of
reserves governance. The Reserves Department of the Exploration & Production segment is in charge of:
(i) ensuring the periodic certification process of proved reserves; (ii) updating the Company’s guidelines
on reserves evaluation and classification and the internal procedures; and (iii) providing training of staff
involved in the process of reserves estimation. Company guidelines have been reviewed by DeGolyer
and MacNaughton (D&M), an independent petroleum engineering company, which has stated that those
guidelines comply with the SEC rules’. D&M has also stated that the Company guidelines provide reasonable
interpretation of facts and circumstances in line with generally accepted practices in the industry whenever
SEC rules may be less precise. When participating in exploration and production activities operated by other
entities, Eni estimates its share of proved reserves on the basis of the above guidelines.

The process for estimating reserves, as described in the internal procedure, involves the following roles
and responsibilities: (i) the business unit managers (geographic units) and Local Reserves Evaluators
(LRE) are in charge with estimating and classifying gross reserves including assessing production
profiles, capital expenditure, operating expenses and costs related to asset retirement obligations; (ii)
the petroleum engineering department and the operations unit at the head office verify the production
profiles of such properties where significant changes have occurred and operating expenses, respectively;
(iii) geographic area managers verify the commercial conditions and the progress of the projects; (iv) the
Planning and Control Department provides the economic evaluation of reserves; and (v) the Reserves
Department, through the Headquarter Reserves Evaluators (HRE), provides independent reviews of

(1) The reports of independent engineers are available on Eni website eni.com section Publications/Integrated Annual Report 2016.
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fairness and correctness of classifications carried out by the above mentioned units and aggregates
worldwide reserves data.

The head of the Reserves Department attended the “Politecnico di Torino” and received a Master of Science
degree in Mining Engineering in 2000. He has more than 20 years of experience in the oil and gas industry.
Staff involved in the reserves evaluation process fulfil the professional qualifications requested by the
role and comply with the required level of independence, objectivity and confidentiality in accordance
with professional ethics. Reserves Evaluators qualifications comply with international standards defined
by the Society of Petroleum Engineers.

RESERVES INDEPENDENT EVALUATION

Eni has its proved reserves audited on a rotational basis by independent oil engineering companies? The
description of qualifications of the persons primarily responsible for the reserves audit is included in the
third-party audit report. In the preparation of their reports, independent evaluators rely, upon information
furnished by Eni without independent verifications with respect to property interests, production, current
costs of operations and development, sales agreements, prices and other factual information and data
that were accepted as represented by the independent evaluators. These data, equally used by Eni in its
internal process, include logs, directional surveys, core and PVT (Pressure Volume Temperature) analysis,
maps, oil/gas/water production/injection data of wells, reservoir studies, technical analysis relevant to
field performance, development plans, future capital and operating costs.

In order to calculate the net present value of Eni’s equity reserves, actual prices applicable to hydrocarbon
sales, price adjustments required by applicable contractual arrangements and other pertinent information
are provided by Eni to third party evaluators. In 20212 Ryder Scott Company, DeGolyer and MacNaughton
and Societé Generale de Surveillance provided an independent evaluation of approximately 27% of Eni’s
total proved reserves at December 31, 20214 confirming, as in previous years, the reasonableness of Eni
internal evaluation.

In the 2019-2021 three-year period, 93%° of Eni total proved reserves were subject to an independent
evaluation. As at December 31, 2021, Belayim in Egypt and Area 1 in Mexico were the main Eni property,
which did not undergo an independent evaluation in the last three years.

MOVEMENTS IN NET PROVED RESERVES

Eni's net proved reserves were determined taking into account Eni's share of proved reserves of equity-
accounted entities. Movements in Eni's 2021 proved reserves were as follows:

Consolidated Equity-accounted
(mmboe)  subsidiaries entities Total

Estimated net proved reserves at December 31,2020 5,984 921 6,905
Extensions, discoveries, revisions of previous estimates

. : . 68 76 144
and improved recovery, excluding price effect
Price effect 48 148 196
Reserve additions, total 116 224 340
Portfolio ©)] 3
Production of the year (526) (88) (614)
Estimated net proved reserves at December 31, 2021 5,571 1,057 6,628
Reserves replacement ratio, all sources (%) 55

(2) From 1991 to 2002, DeGolyer and MacNaughton; from 2003, also Ryder Scott. In 2018 e 2021, the Societé Generale de Surveillance (SGS)
Company also provided an independent certification.

(3) The reports of independent engineers are available on Eni website eni.com section Publications/Annual Report 2021.

(4) Includes Eni's share of proved reserves of equity accounted entities.

(5) The share of reserve subjected to independent evaluation increases to 94% also including the third-party evaluation provided by the
Gaffney Cline company in 2020 on the reserves of the Angola LNG project (Eni's interest 13.6%) required by the shareholders of the consortium
operating company.
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ESTIMATED NET PROVED HYDROCARBONS RESERVES

1] 12 (2}
2 5 2 : 2 5
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Consolidated subsidiaries 2021 2020 2019
Italy 197 918 369 178 348 243 194 752 333
Developed 146 729 283 146 280 199 137 657 258
Undeveloped 51 189 86 32 68 44 57 95 75
Rest of Europe 34 247 81 34 208 73 41 262 89
Developed 34 242 80 31 194 68 37 242 82
Undeveloped 5 1 3 14 5 4 20 7
North Africa 393 2,272 820 383 2,201 798 468 2,738 974
Developed 225 781 373 243 1,014 434 301 1,374 553
Undeveloped 168 1,491 447 140 1,187 364 167 1,364 421
Egypt 210 4,152 992 227 4,692 1,110 264 5,191 1,225
Developed 164 3,656 852 172 4,511 1,022 149 4,777 7033
Undeveloped 46 496 140 55 181 88 115 414 192
Sub-Saharan Africa 589 2,953 1,145 624 3,864 1,352 694 4,103 1,453
Developed 435 1,759 766 469 1,751 799 519 1,858 863
Undeveloped 154 1,194 379 155 2,113 553 175 2,245 590
Kazakhstan 710 1,705 1,032 805 2,003 1,182 746 1,969 1,108
Developed 641 1,705 963 716 2,003 1093 682 1,969 1046
Undeveloped 69 69 89 89 64 62
Rest of Asia 476 1,522 762 579 1,589 879 491 1,349 742
Developed 262 971 445 297 674 424 245 685 372
Undeveloped 214 551 317 282 915 455 246 664 370
Americas 237 274 288 224 175 256 225 240 268
Developed 164 210 203 143 109 162 148 186 182
Undeveloped 73 64 85 81 66 94 77 54 86
Australia and Oceania 1 428 82 1 474 91 1 507 95
Developed 1 266 571 1 315 60 1 322 61
Undeveloped 162 31 159 31 185 34
Total consolidated subsidiaries 2,847 14,471 5,571 3,055 15,554 5,984 3,124 17,111 6,287
Developed 2,072 10,319 4,016 2,218 10,851 4,261 2,219 12,070 4,450
Undeveloped 775 4,152 1,555 837 4,703 1,723 905 5,041 1,837
Equity-accounted entities
Rest of Europe 378 654 502 400 510 496 424 772 567
Developed 175 457 261 176 415 254 219 597 330
Undeveloped 203 197 241 224 95 242 205 175 237
North Africa 9 10 10 12 14 14 12 14 16
Developed 9 70 10 12 14 14 12 14 16
Undeveloped
Sub-Saharan Africa 21 1,285 263 18 364 87 10 287 63
Developed 9 165 39 15 170 47 7 88 23
Undeveloped 12 1,120 224 3 194 40 3 199 40
Americas 6 1,460 282 30 1,559 324 31 1,648 335
Developed 6 1,460 282 30 1,559 324 31 1,648 335
Undeveloped
Total equity-accounted entities 114 3,409 1,057 460 2,447 921 477 2,721 981
Developed 199 2,092 592 233 2,158 639 269 2,347 704
Undeveloped 215 1,317 465 227 289 282 208 374 277
Total including equity-accounted entities 3,261 17,880 6,628 3,515 18,001 6,905 3,601 19,832 7,268
Developed 2,271 12,411 4,608 2,451 13,009 4,900 2,488 14,417 5,154

Undeveloped 990 5,469 2,020 1,064 4,992 2,005 1,113 5,415 2,114
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Net proved reserves as of December 31, 2021 were 6,628 mmboe, of which 5,571 mmboe of consolidated
subsidiaries. Net additions to proved reserves were 340 mmboe and derived from: (i) revisions of previous
estimates were up by 258 mmboe, and mainly derived from the E Structure fields in Libya, the Val d’Agri field
in Italy, the Karachaganak field in Kazakhstan and the Zubair field in Irag. Revisions to previous estimates
include a positive price effect of 196 mmboe, mainly due to an increased Brent reference price (from 41 $/
barrel in 2020 to 69 $/barrel in 2021) resulting in a recovery of volumes reserves which were uneconomical
in the 2020 scenario partially offset by net lower reserves entitlements under PSA contracts; (i) extensions
and discoveries were up by 70 mmboe, mainly due to the final investment decision made for the New Gas
Consortium project as well as the Cuica and the Ndungu projects in the operated Block 15/06 in Angola;
the Tommeliten Alpha Development project in the PL044 license and other minor assets in Norway; and the
BKNEP Zas and Ret project in the Berkine North in Algeria; and (iii) improved recovery of 12 mmboe mainly
related to the Oooguruk project in the United States.

Portfolio transactions include the disposal of the OML 17 block in Nigeria and acquisitions of the Lucius
fleld in the United States and the Conwy field in the United Kingdom.

The organic® and all sources reserves replacement ratio was 55%. The reserves life index was 10.8 years
(10.9 years in 2020).

For further information, please see the additional information on Oil & Gas producing activities required by
the SEC in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

PROVED UNDEVELOPED RESERVES

Proved undeveloped reserves as of December 31, 2021 totaled 2,020 mmboe, of which 990 mmbbl of liquids
mainly concentrated in Africa and Asia and 5,469 bcf of natural gas mainly located in Africa. Proved undeveloped
reserves of consolidated subsidiaries amounted to 775 mmbbl of liquids and 4,152 bcf of natural gas.
Movements in Eni's 2021 proved undeveloped reserves were as follows:

(mmboe)

Proved undeveloped reserves as of December 31,2020 2,005
Additions (232)
Extensions and discoveries 62
Revisions of previous estimates 174
Improved recovery m
Proved undeveloped reserves as of December 31,2021 2,020

In 2021, Eni matured 232 mmboe of proved undeveloped reserves to proved developed reserves due to
progress in development activities, production start-ups and project revisions. The main reclassifications
to proved developed reserves are related to the following fields/projects: Merakes in Indonesia, Mitzon in
Mexico, as well as LNG project in Nigeria.

For further information, please see the additional information on Qil & Gas producing activities required
by the SEC in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In 2021, capital expenditures amounted to approximately €4.8 billion.

Reserves that remain proved undeveloped for five or more years are a result of several factors that affect
the timing of the projects development and execution, such as the complex nature of the development
project in adverse and remote locations, physical limitations of infrastructures or plant capacity and
contractual limitations that establish production levels. The Company estimates that 0.45 bboe of proved
undeveloped reserves have remained undeveloped for five years or more at the balance sheet date

(6) Organic ratio of changes in proved reserves for the year resulting from revisions of previously reported reserves, improved recovery,
extensions and discoveries, to production for the year. All sources ratio includes sales or purchases of minerals in place. A ratio higher than
100% indicates that more proved reserves were added than produced in a year. The Reserves Replacement Ratio is not an indicator of future
production because the ultimate development and production of reserves is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties. These include the
risks associated with the successful completion of large-scale projects, including addressing ongoing regulatory issues and completion of
infrastructure, as well as changes in oil and gas prices, political risks and geological and environmental risks.
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and decreased from 2020. The proved undeveloped reserves that have remained undeveloped for five
years or more at the balance sheet date mainly related to: (i) the Zubair field in Irag (0.10 bboe), where
development of PUDs area making continuing progress by means of drilling additional production wells
that were hooked to the existing treatment facilities, which have been already dimensioned based on
the expected full field production plateau of 700 kboe/d; (ii) certain Libyan gas fields (0.3 bboe) where
development completion and production start-ups are planned according to the delivery obligations set
forth in a long-term gas supply agreement currently in force and (iii) other fields in Italy (0.05 bboe) where
development activities are in progress.

DELIVERY COMMITMENTS

Eni, through consolidated subsidiaries and equity-accounted entities, sells crude oil and natural gas from its
producing operations under a variety of contractual obligations. Some of these contracts, mostly relating to
natural gas, specify the delivery of fixed and determinable quantities.

Eni is contractually committed under existing contracts or agreements to deliver in the next three years mainly
natural gas to third parties for a total of approximately 623 mmbboe from producing assets located mainly in
Algeria, Australia, Egypt, Ghana, Indonesia, Kazakhstan, Libya, Nigeria, Norway and Venezuela.

The sales contracts contain a mix of fixed and variable pricing formulas that are generally indexed to the
market price for crude oil, natural gas or other petroleum products. Management believes it can satisfy these
contracts from quantities available mainly from production of the Company’s proved developed reserves and
supplies from third parties based on existing contracts. Production is expected to account for approximately
93% of delivery commitments.

Eni has met all contractual delivery commitments as of December 31, 2021.

OIL AND GAS PRODUCTION

In 2021, oil and natural gas production averaged 1.682 mmboe/d, down by 2.2% from 2020, net of price
effects, due to higher maintenance activity at fields in Norway, Italy and the United Kingdom, lower activity in
Nigeria and mature fields decline. These decreases were partly offset by continuing production ramp-ups in
Egypt and Indonesia at the flagship projects of Zohr and Merakes, in a context of strong global demand for gas
and LNG and also thanks to the restart of the Damietta liquefaction plant, as well as the progressive easing of
OPEC+ production quotas particularly in the United Arab Emirates and Kazakhstan.

Liquids production amounted to 813 kbbl/d, down by 4% from 2020. The price effects, the reduction in Nigeria
and mature fields decline were partly offset by production growth in Egypt and the progressive easing of
OPEC+ production quotas.

Natural gas production amounted to 4,613 mmcf/d down by 2% compared to 2020. Mature fields decline and
lower production in Nigeria were partly offset by the ramp-ups at Zohr (Egypt) and Merakes (Indonesia) fields,
boosted by strong global demand.

Oiland gas production sold amounted to 567 mmboe. The 47 mmboe difference over production (614 mmboe)
mainly reflected volumes of natural gas consumed in operations (42 mmboe), changes in inventory levels and
other variations. Approximately 63% of liquids production sold (295 mmbbl) was destined to Eni’s Refining &
Marketing business. About 16% of natural gas production sold (1,444 bcf) was destined to Eni's Global Gas &
LNG Portfolio segment.
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ANNUAL OIL AND NATURAL GAS PRODUCTION®®
1] 1] (2}
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Consolidated subsidiaries 2021 2020 2019
Italy 13 92 30 17 116 39 19 137 45
Rest of Europe 7 43 15 58 19 64 20
United Kingdom 7 43 15 8 58 19 8 64 20
North Africa 45 263 95 41 278 93 61 419 138
Algeria 20 60 31 19 56 30 23 41 30
Libya 24 198 62 21 218 61 37 374 106
Tunisia 1 B 2 1 4 2 1 4 2
Egypt 30 538 131 24 440 106 27 551 129
Sub-Saharan Africa 73 179 106 80 249 127 91 227 133
Angola 33 20 37 33 22 37 37 25 42
Congo 16 49 25 18 48 27 22 54 32
Ghana 8 31 13 9 32 15 9 36 15
Nigeria 16 79 31 20 147 48 23 112 44
Kazakhstan 37 85 53 40 103 60 36 100 55
Rest of Asia 29 189 65 32 170 64 32 184 66
China 1 1
Indonesia 117 23 91 17 113 21
Iraq 9 26 14 11 28 17 10 29 15
Pakistan 22 4 28 5 37 7
Timor Leste 1 16 3 1 17 4
Turkmenistan 2 2 3 3 2 3 3 2 3
United Arab Emirates 17 6 18 17 4 18 18 3 19
Americas 19 26 25 21 36 28 20 24 24
Ecuador 2 2
Mexico 4 & 6 4 4 5 1 1 1
United States 15 21 19 17 32 23 17 23 21
Australia and Oceania 31 6 33 6 1 51 10
Australia 31 6 33 6 1 51 10
253 1,446 526 263 1,483 542 295 1,757 620
Equity-accounted entities
Angola 1 31 7 1 36 8 2 35 8
Norway 41 118 63 42 134 68 27 66 40
Tunisia 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 1
Venezuela 1 88 17 1 77 15 1 70 14
44 238 88 45 248 92 31 173 63
Total 297 1,684 614 308 1,731 634 326 1,930 683

(a) Includes Eni's share of equity-accounted equities.
(b) Includes volumes of hydrocarbons consumed in operations (42, 45 and 45 mmboe in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively).
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DAILY OIL AND NATURAL GAS PRODUCTION®®

1] 1] (2}
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Consolidated subsidiaries 2021 2020 2019
Italy 36 251.0 83 47 316.6 107 53 376.4 123
Rest of Europe 19 119.3 41 23 159.1 52 23 174.6 55
United Kingdom 19 119.3 41 23 1591 52 23 174.6 55
North Africa 124 720.1 259 112 758.4 255 166 1,149.2 379
Algeria 54 165.1 85 53 152.5 81 62 111.8 83
Libya 67 541.7 168 56 594.4 168 101 1,025.8 291
Tunisia 8 133 6 3 11.5 6 3 11.6 5
Egypt 82 1,474.8 360 64 1,203.0 291 75 1,509.0 354
Sub-Saharan Africa 198 489.5 291 218 679.0 345 249 621.2 363
Angola 91 539 101 89 58.2 100 102 67.3 113
Congo 44 135.5 70 49 1311 73 59 147.7 87
Ghana 20 83.8 36 24 87.6 41 24 979 42
Nigeria 43 216.3 84 56 4021 131 64 308.3 121
Kazakhstan 102 233.0 146 110 282.2 163 100 272.4 150
Rest of Asia 80 516.5 177 88 465.0 176 86 502.7 179
China 1 1 1 1 1 1
Indonesia 1 321.2 61 1 248.5 48 2 3081 59
Iraq 24 70.7 37 31 76.3 45 27 78.7 41
Pakistan 59.8 11 76.8 15 101.2 19
Timor Leste 1 42.5 9 2 46.8 10
Turkmenistan 6 6.3 7 7 6.2 9 7 6.0 8
United Arab Emirates 47 16.0 51 46 10.4 48 49 87 51
Americas 53 73.0 67 57 97.1 75 55 66.8 68
Ecuador 6 6
Mexico 11 14.8 14 12 10.9 14 4 2.8
United States 42 58.2 53 45 86.2 61 45 64.0 58
Australia and Oceania 85.0 16 91.0 17 2 139.6 28
Australia 85.0 16 91.0 17 2 139.6 28
694 3,962.2 1,440 719 4,051.4 1,481 809 4,811.9 1,699
Equity-accounted entities
Angola 3 85.8 19 4 98.8 23 4 97.3 23
Norway m 322.7 172 116 365.0 185 74 182.4 108
Tunisia 3 3.2 8 2 29 2 3 3.4 3
Venezuela 2 239.2 48 2 211.0 42 3 192.0 38
119 650.9 242 124 677.7 252 84 475.1 172
Total 813 4,613.1 1,682 843 4,729.1 1,733 893 5,287.0 1,871

(a) Includes Eni's share of equity-accounted equities.
(b) Includes volumes of hydrocarbons consumed in operations (116, 124 and 124 kboe/d in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively).
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PRODUCTIVE WELLS

In 2021, oil and gas productive wells were 8,100 (2,788.6 of which represented Eni's share). In particular, oil
productive wells were 6,649 (2,157.8 of which represented Eni's share); natural gas productive wells amounted
to 1,451 (630.8 of which represented Eni's share). The following table shows the number of productive wells in
the year indicated by the Group and its equity-accounted entities in accordance with the requirements of FASB
Extractive Activities Oil and Gas (Topic 932).

PRODUCTIVE OIL AND GAS WELLS®

2021
Oil wells Natural gas wells

(units) Gross Net Gross Net

Italy 201.0 155.2 331.0 293.4
Rest of Europe 655.0 115.2 184.0 48.4
North Africa 620.0 262.2 132.0 71.2
Egypt 1,263.0 539.8 134.0 435
Sub-Saharan Africa 2,401.0 506.5 199.0 26.3
Kazakhstan 208.0 56.9 1.0 0.3
Rest of Asia 1043.0 388.6 183.0 63.7
Americas 258.0 133.4 285.0 82.0
Australia and Oceania 2.0 2.0
6,649.0 2,157.8 1,451.0 630.8

(a) Includes 1,198 gross (315.1 net) multiple completion wells (more than one producing into the same well bore). Productive wells are producing wells and wells
capable of production. One or more completions in the same bore hole are counted as one well.

DRILLING ACTIVITIES
EXPLORATION

In 2021, a total of 31 new exploratory wells were drilled (17.4 of which represented Eni's share), as compared to 28
exploratory wells drilled in 2020 (13.8 of which represent Eni's share) and 31 exploratory wells drilled in 2019 (16.3
of which represented Eni's share).

The following tables show the number of net productive, dry and in progress exploratory wells in the years indicated
by the Group and its equity-accounted entities in accordance with the requirements of FASB Extractive Activities -
Oil and Gas (Topic 932). The overall commercial success rate was 54% (49% net to Eni) as compared to 28% (30%
net to Eni) in 2020 and 36% (47% net to Eni) in 2019.

EXPLORATORY WELL ACTIVITY

Net wells completed® Wells in progress at Dec. 31®
2021 2020 2019 2021
(units) productive dry®  productive dry@  productive dry© gross net
Italy 0.5
Rest of Europe 0.1 0.3 0.8 0.4 0.3 1.4 23.0 5.7
North Africa 0.5 1.5 0.5 11.0 8.5
Egypt 5.0 5.0 0.7 1.5 4.5 1.5 14.0 10.5
Sub-Saharan Africa 11 0.4 0.1 09 0.5 09 33.0 19.0
Kazakhstan 1.1
Rest of Asia 0.7 1.0 0.8 09 17 15.0 6.5
Americas 0.7 0.6 3.0 1.9
Australia and Oceania 0.5 1.0 0.3
7.0 7.4 2.9 6.9 5.8 6.5 100.0 52.4

(a) Includes number of wells in Eni’s share.

(b) Includes temporary suspended wells pending further evaluation.

c) Adry well is an exploratory, development, or extension well that proves to be incapable of producing either oil or gas sufficient quantities to justify completion
as an oil or gas well.
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DEVELOPMENT

In 2021, a total of 154 development wells were drilled (47.7 of which represented Eni's share) as compared
to 182 development wells drilled in 2020 (57.4 of which represented Eni's share) and 241 development wells
drilled in 2019 (85.4 of which represented Eni's share). The drilling of 80 development wells (25.3 of which
represented Eni’s share) is currently underway.

The following tables show the number of net productive, dry and in progress development wells in the
years indicated by the Group and its equity-accounted entities in accordance with the requirements of FASB
Extractive Activities - Oil and Gas (Topic 932).

DEVELOPMENT WELL ACTIVITY

Net wells completed® Wells in progress at Dec. 31®
2021 2020 2019 2021

(units)  productive dry® productive dry® productive dry® gross net

Italy 3.0
Rest of Europe 4.8 2.8 3.3 28.0 5.5
North Africa 2.5 4.3 5.0 1.1 1.0 0.5
Egypt 17.0 0.8 23.2 33.5 9.0 3.8
Sub-Saharan Africa 3.8 1.2 7.0 6.0 1.2
Kazakhstan 0.3 09 1.0 0.3
Rest of Asia 14.9 23.2 0.4 27.3 2.2 31.0 10.0
Americas 39 2.0 2.1 4.0 4.0

Australia and Oceania

46.9 0.8 57.0 0.4 82.1 3.3 80.0 25.3

(a) Includes number of wells in Eni’s share.
(b) A dry well is an exploratory, development, or extension well that proves to be incapable of producing either oil or gas sufficient quantities to justify
completion as an oil or gas well.

ACREAGE

In 2021, Eni performed its operations in forty-two Countries located in five continents. As of December 31, 2021,
Eni's mineral right portfolio consisted of 771 exclusive or shared rights of exploration and development activities
for a total acreage of 335,501 square kilometers net to Eni (336,449 square kilometers net to Eni as of December
31, 2020), of which 577 square kilometers related to the CCUS activities in the United Kingdom. Developed
acreage was 27,697 square kilometers and undeveloped acreage was 307,804 square kilometers net to Eni.

In 2021, main changes derived from: (i) new leases were purchased or awarded in Vietnam, Angola, Norway, Ivory
Coast, the United Kingdom, the United Arab Emirates and Egypt for a total increase in acreage of approximately
17,100 square kilometers; (ii) relinquishment for the year related mainly to Myanmar, Ivory Coast, Pakistan, Egypt,
Norway, the United States, Italy and the United Kingdom covering an acreage of approximately 11,500 square
kilometers; (iii) interest increases were reported mainly in Angola, Timor Leste, Italy and the United States for
a total acreage of approximately 700 square kilometers; and (iv) partial relinquishment was reported mainly in
Morocco, Kenya, Italy, the United Arab Emirates and Mozambique for approximately 7,250 square kilometers.
The gross undeveloped acreages that will expire in the next three years are related to exploration leases,
blocks, concessions in: (i) Rest of Europe, in particular in Cyprus; (ii) Rest of Asia, in particular in Oman,
Vietnam, Russia, the United Arab Emirates and Myanmar; (i) North Africa, in particular in Morocco and Libya;
(iv) Sub-Saharan Africa, in particular in Kenya, Mozambique and South Africa; and (v) Americas, in particular
in Mexico. In most cases extension or renewal options are contractually defined and may or may not be
exercised depending on the results of the studies and the planned activities. Management believes that a
significant amount of acreage will be maintained following extension or renewal.
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OIL AND NATURAL GAS INTERESTS
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021
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EUROPE 39,841 308 14,224 65,679 79,903 8,246 31,612 39,858
Italy 13,632 123 8,087 6,810 14,897 6,786 5,332 12,118
Rest of Europe 26,209 185 6,137 58,869 65,006 1,460 26,280 27,740
Albania 587 1 587 587 587 587
Cyprus 13,988 7 25,474 25,474 13,988 13,988
Greenland 1,909 2 4,890 4,890 1,909 1,909
Montenegro 614 1 1,228 1,228 614 614
Norway 6,253 138 5,218 22,709 27927 836 6,436 7,272
United Kingdom 975 34 919 1,280 2,199 624 863 1,487
Other Countries 1,883 2 2,701 2,701 1,883 1,883
AFRICA 129,167 277 48,879 233,042 281,921 12,896 115,290 128,186
North Africa 31,033 75 12,068 48,201 60,269 5,292 22,483 27,775
Algeria 4,732 51 6,809 3,982 10,791 2,851 1914 4,765
Libya 13,294 1 1,963 24,673 26,636 958 12,336 13,294
Morocco 10,755 1 16,730 16,730 7,529 7,529
Tunisia 2,252 12 3,296 2,816 6,112 1,483 704 2,187
Egypt 7,384 56 4,983 13,729 18,712 1,782 4,994 6,776
Sub-Saharan Africa 90,750 146 31,828 171,112 202,940 5,822 87,813 93,635
Angola 5,639 66 10,680 22,749 33,429 2,010 8,800 10,810
Congo 1,306 21 1,164 1,320 2,484 678 628 1,306
Gabon 2,931 3 2,931 2,931 2931 2,931
Ghana 495 3 226 930 1,156 100 395 495
Ivory Coast 3,372 5 3,840 3,840 3,385 3,385
Kenya 43948 6 50,677 50,677 41,892 41,892
Mozambique 4,349 10 24,782 24,782 4171 4171
Nigeria 6,439 31 19,758 8,206 27964 3,034 3,340 6,374
South Africa 22,271 1 55,677 55,677 22,271 22,271
ASIA 154,845 70 15,943 267,694 283,637 4,964 150,518 155,482
Kazakhstan 1,947 7 2,391 3,853 6,244 442 1,505 1,947
Rest of Asia 152,898 63 13,552 263,841 277,393 4,522 149,013 153,535
Bahrain 2,858 1 2,858 2,858 2,858 2,858
China I 3 62 62 10 10
Indonesia 14,184 13 4,778 16,499 21,277 2,441 11,743 14,184
Iraq 446 1 1,074 1,074 446 446
Lebanon 1,461 2 3,653 3,653 1,461 1,461
Myanmar 10,015 2 7192 7192 4113 4113
Oman 58,955 3 102,016 102,016 58,955 58,955
Pakistan 2,313 13 4,009 4,009 1,072 1,072
Russia 17975 2 53,930 53,930 17975 17975
Timor Leste 1,620 4 412 2,200 2,612 122 1,806 1,928
Turkmenistan 180 1 200 200 180 180
United Arab Emirates 18,680 12 3,017 29,603 32,620 251 18,520 18,771
Vietnam 20,956 5 31,290 31,290 28,338 28,338
Other Countries 3,244 1 14,600 14,600 3,244 3,244
AMERICAS 9,719 112 2,217 14,813 17,030 1,003 8,267 9,270
Mexico 3,106 10 14 5,455 5,469 14 3,092 3,106
United States 1,198 90 942 520 1,462 492 259 751
Venezuela 1,066 6 1,261 1,543 2,804 497 569 1,066
Other Countries 4,349 6 7,295 7,295 4,347 4,347
AUSTRALIA AND OCEANIA 2,877 4 728 2,608 3,336 588 2,117 2,705
Australia 2,877 4 728 2,608 3,336 588 2,117 2,705
Total 336,449 771 81,991 583,836 665,827 27,697 307,804 335,501

Ea; Square kilometers.
b

Developed acreage refers to those leases in which at least a portion of the area is in production or encompasses proved developed reserves.
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MAIN PRODUCING ASSETS (GROUP SHARE IN %) AND THE YEAR IN WHICH ENI STARTED OPERATIONS

ITALY (1926) Operated  adriatic and Barbara (100%), Annamaria (100%), Clara NW (51%), Hera Lacinia (100%) and
lonian Sea Bonaccia (100%)

Basilicata Region ~ Val d'’Agri (61%)

Sicily Gela (100%), Tresauro (45%), Giaurone (100%), Fiumetto (100%), Prezioso
(100%) and Bronte (100%)
REST Norway® (1965) Operated Goliat (45.40%), Marulk (13.97%), Balder & Ringhorne (62.87%) and Ringhorne East (48.88%)
OF EUROPE Non-operated Asgard (15.41% ), Mikkel (33.79%), Great Ekofisk Area (8.65%), Snorre (12.96%), Ormen Lange (4.43%),

Statfjord Unit (14.92%), Statfjord Satellites East (10.16%), Statfjord Satellites North (17.46%), Statfjord
Satellites Sygna (14.67%), Grane (19.78%)

United (1964) Operated Liverpool Bay (100%) and Hewett Area (89.3%)
Kingdom Non-operated Elgin/Franklin (21.87%), Glenelg (8%), J Block (33%), Jasmine (33%) and Jade (7%)
NORTH Algeria® (1981) Operated Sif Fatima Il (49%), Zemlet El Arbi (49%), Ourhoud Il (49%), Blocks 403a/d (from 65% to 100%),
AFRICA Block ROM North (35%), Blocks 401a/402a (55%), Block 403 (50%) and Block 405b (75%)
Non-operated Block 404 (12.25%) and Block 208 (12.25%)
Libya® (1959) Non-operated ppghore contract Area A (former concession 82 - 50%), Area B (former concession 100/ Bu-Attifel
areas and Block NC 125 - 50%), Area E (El-Feel - 33.3%) and Area D (Block NC 169 - 50%)
Offshore contract Area C (Bouri - 50%) and Area D (Blocco NC 41 - 50%)
areas
Tunisia (1961) Operated Maamoura (49%), Baraka (49%), Adam (25%), Oued Zar (50%), Djebel Grouz (50%), MLD (50%) and
El Borma (50%)
EGYPT®© (1954) Operated Shorouk (Zohr - 50%), Nile Delta (Abu Madi West/Nidoco - 75%), Sinai (Belayim Land, Belayim Ma-
rine and Abu Rudeis - 100%), Meleiha (76%), North Port Said (Port Fouad - 100%), Temsah (Tuna,
Temsah and Denise - 50%), Southwest Meleiha (100%), Baltim (50%), Ras Qattara (El Faras and
Zarif - 75%), West Abu Gharadig (Raml - 45%) and West Razzak (100%)
Non-operated Ras el Barr (Ha'py and Seth - 50%) and South Ghara (25%)
SUB-SAHARAN Angola (1980) Operated Block 15/06 (36.84%)
AFRICA Non-operated Block 0 (9.8%), Development Areas in the Block 3 and 3/05-A (12%), Development Areas in the Block
14 (20%), Lianzi Development Area in the Block 14 K/A IMI (10%) and Development Areas in the
Block 15 (18%)
Congo (1968) Operated Néné-Banga Marine and Litchendjili (Block Marine XII, 65%), Zatchi (55.25%), Loango (42.5%), Ikalou

(85%), Djambala (50%), Foukanda (58%), Mwafi (58%), Kitina (52%), Awa Paloukou (90%), M'Boundi
(83%) and Kouakouala (75%)

Non-operated Yanga Sendji (29.75%) and Likouala (35%)
Ghana (2009) Operated Offshore Cape Three Points (44.44%)

Nigeria (1962) Operated OMLs 60, 61, 62 and 63 (20%) and OML 125 (100%)
Non-operated® OML 118 (12.5%)
KAZAKHSTAN® (1992) Operated® Karachaganak (29.25%)
Non-operated Kashagan (16.81%)
REST OF ASIA United Arab  (2018) Non-operated  Lower Zakum (5%), Umm Shaif and Nasr (10%) and Area B - Sharjah (50%)
Emirates
Indonesia (2001) Operated Jangkrik (55%) and Merakes (65%)
Iraq (2009) Non-operated® Zubair (41.56%)
Pakistan (2000) Operated Bhit/Bhadra (40%) and Kadanwari (18.42%)

Non-operated  Latif (33.3%), Zamzama (17.75%) and Sawan (23.7%)
Turkmenistan (2008) Operated Burun (90%)

AMERICAS Mexico (2019) Operated Area 1 (100%)
United States (1968) Operated Gulf of Mexico Allegheny (100%), Appaloosa (100%), Pegasus (85%), Longhorn (75%),
Devils Towers (75%) and Triton (75%)
Alaska Nikaitchug (100%) and Oooguruk (100%)

Non-operated ~ Golfo del Messico Europa (32%), Medusa (25%), Lucius (11.1%), K2 (13.4%), Frontrunner (37.5%)
and Heidelberg (12.5%)

Texas Alliance area (27.5%)

Venezuela (1998) Non-operated Perla (50%), Corocoro (26%) and Junin 5 (40%)

(a) Assets held by the Var energy equity-accounted entities (Eni's interest 69.85%). Following the closing of the process of listing the investee on February 16, 2022, Eni's interest in the
company is 64.255%.

(b) In certain extractive initiatives, Eni and the host Country agree to assign the operatorship of a given initiative to an incorporated joint venture, a so-called operating company. The
operating company in its capacity as the operator is responsible of managing extractive operations. Those operating companies are not controlled by Eni.

(c) Eni's working interests (and not participating interests) are reported. This includes Eni’s share of costs incurred on behalf of the first party accordingly to the terms of PSAs inforce in
the Country.

(d) As partners of SPDC JV, Eni holds a 5% interest in 16 onshore blocks and in 1 conventional offshore block and with a 12.86% in 2 conventional offshore blocks.

(e) Eni and Shell are co-operators.

(f) Eni is leading a consortium of partners including international companies and the national oil company Missan Oil within a Technical Service Contract as contractor.
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MAIN EXPLORATION AND DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

Eni's exploration and production activities are conducted in many Countries and are therefore subject to a
broad range of legislation and regulations. These cover virtually all aspects of exploration and production
activities, including matters such as license acquisition, production rates, royalties, pricing, environmental
protection, export, taxes and foreign exchange. The terms and condition of the leases, licenses and contracts
under which these Qil & Gas interests are held vary from Country to Country. These leases, licenses and
contracts are generally granted by or entered into with a government entity or state company and are
sometimes entered into with private property owners. These contractual arrangements usually take the form
of concession agreements or production sharing agreements.

Concessions contracts. Eni operates under concession contracts mainly in Western Countries. Concessions
contracts regulate relationships between States and oil companies with regards to hydrocarbon exploration
and production activity. Contractual clauses governing mineral concessions, licenses and exploration permits
regulate the access of Eni to hydrocarbon reserves. The company holding the mining concession has an
exclusive right on exploration, development and production activities, sustaining all the operational risks and
costs related to the exploration and development activities, and it is entitled to the productions realized. As a
compensation for mineral concessions, pays royalties on production (which may be in cash or in-kind) and
taxes on oil revenues to the state in accordance with local tax legislation. Both exploration and production
licenses are granted generally for a specified period of time (except for production licenses in the United
States which remain in effect until production ceases): the term of Eni's licenses and the extent to which these
licenses may be renewed vary by area. Proved reserves to which Eni is entitled are determined by applying
Eni's share of production to total proved reserves of the contractual area, in respect of the duration of the
relevant mineral right.

Production Sharing Agreement (PSA). Eni operates under PSA in several of the foreign jurisdictions mainly in
African, Middle Eastern, Far Eastern Countries. The mineral right is awarded to the national oil company jointly
with the foreign oil company that has an exclusive right to perform exploration, development and production
activities and can enter into agreements with other local or international entities. In this type of contract,
the national oil company assigns to the international contractor the task of performing exploration and
production with the contractor’s equipment (technologies) and financial resources. Exploration risks are borne
by the contractor and production is divided into two portions: “Cost Qil” is used to recover costs borne by the
contractor and “Profit Oil" is divided between the contractor and the national company according to variable
schemes and represents the profit deriving from exploration and production. Further terms and conditions
of these contracts may vary from Country to Country. Pursuant to these contracts, Eni is entitled to a portion
of a field's reserves, the sale of which is intended to cover expenditures incurred by the Company to develop
and operate the field. The Company’s share of production volumes and reserves representing the Profit QOil
includes the share of hydrocarbons which corresponds to the taxes to be paid, according to the contractual
agreement, by the national government on behalf of the Company. As a consequence, the Company has to
recognize at the same time an increase in the taxable profit, through the increase of the revenues, and a tax
expense. Proved reserves to which Eni is entitled under PSAs are calculated so that the sale of production
entitlements should cover expenses incurred by the Group to develop a field (Cost Qil) and recognize the Profit
Qil set contractually (Profit Oil). A similar scheme applies to some service contracts.

ITALY

Within Eni's long-term strategy to minimize carbon footprint, a program was launched to build a hub for the
capture and storage of CO, (Carbon Capture and Storage - CCS) in depleted fields off the coast of Ravenna
which will be designed to store 500 million tonnes of CO,. The development program includes a pilot project
with expected start-up in 2023, following all necessary authorizations. The development on anindustrial scale
is expected in the next phase. The planned activities will benefit on the expected synergies on development
cost leveraging on the offshore infrastructure of depleted fields and in addition to be significant impacted on
the technology and competence areas.

In the gas assets of the Adriatic Sea, development activities concerned: (i) maintenance and production
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optimization at offshore gas fields Annalisa (Eni’s interest 100%) and Calipso (Eni's interest 51%); and
(i) Decommissioning plan to plug-in depleted wells and to remove idle platforms progressed in the year
in compliance with Italian Ministerial Decree 15 February 2019 “Linee guida nazionali per la dismissione
mineraria delle piattaforme per la coltivazione in mare e delle infrastrutture connesse”. A total of six
offshore platforms to be removed are currently under the ministerial authorization process. In the circular
economy initiatives, a program in collaboration with national research institutions was launched to
redevelop asset in the decommissioning phase. Activities started up to convert an offshore platform into
a marine science park.

In 2021 the IX Collaboration Agreement was signed with the Municipality of Ravenna. The agreement
includes: (i) environmental projects by means of studies, monitoring program and environmental protection
activities at the coastline areas; (i) energy efficiency measures; (iii) professional training initiatives, programs
to support local market and activities; and (iv) social projects and environmental education and sustainable
development projects in collaboration with several local stakeholders.

During 2021 the Val d’Agri production plant was shut down, being executed mandatory maintenance
activities to be performed every ten years, with the support of local stakeholders and in compliance with
relevant regulations and health, safety, and environmental protection issues. The activities were related
to inspections and maintenance as well as to execute intervention of improvement and upgrading of the
production facilities. The Energy Valley project activities progressed and concerned certain initiatives with
the support of local stakeholders, in the area nearby at the Val d'Agri Qil Center, relating to environmental
sustainability, innovation, rehabilitation and enhancement of the area, In particular: (i) in the agricultural
rehabilitation programs with the “Agricultural Center for Experimentation and Training” project launched
sustainable agricultural initiatives and the construction of agritech infrastructures; and (i) start-up of
biomonitoring programs with innovative techniques.

Within the strategic partnership with stakeholder, Eni, Shell and the Basilicata Region, have signed Preliminary
Agreement to the Memorandum of Understanding of the Val d’Agri concession. The preliminary agreement,
currently under negotiation, defines the main terms of a clearing programs linked to the concession work
schedule in support of regional development, also by means of the action plan for the non-oil activities based
on the sustainability principles.

In Sicily, following the Memorandum of Understanding for the Gela area, signed with the Ministry of
Economic Development in November 2014, the construction activities of the gas treatment plant started up
at the Argo and Cassiopeia project development (Eni’s interest 60%). The project will be developed in about
3 years with an investment of over €700 million. Natural gas production start-up is expected in the first half
of 2024. The project, through a significant reduction of the environmental impact, expects to achieve the
carbon neutrality target.

Within the local support communities’ initiatives, the final framework agreement was ratified with Fondazione
Banco Alimentare Onlus, Banco Alimentare della Sicilia Onlus and the Municipality of di Gela to create a food
storage and distribution center for disadvantaged communities.

REST OF EUROPE

Norway Eni and the private equity fund HitecVision, shareholders of Var Energi, have finalized the process of
listing the investee at the local stock exchange placing about 11.2% interest.

In September 2021, a Cooperation Agreement was signed with others Qil & Gas operators in the area to
asses the feasibility of the Barents Blu-Ammonia Project. The project provides for the monetization of gas
production at the Goliath field by means of the blue ammonia production and commercialization. The CO,
captured in the process will be transported and stored in a depleted offshore field.

Exploration activities yielded positive results with the offshore oil discovery of: (i) Isflak in the PL 532 license
(Eni's interest, 21%) in Barents Sea. The discovery will be linked to the Johan Castberg production hub (Eni’s
interest, 20.96%) under development; (i) Blasto in the PL 090/090I license (Eni's interest, 17%), located in the
northern North Sea, near the facility production of the Fram project (Eni’s interest, 17.46%); (i) Garantiana
West in the PL554 license (Eni's interest 21%) in the North Sea. The activities provide the joint development
with the Garantiana field by means of the linkage to nearby facilities of the Snorre field (Eni’s interest 12.99%);
(iv) King and Prince in the PLO27 license (Eni’s interest 62.86%) near to the Balder field (Eni's interest 62.87%);
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(v) Tyrihans North lle in the PLO73 license (Eni's interest 8.4%) in the North Sea; and (vi) the Rodhette oil and
gas discovery in the PL901 license (Eni’s interest 34.9%) in the Barents Sea, located in the north of the Goliat
fleld (Eni's interest 45.4%).

Recent discoveries confirm the successfully Infrastucture Led Exploration (“ILX") strategy focused on
additional reserve with high value and shortly time-to-market.

The mineral interest portfolio increases were as follows: (i) in 20217 eight exploration licenses were acquired
as operator and five licenses in partnership, mainly located in the North Sea and the Barents Sea; and (ii) in
January 2022, 5 exploration licenses were acquired as operator and five licenses in partnership. The licenses
are distributed over the three main sections of the Norwegian continental shelf.

The new acquired licenses are located in both near-fields already in production or development areas with
high exploration mineral potential.

Development activities mainly concerned: (i) the Johan Castberg sanctioned project, with start-up expected
in 2024; (i) the Balder X sanctioned project (Eni operator with a 62.87% interest) in the PL 001 license, located
in the North Sea. The Balder project scheme provides for drilling additional productive wells, to be linked to
an upgraded FPSO unit that will be relocated in the area. Production start-up is expected in 2023; (iii) the
Breidablikk sanctioned project with start-up in 2024. The project scheme provides for drilling production wells
to be linked to existing treatment facilities in the area. Leveraging on high energy and operational efficiency
technologies, the project development will minimize direct GHG emissions; and (iv) the final investment
decision (FID) was sanctioned for the Tommeliten Alpha Development gas and condensates project in the
PL044 licenses (Eni's interest 6.38%), in the Norwegian section of the North Sea.

United Kingdom In January 2021, Eni was awarded a 100% interest and operatorship in the exploration
license P2511 in the North Sea and later a 50% farm-out agreement was finalized.

In July 2021, Eni finalized the acquisition of 100% interest in the Conwy production field located in the
Liverpool Bay area, near existing production facilities. This acquisition currently increases the production in
the Country by leveraging on the operational synergies while in the next years during the abandonment phase
this asset could be included in possible transitions to CO, storage projects.

Exploration activity yielded positive results with the Talbot Appraisal (Eni's interest 33%) and Jade South (Eni's
interest 7%) wells. The development activities will leverage on the existing production facilities in the area.
Within the HyNet North West integrated project where Eni is engaged with a consortium of local industries
for the capture, transportation and storage of CO, emitted by them and for the realization of a low carbon
hydrogen production plant in the future: (i) in March 2021, the project received funding of £33 million by the
UK Research and Innovation (UKRI), Country’s authority for research and innovation through the Industrial
Decarbonisation Challenge (IDC) fund, including £21 million to finance 50% of engineering studies for the
transport and storage phase; (i) in May 2021, Eni signed a framework agreement with the Progressive
Energy Limited to accelerate the project. Based on the agreement, Eni will develop and operate both the
onshore and offshore transportation and storage of CO, in its Liverpool Bay assets, while Progressive
Energy will lead and coordinate the CO, capture and hydrogen production on behalf of the Hynet North
West consortium, thereby linking the CO, emissions to Eni’s transportation and storage infrastructure; (iii)
in October 2021, the project has been selected by the UK authorities between the two priority CCS projects
in the country and granted access to priority public funding; (iv) signed 19 Memorandum of Understanding
with local industries (“Emitters”) to ensure the CO, storage capacity of the project.

The HyNet North West project start-up is expected at the end of 2025 with an initial CO, storage capacity of
4.5 mmtonnes/year, at a later stage from 2030 will be increased to reach 10 mmtonnes/year.

The HyNet North West project will support to achieve the decarbonisation goals define by the UK Government
at 2030; as well as also will contribute to the 80% production of the 5 GW low carbon hydrogen target at
2030, announced by the Country, for further decarbonization of transport, industry and household utilities
in the area.

In addition, in November 2021, Eni submitted to the UK authority of Qil & Gas (OGA) in the Country a request
to award a new license for possible realization of a CO, storage project in Eni's exhausted offshore fields
in the Hewett license, where production ended in 2020, to future develop the Bacton area as an hydrogen
production hub.

In 2021 Eni announced exiting the Net Zero Teesside (Eni's interest 20%) and the North Endurance Partnership
(Eni'sinterest 16.7%) projects where development activities are ongoing with other oil and gas partners in the
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area, following Eni's rationalization strategy of CCS projects in the United Kingdom based on focusing on its
operated upstream assets.

Other development activities mainly concerned: (i) production optimization, maintenance and asset
integrity programs at the Liverpool Bay operated field (Eni’s interest 100%); (i) drilling of infilling wells and
maintenance activity at the Elgin/Franklin (Eni's interest 21.87%) and J-Area (Eni's interest 33%) fields; and
(i) decommissioning activity of the Hewett Area project.

NORTH AFRICA

Algeria In March 2022 exploration activity yielded positive results with the HDLE oil and associated gas
discovery in the Zemlet el Arbi concession (Eni's interest 49%), in the Berkine North area.

During 2021 Eni and Sonatrach signed several agreements in the exploration and production, research and
development as well as decarbonization initiatives. In particular: (i) upgrading exploration and development
activities in the Berkine area, also planning for the construction of an oil and gas development hub in synergy
with the existing MLE-CAFC facilities. In addition, in December 2021, a new PSA contract was signed for the
southern part of the Berkine area (Eni's interest 75%), near operated production assets; (ii) signed a Memorandum
of Understanding to jointly develop initiatives in new technologies, renewable energies, hydrogen, CCUS project,
biorefining, and other fields in line with Eni's commitment to achieve carbon neutrality in 2050.

Development activities mainly concerned: (i) the Berkine North area (Eni's interest 49%) with the drilling and
hook-up of an additional gas production well and three additional oil production wells as well as workover
activities; (i) production optimization at the Zea field in the Block 403 a/d (Eni's interest from 65% to 100%)
and the BRN/BRW field in the Block 403 (Eni operator with a 50% interest) as well as the Block 405b (Eni
operator with a 75% interest) and the Block 404 (Eni's interest 12.25%); and (iii) maintenance activity at the
Block 208 (Eni's interest 12.5%).

EGYPT

In January 2022, Eni was awarded five exploration licenses, of which four as operator in the Egyptian offshore and
onshore, following the successful participation in the Egypt International Bid Round for Petroleum Exploration
and Exploitation 2021. The licenses are in mining basins of great interest to Eni: offshore East Mediterranean, the
Western Desert and the Gulf of Suez, for a total acreage of about 8,410 square kilometers.

In June 2021, Eni signed with the Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation (EGPC) and Lukoil a unitization
agreement and extension of exploitation rights until 2036 of the Meleiha and the Meleiha Deep contractual areas.
The agreement includes an option of additional extension term to 2041,

The agreement will allow to enhance the significant resource in the area by means of improved contractual terms
and adding new exploratory mineral potential. In addition, the construction of a new gas treatment plant, which will
be linked to the existing production facilities, will ensure a further possible development of the reserves in the area.
In July 2021 an agreement was signed with the State energy, electricity and natural gas companies to assess
the technical and commercial feasibility of projects for the blue and green hydrogen production also through the
storage of CO, in depleted natural gas fields.

Exploration activities yielded positive results with near-field discoveries in: (i) the Sinai production concession
(Eni operator with a 100% interest) with the BLSE 1 oil exploration well. The exploration well was started up by
means of the linkage to the existing facilities; (i) the Western Desert production concessions through eight oil
and natural gas discovery wells and already in production.

The new discoveries confirm the positive track-record of Eni's exploration in the Country leveraging on the
continuous technology progress in exploration activities that allows to re-evaluate the residual mineral potential
in mature production areas.

During 2021 development activities concerned: (i) the completion of drilling development activities and
production start-up in the Sinai and Western Desert production concessions as well as production optimization
programs by means of work-over activities; (ii) asset integrity program in the Sinai concession with certain
activities to improve plant safety and to retain environmental standards; (iii) study activities start-up to develop a
photovoltaic plant of 15 MW in the area of the Abu Rudeis operated field (Eni’s interest 100%) in order to reduce
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electricity expenses by the national grid and related CO, emissions. Start-up is expected by the end of 2022; (iv)
a development drilling plan of the Baltim operated concession (Eni's interest 50%); and (iv) the pre-FID activities
of the Meleiha Phase 2 project.

Development activities of the Zohr project concerned: (i) EPCI activities for the construction of new submarine
facilities and two additional treatment unit with a capacity of 6,000 barrels/d to manage and recovery production
water. The construction of further three units with a capacity of 9,000 barrels/d is being studied; and (i) development
drilling activities with the completion of two additional production wells with start-up expected in 2022.

As of December 31, 2021, the aggregate development costs incurred by Eni for developing the Zohr project and
capitalized in the financial statements amounted to $5.6 billion (€5 billion at the EUR/USD exchange rate of
December 31, 2021). Development expenditure incurred in the year were €93 million. As of December 31, 2021,
Eni's proved reserves booked at the Zohr field amounted to 706 mmboe.

Within the social responsibility initiatives, the programs defined by the Memorandum of Understanding
signed in 2017 are currently to be implemented. The agreement, which supports the development activities
of the Zohr project, defines two intervention projects to be implemented by the 2024. The first, already
completed, included the renovation of the El Garabaa hospital, located nearby the onshore Zohr production
facilities, and the supply of necessary medical equipment. The second project, for an overall expense of $20
million, includes socio-economic, health and training programs to support local communities. In particular:
(i) launched the phase 2 of the program upon completion of the health care center in Port Said in 2021.
Planned activities include hospital equipment, healthcare staff training and health awareness campaigns;
(ii) with the completion of youth center in 2020, Eni’s training programs has been implemented. In particular,
the Zohr Applied Technology School has been launched in partnership with the El Sewedy Electric
Foundation and in cooperation with the local authority. Civil infrastructure renovation activities started and
then completed during the first months of 2022; and (jii) at the end of 2021, a technical education program
was identified. Training activities is expected to be launched in 2022.

SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA

AngolaInMarch 2022, Eniand BP signed an agreement to combine the respective upstream portfolios in the country,
aiming at establishing a new jointly controlled venture, Azule Energy. The agreement follows the memorandum of
understanding between the companies agreed in May 2021. In particular, the new venture will ensure significant
operational synergies, targeting an ambitious investment plan and increasing the growth rate in the area. The
transaction highlights both companies’ commitment to continue developing the country’s upstream potential and
to support the energy transition by means of natural gas and renewable energy developments projects. The closing
of the deal is subject to certain conditions precedent, including approval from the local authorities in charge.

In October 2021, Eni signed a Memorandum of Understanding with ANPG and Sonangol for joint development
of the circular economy and decarbonization projects, in particular by promoting agricultural initiatives for the
cultivation of oil plants to be used as feedstock for Eni's biorefineries, without impacting the local food chain.
In December 2021, Eni finalized a twenty-year extension of the offshore Block 0 (Eni 9.8%), with expiring date
in 2050. Block 0 is located in the Cabinda area, in the north of the country.

In December 2021, the FID of Quiluma & Maboqueiro fields within the first development project of the New Gas
Consortium (Eni's interest 25.6%) was sanctioned. The project includes two offshore platforms, an onshore gas
processing plant and connection to A-LNG for the marketing of gas via LNG cargo, and condensates.
Exploration activities yielded positive results in the operated Block 15/06 (Eni 36.84%): (i) in 2021 through the
Cuica-1 oil discovery in the Cabaga development area, so to extend the residual useful life of the FPSO which
operates the block; and (ii) in March 2022 with the Ndungu-2 delineation well which allows to boost to 800-1,000
million boe in place the field resources.

In 20271 production start-up was achieved at the Cuica field, just four months after the discovery, and the
Cabaga North field through the linkage to the Armada Olombendo FPSO targeting to increase and to support
production plateau of the operated Block 15/06 development. In February 2022, in the operated Block 15/06,
the Ndung Early Production project started up by means of linkage to the Ngoma FPSO. The Ngoma FPSO
is designed with treatment capacity of approximately 100 kbbl/d and with zero-water discharge and zero-
process flaring also through upgrading plant implemented in 2021, in line with Eni’s decarbonisation strategy
to achieve net zero.
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Production start-up confirms the success of the Infrastructure Led Exploration (ILX) campaign progressed
in the Country also by means of a modular and simplified development approach ensuring a shortly time-to-
market of the discoveries.

Other development activities in the operated Block 15/06 concerned the Agogo Early Production Phase 2
development project with start-up of construction activities relating to the planned offshore facilities. The full
fleld development of the Agogo project provides for the construction of an additional FPSO. Concept definition
studies and FEED activity were completed and started up the activities for the assigning main contracts.

On the non-operated blocks, development activities progressed in the Block O with: (i) the Sanha Lean Gas
Connection and Booster Gas Compressor project increasing associated gas production to feed the A-LNG
liquefaction plant; (ii) the Lifua-A development project. The offshore facilities were completed, and start-up
is expected in 2022; (iii) the FEED activity of the South Ndola e Sanha-Mafumeira connector projects for the
construction of transportation facilities to put in production the residual reserves in the area.

Other development activities concerned: (i) the FEED activity of the Punja project in the Block 3/05-A (Eni's
interest 12%); and (ii) reached the Final Investment Decision (FID) and signed the EPC contract for the first
phase start-up of Caraculo’s photovoltaic project, located in Namibe. The project follows the memorandum of
understanding signed with Sonangol in 2019 with establishing a new jointly controlled venture, Solenova for
the development of renewable energy projects. Start-up is expected in the fourth quarter of 2022. The plant
will have a total capacity of 50 MW and will be implemented by stages, the first set to reach a capacity of 25
MW. The project will ensure to reduce diesel consumption for electricity generation and so the GHG emissions
as well as supporting the Country’s energy transition. Planned activities also include certain initiatives in the
fleld of access to water, access to energy, health and education.

Local development programs and initiatives progressed during the year, in particular with: (i) the South West
integrated project in Huila and Namibe area, to support local communities affected by drought; (ii) access to
energy, with health centers electrification by means of solar panels installation; (iii) an agricultural development
program in the Cabinda area in partnership with local institutions; (iv) ongoing support of the Halo Trust
initiative for the f land demining in the Benguela province; and (v) several health initiatives in the Luanda,
Cabinda and Zaire areas with healthcare staff training programs as well as medical equipment supplies.

Congo In October 2021, Eni signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the Country’s authorities for joint
development of the circular economy and decarbonization projects, in particular by promoting agricultural
initiatives for the cultivation of il plants to be used as feedstock for Eni's biorefineries, without impacting the
local food chain.

In addition, during 2021: (i) Eni relinquished the Loango Il (Enis’ interest 42.5%) and Zatchi Il (Eni’s interest
55.25%) production assets, effective from 1 January 2022, in line with Eni’s strategy of production portfolio
rationalization; and (ii) the PSA contract of the Marine XII production block (Eni operator with a 65% interest)
was amended to include a new tax regime dedicated to LNG projects. Ongoing studies provides for a fast-track
development project to monetize the associated and non-associated gas in the area both for the domestic
power generation and LNG export, also targeting to support zero routine flaring. The export project consists of
two modular and in phases LNG liquefaction plants with a capacity of approximately 2 million tonnes/year at
plateau. Start-up is expected in 2023.

Other development activities concerned: (i) the additional development phase of the Nené-Banga production
field in the Marine XII block with a construction of a new production platform. Start-up is expected in the
second half of 2022; (i) in the cultural initiatives to support local community, the construction activities
progressed at the Oyo research center which is expected to be opened and in operation in 2022; (iii) the
second phase of the Project Integrated Hinda (PIH) progressed with initiatives to support the economic and
agricultural development, access to water, education programs and sanitary service program development;
and (iv) the CATREP program to support domestic agricultural economy with initiatives in the innovative
agronomic techniques application aiming to integrate local producers into supply chain of agri-biofeedstock
within Memorandum of Understanding signed in 2021.

Mozambique In February 2022, Eni signed with the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development of the Republic
of Mozambique an agreement for cooperation and development of agricultural projects in the Country, promoting
agricultural initiatives for the cultivation of oil plants to be used as feedstock for biofuels production.

The development activities of Area 4 offshore (Eni's interest 25%) concerned the Coral South gas project and the
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gas discoveries of Mamba Complex where Eni is expected to coordinate the upstream phase and ExxonMobil
midstream phase (natural gas liquefaction).

The sanctioned Coral South project includes the construction, installation and commissioning and of an FLNG
vessel that will be linked to six subsea gas producing wells, where the gas will undergo treatment, liquefaction,
storage and export, with a capacity of approximately 3.4 mmtonnes/y of LNG. The development activities are
nearing completion. Production start-up is expected within 2022. The LNG produced will be sold by the Area 4
Concessionaires to BP under a long-term contract for a period of twenty years, with an option for an additional
ten-year term.

Within the Mamba Complex discoveries, the Rovuma LNG project provides for the development of the straddled
reserves of Area 1 according toitsindependentindustrial plan, coordinated with the operator of Area 1 (TotalEnergies).
The development project will include also a part of non-straddled reserves. The project provides the construction of
two onshore LNG trains with capacity of approximately 7.6 mmtonnes/y each, fed by 24 subsea wells and facilities
for storing and exporting LNG. In 2019, the plan of development (POD) was approved by the relevant Authorities.
The Area 4 operators progressed with reassessment of the project, including maximizing synergies with Area 1, in
order to optimize costs.

In 2021, Eni's programs to support the local communities of the Country progressed with: (i) programs to
support primary and infant scholarship. In particular, in city of Pemba, the infrastructural planned activities are
completed and launched training initiatives also with study grants; (ii) launched the second phase of access
to energy program also by means of clean cooking projects; (i) support to disadvantaged populations in
particular in the Cabo Delgado area and in the Maputo area, also with food assistance; and (iv) within the Coral
South project development, certain activities were launched also through suppliers engagement aiming to
increase workforce of local small e medium-size companies.

Nigeria In January 2021, Eni and the partners divested the onshore production and development block OML 17
(Eni’s interest 5%).

Exploration activities yielded positive results in the operated OML 61 block (Eni's interest 20%) with the Obiafu 42
gas and condensates exploration well.

Development activities concerned: (i) production optimization programs also with work-over activities at the
operated OMLs 60, 61, 62 and 63 blocks (Eni's interest 20%), the Kolo Creek gas field in the OML 28 block (Eni's
interest 5%), the Forkados Yokri oil field in the OML 43 Block (Eni's interest 5%) and at the OML 118 block (Eni's
interest 12.5%); and (ii) drilling of four oil wells in the OML 79, 35 and 36 blocks (Eni's interest 5%) and of six gas
wells in the OML 21 and 22 blocks (Eni's interest 5%) as well as in the Assa North and Enhwe fields.

In 2021 the collaboration with the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) progressed to foster access to safe
and clean water in Nigeria for local communities affected by humanitarian crisis in the north-east areas of Nigeria.
In particular, during the year, maintenance activities were completed to ensure sustainable use of infrastructures
implemented. Since 2018, start year of program, realized 22 wells powered with photovoltaic systems, both for
domestic use and irrigation purposes, to benefit approximately 67,000 people. In March 2022, Eni and FAQ, in
partnership with NNPC, completed and delivered 11 water plants powered by photovoltaic systems in Borno
and Yobo States in northeastern Nigeria. In addition, initiatives progressed with: (i) infrastructures projects with
the realization of roads, schools, health centers, electrification and water works; (ii) training programs, also with
study grants; (iii) access to energy programs; and (iv) the Green River Project to support local producers.

Eni holds a 10.4% interest in the Nigeria LNG Ltd joint venture, which runs the Bonny liquefaction plant located
in the Eastern Niger Delta. The plant has a production capacity of 22 mmtonnes/y of LNG associated to
approximately 1,250 bcf/y of feed gas. Natural gas supplies to the plant are currently provided under a gas supply
agreement from the SPDC JV (Eni's interest 5%), TEPNG JV and the NAOC JV (Eni's interest 20%). In 2021, the
Bonny liquefaction plant processed approximately 970 bcf. LNG production is sold under long-term contracts
and exported mainly to the United States, Asian and European markets by the Bonny Gas Transport fleet, wholly
owned by Nigeria LNG, as well as is sold FOB by means of the fleet owned by third parties.

KAZAKHSTAN

Kashagan The development activities of the Kashagan field (Eni's interest 16.81%) concerned the phased
expansion program of production capacity. The first development phase envisages increasing the production
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capacity up to 450 kbbl/d by upgrading the existing associated gas compression handling. The ongoing
activities, sanctioned in 2020, mainly concerned: (i) increasing gas reinjection capacity by means of upgrading
the existing facilities; and (ii) delivering a part of gas volumes to a new onshore treatment unit operated by a
third party, currently under construction.

In addition, during the year the redevelopment activity was completed with energy efficiency of a school in
the Turkestan region, built in partnership with UNDP (United Nations Development Programme).

As of December 31, 2021, the aggregate costs incurred by Eni for the Kashagan project capitalized in the
financial statements amounted to $10 billion (€8.9 billion at the EUR/USD exchange rate of December
31, 2021). This capitalized amount included: (i) $7.4 billion relating to expenditure incurred by Eni for the
development of the oil field; and (i) $2.6 billion relating primarily to accrued finance charges and expenditures
for the acquisition of interests in the Consortium from exiting partners upon exercise of pre-emption rights in
previous years. Cost incurred in the year were €66 million.

As of December 31, 2021, Eni's proved reserves booked for the Kashagan field amounted to 633 mmboe,
decreasing from 2020 due to price effect.

Karachaganak Within the gas treatment expansion projects of the Karachaganak field, activities concerned:
(i) the Karachaganak Debottlenecking project was completed. The construction of a fourth gas reinjection
unit is currently being finalized; and (i) the Karachaganak Expansion Project (KEP) to increase gas re-injection
capacity progressed. The project is scheduled to be achieved in several phases. The development program of
the first phase, sanctioned at the end of 2020, provides the construction of a sixth injection line, the drilling of
three additional injection wells and of a new gas compression unit. Start-up is expected in 2024. The project
includes an additional phase with the installation of a new treatment and compression units.

Eni continues its commitment to support local communities in the nearby area of the Karachaganak field.
In particular, initiatives progressed with: (i) professional training; and (ii) realization of kindergartens and
schools, roads maintenance, construction of sport centers; and (iii) medical-health support also by means of
the medicines distribution, following the health emergency resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.

As of December 31, 2021, the aggregate costs incurred by Eni for the Karachaganak project capitalized in the
financial statements amounted to $4.4 billion (€3.9 billion at the EUR/USD exchange rate of December 31,
2021). Cost incurred in the year were €123 million.

As of December 31, 2021, Eni's proved reserves booked for the Karachaganak field amounted to 399 mmboe,
decreasing from 2020 mainly due to price effect.

REST OF ASIA

Indonesia In June 2021, Eni signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the government entity SKK Migas
for a partnership in hydrocarbons exploration in the Country. The agreement provides for the use of Eni's
proprietary technologies, including the calculation and processing techniques of the Green DataCenter, for
an exploration prospects interpretation data.

Exploration activities yielded positive results in the operated West Ganal block (Eni's interest 40%) with the
Maha 2 delineation well, near the Jangkrik production field.

In 2021 production start-up was achieved at the offshore Merakes gas project in the operated East Sepinggan
block (Eni's interest 65%), located in the deep offshore East Kalimantan. Production flows from five subsea
wells which are tied-back to the Floating Production Unit (FPU) of the Jangkrik producing field (Eni operator
with a 55% interest). Natural gas production is processed by the FPU and then delivered via pipeline to the
onshore plant, which is connected to the East Kalimantan transport system to feed the Bontang liquefaction
plant or sold to the domestic market.

Development activities comprised: (i) development program of the Merakes East and Maha projects with
the completion of the concept selection activity and the start-up of the concept definition activity; and
(ii) the activities and initiatives in the fields of access to water and renewable energy to support the local
development areas of Samoja, Kutai Kartanegara and East Kalimantan.

Irag Development activities comprised the execution of an additional development phase of the ERP (Enhanced
Redevelopment Plan) at the Zubair field (Eni's interest 41.56%), which will allow to achieve a production plateau
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of 700 kbbl/d. The production capacity and main facilities to treat the production plateau target have already
been installed; the field reserves will be progressively put into production by drilling additional productive wells
over the next few years.

In February 2022, consistently with the sustainable development goals, Eni in collaboration with the European
Union and UNICEF, has launched a project in partnership with the Governorate of Basra, aimed at improving
quality of water for 850,000 people in the city of Basra, including over 160,000 children as direct beneficiaries.
Eni's commitment continues with projects in the fields of education, health, environment and access to water.
In particular: (i) launched an integrated training program in the Zubair district, including specific training
initiatives for school staff and establishing online educational platform following the COVID-19 pandemic
impact; (ii) progressed construction activities of a new school in the Zubair area with completion expected
in 2023, as well as renovation and material supply initiatives; (iii) pediatric training project, renovation and
expansion of the Basra Cancer Children Hospital as well as the supply of specific medical oncology equipment;
and (iv) upgrading activity at the Al Barjazia drinking water plant in the Zubair area as well as the construction
of new plant in the Bassora area.

United Arab Emirates In 2022 exploration activities yielded positive results in the operated Block 2 (Eni's
interest 70%) with the XF-002 well, in offshore Abu Dhabi. Drilling activities are ongoing, and upon completion
expected in the second quarter of 2022 the size of the discovery will be evaluated.

In April 2021, Eni was awarded the operatorship of the Exploration Block 7 onshore Ras Al Khaimah with a
90% participating interest. Existing gas treatment facilities in the area with spare capacity will ensure to put
in production any discoveries with shortly time-to-market.

In 2021, production start-up was achieved from the Mahani field located in the onshore Concession Area B
(Eni's interest 50%) in the Emirate of Sharjah, just one year after Mahani 1 exploration well discovery and two
years after signing the concession agreement. Development activities, sanctioned with the final investment
decision, provide the progressive ramp-up with the tie-back of two additional productive wells.

During the year two development projects were sanctioned: the Dalma Gas Development in the offshore
Gasha concession (Eni's interest 25%) and the Umm Shaif Long-Term Development Phase 1 in the Umm
Shaif concession (Eni's interest 10%).

AMERICAS

Mexico In January 2022, was signed a four-year Memorandum of Understanding with the United Nations
Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) to identify potential jointly initiatives supporting
local economy sustainable development by means of economic diversification, environmental and cultural
heritage protection, access to primary services, human rights respect and inclusion.

Exploration activities yielded positive results with: (i) the Sayulita oil discovery in the offshore operated Block
10 (Eni's interest 65%) where the Saasken discovery was made in 2020. The new well identified 150-200
million barrels of oil in place that have boosted the commerciality prospects of the area; and (ii) the Yoti West
oil discovery in the OBO AC12 block (Eni's interest 40%) with estimated resources in approximately 170 million
barrels of oil in place.

The development activities in the year mainly concerned the full field development program of the operated
license Area 1 (Eni's interest 100%), already in production. In particular: (i) the conversion and upgrading of an
FPSO unit was completed including all linking facilities; (i) the first production platform was installed in the
Amoca field; and (iii) the development drilling activities progressed at the Mizton production field while the
drilling activities started up in the Amoca field. The FPSO started operations on February 23, 2022 allowing
the production ramp-up. Other development phase includes the construction and installation of two additional
production platform at the Amoca and Teocalli field.

Within the cooperation agreement with the local Authorities to identify initiatives relating to health, education
and environment, as well as economic diversification initiatives to support employment, during the year the
activities concerned: (i) restructuring of school buildings and construction of roads; (ii) training and learning
activities to support school programs; (iii) initiatives to improve socio-economic conditions of communities
with development programs of fishing activity; (iv) completed the Human Rights Action Plan identifying
activities plan; and (v) awareness campaigns in the field of access to energy.
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FORESTRY PROJECTS

In Eni's decarbonization path, Natural Climate Solutions (NCS) area one of the levers in the residual emission
reduction. Among these, in 2019 Eni launched the forest protection, conservation and sustainable management
projects, in particular in developing Countries. The forest projects are considered the most significant at
internationally level within climate change mitigation strategies.

These projects are framed in the REDD+ (Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation)
scheme. The REDD+ scheme was designed by the United Nations (in particular within the UNFCCC - United
Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change) and involves conservation forest activities to reduce
emissions and improve the natural storage capacity of CO,, as well as supporting, with a different development
model, the local communities through socio-economic projects, in line with sustainable management, forest
protection and biodiversity conservation.

In this scheme, Eni's protection forest activities support national governments, local communities and UN
agencies in the REDD+ strategies, in line with the NDCs (Nationally Determined Contributions) and National
Development Plans and, mainly, the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) of UN.

Eni built solid partnerships over time with recognized international developers of REDD+ projects, like BioCarbon
Partners, Terra Global, Peace Parks Foundation, First Climate, Carbonsink and Carbon Credits Consulting, which
allows to oversee every phase of the projects, from the design to the implementation up to verify the reduction
emissions, with an active role in the governance of the project. The Eni's role is essential to allow the alignment
with the REDD+ scheme and also the with highest standards for certification of the carbon emissions reduction
and social and environmental effects (such as Verified Carbon Standard - VCS and Climate Community &
Biodiversity Standards - CCB), internationally recognized and in line with the qualitative standards, target to be
achieved by Eni.

Eni launched the forestry projects in 2019 by means of the agreement with BioCarbon Partners to became active
member in the governance of the Luangwa Community Forests Project (LCFP) in Zambia. The LCFP covers
an area of approximately 1 million hectares, involves approximately 200,000 beneficiaries, also with economic
diversification initiatives, and is currently one of the largest REDD + projects in Africa. The LCFP achieved the
CCB (Climate, Community and Biodiversity Standards) “triple gold” issued by international no-profit organization
Verra, leader in the carbon credits certifying, for its outstanding social and environmental impact. Eni committed
to purchase carbon credits generated by the LCFP project until 2038. During the year Eni finalized agreement
to support the development of the Ntakata Mountains project in Tanzania and the Lower Zambezi project in
Zambia, as well as launched the Amigos de Lakmul project in Mexico. In 2021 Eni achieved allowance of carbon
credits by the projects to offset GHG emissions equivalent to over 2 million tonnes of CO,,.

Eni is currently considering further different initiatives in several countries, by means of partnerships with
governments and international developers in Africa, Latin America, and Asia. The medium-long term target is
a progressive growth of these initiatives and planned to reach a carbon credit portfolio on yearly basis to offset
over 20 million tonnes of CO, in 2030.

AGRO-FEEDSTOCK PROJECTS

During the year Eni finalized agreement with the authorities of the Kenya, Congo, Angola, Rwanda and Ivory
Coast as well as in Mozambigque and Benin in 2022 aiming to decarbonize the local energy mix by means
of biofuels value chain by promoting agricultural initiatives for the cultivation of oil plants to be used as
feedstock (Low ILUC feedstock — Indirect Land Use Change) for Eni's biorefineries, enhancing marginal
areas not destined to the food chain.

The development activities plan is focused on vertical integration and includes agreements to produce
oilseeds by local farmers and cooperatives and the construction of oil collection and extraction centers by
Eni (Agri Hubs). The supply chain byproducts will be aimed for domestic market and also for export.
These initiatives will also support rural development, land restoration through sustainable and regenerative
agriculture, with positive impacts on socio-economic development and employment, access to market
opportunities as well as human rights protection, health and food security.

Further programs is being evaluated in other countries with a model in analogy to the ones applied.

In particular, in the first step, industrial production start-up is expected in: (i) Kenya, where development
program includes the construction of 20 agri ,hubs with start-up in 2022. In addition, the agreement provides
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also for the engineering activities to conversion the Mombasa traditional refinery to biorefinery for HVO and
Biojet production; as well as the collection of UCO (Used Cooking Qil) to be used as feedstock; (ii) Congo
with activities start-up expected in 2023.

The full capacity production is expected to achieve 350 ktonnes from 2026 with engagement of 300,000
farmers. The overall production is expected to subsequently reach a agro-feedstock volume of over 800
thousand tonnes by 2030 leveraging on additional initiatives in other countries.

Within these development initiatives, in November 2021 Eni finalized strategic partnership agreement with
the Bonifiche Ferraresi Group aimed at establishing an equal joint venture. Based on the agreement, Eni
purchased a minority stake in the subsidiary of BF Bonifiche Ferraresi. In addition, the agreement include:
(i) research and experimentation projects of oil plant seeds to be used as feedstock in biorefineries; (ii)
support in the countries where Eni will develop agro-feedstock projects by means of know-how transfer and
agriculture seeds and products supplies.
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Global Gas & LNG Portfolio

€ 580 min

djusted operating profit
vs. 2020: +78%

7045 bcm

Worldwide natural gas sales
vs. 2020: +8% thanks
to higher LNG sales

Agreementin Taiwan with
CPC Corporation

for the supply of a LNG cargo
certified carbon neutral
in accordance with PAS2060 standard

Achieved ZEIO
injury targ et
in 2021

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2021 2020 2019
TRIR (Total Recordable Injury Rate)@ (total recordable injuries/worked hours) x 1,000,000 0.00 1.15 0.56
of which: employees 0.00 0.99 0.96
contractors 0.00 1.37 0.00

Natural gas sales® (becm) 70.45 64.99 72.85
Italy 36.88 37.30 37.98
Rest of Europe 28.01 23.00 26.72
of which: Importers in Italy 2.89 3.67 4.37
European markets 25.12 79.33 22.35

Rest of world 5.56 4.69 8.15
LNG sales® 10.9 9.5 10.1
Employees at year end (number) 847 700 711
of which outside Italy 571 410 418
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)@© (mmtonnes CO,eq.) 1.01 0.36 0.25

(a) Calculated on 100% operated assets.
(b) Data include intercompany sales.
(c) Refers to LNG sales of the GGP segment (included in worldwide gas sales).

Performance of the year

» Achieved the zero-injury target for employees and contractors.

» Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) equal to .07 million mmtonnes CO,eq. reported an increase as a result of the growth in gas
volumes transported by TTPC and TMPC pipelines and the consolidation of Damietta liquefaction plant.

» Eniworldwide gas sales amounted to 70.45 bcm, increased by 8% compared to 2020 (up by 5.46 bcm).

» LNG sales amounted to 10.9 bcm, representing an increase of 14.7% compared to 2020.
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PSV-TTF trend Gas sales by geographic area

%
487 486 g%

Italy
171 142 @ European markets

112 100 | ) in Ital
- mporters in [taly
L W Extra Europe

2019 2020

PSV (€/kem)
@® TTF (€/kem) LNG sales (bcm)
Spread PSV-TTF (€/kcm) 10.1 9.5

Adjusted operating profit (€ min)

580

326

193 . . . Extra Europe
. Europe

2019 2020 2021 2019 2020

Business development

Signed an agreement with CPC Corporation, taiwanese utility, for the supply at the Yung An receiving terminal
(Taiwan) of a LNG cargo certified carbon neutral according to the internationally recognized PAS2060 standard,
sourced from the Bontang liquefaction terminal in Indonesia and supplied by the Jangkrik Eni's gas field.

The GHG emissions related to the entire value chain of the LNG cargo, including gas production, transmission,
liquefaction, shipping, regasification, distribution and end use, were offset through the retirement of high quality
nature based credits. In particular, the credits have been sourced from two projects REDD+: Luangwa Community
Forest in Zambia and Kulera Landscape in Malawi.

As a part of the Eni's portfolio optimization strategy, aimed at growth in the areas related to the energy transition,
was signed a sale agreement with Snam for the sale of 49.9% of Eni's stake (directly or indirectly) in the companies
that manage the onshore gas pipelines running from the Algerian and Tunisian borders to Tunisia’s coast (TTPC)
and the offshore gas pipelines connecting the Tunisian coast to Italy (TMPC). The transaction includes the transfer
of these investments to a JV of which a 49.9% share will be sold to Snam for approximately €385 million (Eni will
continue to hold the remaining 50.1% stake). This operation allows to create synergies among the parties’ expertise
in gas transport on a strategic route for the security of the natural gas supply in Italy, enabling potential develop-
ment initiatives within the hydrogen value chain from North Africa.

Announced by the management, the sale of 50% stake of Blue Stream gas pipeline, which carries the Russian gas
marketed by Eni and Gazprom jointly, through Black Sea to Turkish State company Botas.

In march 2021 was completed the restructuring of Union Fenosa Gas through the finalization of the agreements
with the authorities of the Arab Republic of Egypt (ARE) and the Spanish partner Naturgy for the settlement of
the Union Fenosa Gas disputes with the Egyptian partners. The agreement included the 50% share recognition of
Damietta’s plant and the related liqguefaction capacity, as well as the gas marketing activities in Spain held by UFG
and the restart of Damietta liquefaction plant.




74

Eni Annual Report 2021

NATURAL GAS
SUPPLY OF NATURAL GAS

Eni's consolidated subsidiaries supplied 70.98 bem of natural gas, increased by 8.82 becm or by 14.2% from the
full year 2020. Gas volumes supplied outside Italy from consolidated subsidiaries (67.39 bem), imported in Italy
or sold outside Italy, represented approximately 95% of total supplies, increased by 12.70 bcm or by 23% from
the full year 2020. This mainly reflected higher volumes purchased in Russia (up by 7.72 bcm), in Algeria (up by
4.90 becm), in the UK (up by 1.03 bcm) and in Indonesia (up by 0.66 bcm), partly offset by lower purchases in
Libya (down by 1.26 bcm). Supplies in Italy (3.59 bem) down by 51.9% from the full year 2020.

SUPPLY OF NATURAL GAS

(bcm) 2021 2020 2019  Change % Ch.
ITALY 3.59 7.47 557  (3.88)  (51.9)
Russia 30.21 22.49 24.36 7.72 34.3
Algeria (including LNG) 10.12 5.22 6.66 4.90 93.9
Libya 3.18 4.44 5.86 (1.26) (28.4)
Netherlands 1.41 1.1 412 0.30 27.0
Norway 7.52 7.19 6.43 0.33 4.6
United Kingdom 2.65 1.62 1.75 1.03 63.6
Indonesia (LNG) 1.81 1.15 1.58 0.66 57.4
Qatar (LNG) 2.30 247 279  (0.17) (6.9)
Other supplies of natural gas 2.39 5.24 7.90 (2.85) (54.4)
Other supplies of LNG 5.80 3.76 3.40 2.04 54.3
OUTSIDE ITALY 67.39 54.69 64.85 12.70 23.2
TOTAL SUPPLIES OF ENI'S CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 70.98 62.16 70.42 8.82 14.2
Offtake from (input to) storage (0.86) 0.52 0.08 (1.38)  (265.4)
Network losses, measurement differences and other changes (0.04) (0.03) (0.22) 0.01) (33.3)
AVAILABLE FOR SALE BY ENI'S CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 70.08 62.65 70.28 7.43 11.9
Available for sale by Eni's affiliates 0.37 2.34 2.57 (1.97) (84.2)
TOTAL AVAILABLE FOR SALE 70.45 64.99 72.85 5.46 8.4

In 2021, main gas volumes from equity production derived from: (i) certain Eni fields located in the British and
Norwegian sections of the North Sea (2.6 bem); (ii) Italian gas fields (2.2 bem); (iii) Indonesia (0.9 becm); (iv)
Libyan fields (0.7 bcm). Supplied gas volumes from equity production were 6.4 bcm representing around 9% of
total volumes available for sale. The available for sale by Eni's affiliates amounted to 0.37 bcm (down by 84.2%
compared to 2020) and mainly referred to supplied volumes from Spain and Oman.

SALES

European gas market was characterised by extreme conditions due to tight supplies and uncertainties supply
flows from Russia. In this scenario the raising in demand has highlighted increase consumption about up by 7%
and up by 6% in Italy and in the European Union, respectively, compared to 2020, natural gas sales amounted to
70.45 bem (including Eni's own consumption, Eni's share of sales made by equity-accounted entities), increased
by 5.46 bcm or 8.4% from the previous year due to higher sales in Turkey and higher volumes sales of LNG.

GAS SALES BY ENTITY
(bcm) 2021 2020 2019 Change  %Ch.

Total sales of subsidiaries 69.99 62.58 7017 7.41 11.8
Italy (including own consumption) 36.88 37.30 37.98 (0.42) a.m
Rest of Europe 27.69 21.54 25.21 6.15 28.6
Outside Europe 5.42 3.74 6.98 1.68 44.9
Total sales of Eni's affiliates (net to Eni) 0.46 2.41 2.68 (1.95) (80.9)
Rest of Europe 0.32 1.46 1.51 (1.14) (78.1)
Outside Europe 0.14 0.95 1.17 (0.81) (85.3)

WORLDWIDE GAS SALES 70.45 64.99 72.85 5.46 8.4
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Sales in Italy (36.88 bcm) decreased by 1.1% from 2020 mainly due to lower sales to hub and to thermoelectrical
and industrial segments, partly offset by higher sales in wholesalers segment. Sales to importers in Italy (2.89 bcm)
decreased by 21.3% from 2020 due to the lower availability of Libyan gas.

Sales in the European markets amounted to 25.12 bem, an increase of 30% or 5.79 bem from 2020.

Sales in the extra European markets of 5.56 bcm increased by 0.87 bcm or 18.6% from the previous year, due to higher
volumes marketed in the Asian markets.

GAS SALES BY MARKET
(bem) 2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.

ITALY 36.88  37.30  37.98  (0.42) 1.1)
Wholesalers 13.37 12.89 13.08 0.48 3.7
ltalian gas exchange and spot markets 12.13 12.73 12.13 (0.60) (4.7)
Industries 4.07 4.21 4.62 (0.14) (3.3)
Power generation 0.94 1.34 1.90 (0.40) (29.9)
Own consumption 6.37 6.13 6.25 0.24 3.9
INTERNATIONAL SALES 838517 27.69 34.87 5.88 21.2
Rest of Europe 28.01 23.00 26.72 5.01 21.8
Importers in Italy 2.89 3.67 4.37 (0.78) (21.3)
European markets: 2512 19.33 22.35 5.79 30.0
Iberian Peninsula 375 3.94 4.22 (0.79) (4.8)
Germany/Austria 0.69 0.35 2.19 0.34 97.1
Benelux 347 358 378  (0.17) (3.1)
United Kingdom 2.65 1.62 1.75 1.03 63.6
Turkey 8.50 4.59 5.56 391 85.2
France 5.80 5.01 4.47 0.79 15.8
Other 0.26 0.24 0.38 0.02 83
Extra European markets 5.56 4.69 8.15 0.87 18.6
WORLDWIDE GAS SALES 70.45 64.99 72.85 5.46 8.4
LNG
LNG SALES

(bcm) 2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.
Europe 5.4 4.8 5.5 0.6 12.5
Outside Europe 5.9 4.7 4.6 0.8 17.0
TOTAL LNG SALES 10.9 9.5 10.1 1.4 14.7

In 2027, LNG sales (10.9 bcm, included in the worldwide gas sales) increased by 14.7% from 2020 and mainly
concerned LNG from Egypt, Qatar, Indonesia and Nigeria and marketed in Europe and Asia.

INTERNATIONAL TRANSPORT ACTIVITY

Eni, as shipper, has transport rights on a large European and North African networks for transporting natural gas in
Iltaly and Europe, which link key consumption basins with the main producing areas (Russia, Algeria, the North Sea,
including the Netherlands, Norway, and Libya).

The Company participates to both entities which operate the pipelines and entities which manage transport rights.
The main international pipelines currently participated or operated by Eni are: (i) the TTPC pipeline, 740-kilometer
long which transports natural gas from Algeria; (i) the TMPC pipeline for the import of Algerian gas is 775-kilometer
long; (iii) the GreenStream pipeline for the import of Libyan gas (520-kilometer long); and (iv) Eni holds an interest in
the Blue Stream underwater pipeline linking the Russian coast to the Turkish coast of the Black Sea.




nergy

p—
p—
—

C
O
=
@,
>




LTEE
B T e
s

—.—, -: _._' '~_“‘""’§p = - -
W= $ & = _“‘&;g}-h S o,
e T R e T X e

e i



78

Refining & Marketing and Chemicals

1 . 1 mmtonnes/y

Biorefinery capacity

€1 52 gl

Adjusted operating profit
vs. 2020: +€146 min

4. 5 mmtonnes

Sales of petrochemical products vs. 2020:
+3% thanks to the recover in demand

223

tonnes CO,eq./ktonnes
Direct GHG emissions

(Scope 1)/Refinery throughputs
(raw and semi-finished materials)
vs. 2020: -8%

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

TRIR (Total Recordable Injury Rate)®

of which: employees

contractors

Bio throughputs
Capacity of biorefineries
Average biorefineries utilization rate
Conversion index of oil refineries
Average oil refineries utilization rate
Retail sales of petroleum products in Europe
Service stations in Europe at year end
Average throughput per service station in Europe
Retail efficiency index
Production of petrochemical products
Sale of petrochemical products
Average petrochemical plant utilization rate
Employees at year end

of which: outside Italy

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)@

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)/Refinery throughputs

(raw and semi-finished materials)

(total recordable injuries/worked hours) x 1,000,000

(ktonnes)
(mmtonnes/year)

(%)

(mmtonnes)
(number)
(Kliters)

)
(ktonnes)
)

(number)

(mmtonnes CO,eq.)

(tonnes CO, eq./ktonnes)
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2021 2020 2019

0.80 0.80 0.27
1.13 1.17 0.24
0.49 0.48 0.29
665 710 311
1.1 1.1 1.1
65 63 44
49 54 54
76 69 88
7.23 6.61 8.25

5314 5,369 5411
1,521 1,390 1,766
1.19 1.22 1.23
8,476 8,073 8,068
4,451 4,339 4,295
66 65 67
13,072 11,471 11,626
4,044 2,556 2,591
6.72 6.65 7.97

228 248 248

(a) Calculated on 100% operated assets.
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Evolution of retail network in Italy Biorefining system

4,184
4,134 4,078

2019 2020 2021

@ Service stations
Market share (%)
—— Retail efficiency index (%) 2019 2020 pPAVVA

Petrochemical production system Refining energy efficiency
‘L"“ 8,476 22.74 17.00 18.78
F ’ 8,068 8,073
67.0
| '
2019 2020 2021
@ Petrochemical production (kton)
W Average plant utilization rate (%) 2019 2020 2021

Performance of the year

4

Total recordable injury rate (TRIR) of the workforce amounted to 0.80, substantially in line compared
to the previous year.

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) increased by 1% compared to 2020, following the resumption of
activities mainly in the chemical business.

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)/refining throughputs (raw and semi-finished materials) were down by
8% compared to the previous year, despite the increase of commodities processed at the Sannazzaro
and Livorno sites.

In 2021 Eni’s refining throughputs on own account amounted to 18.78 mmtonnes (excluding the
ADNOC Refining) up by 10.5% from 2020, benefitting from the 2027 economic recovery, supported by
the resumption of the activities negatively affected in 2020 by the partial lockdown.

Production of biofuels from vegetable oil amounted to 665 mmtonnes, down by 6% from 2020, affected
by a particularly depressed scenario.

Retail sales in Italy were 5.12 mmtonnes, increased by 12% from 2020 as a result of the progressive economy
reopening and greater mobility of people. Market share was 22.3% (23.2% in 2020).

Sales of petrochemical products were 4.45 mmtonnes, up by 3%, thanks to the macroeconomic
growth, rebound in demand of leading sectors, such as packaging and the recovery of the automotive
business.

Bio
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Business developments and portfolio transaction

In order to expand the recycled polymers portfolio of Versalis Revive® and to consolidate the European
leadership in styrenic polymers, Versalis acquired the technology and plants of Ecoplastic, company
specialized in the recovery, recycling and transformation chain of styrenic polymers. This is the first step
of the transformation project of Porto Marghera plant, which includes the installation in the next year of
the plants acquired for the production of styrene polymers entirely obtained from recycle raw material. The
overall capacity of the first phase will be approximately 20 ktonnes per year.

In September Versalis finalized the acquisition of the control in Finproject, exercising the call option to buy
the remaining 60% of share capital, following the initial acquisition of a 40% participating interestin 2020. The
acquisition is complementary to Versalis’ specialties portfolio and will create an all-Italian leading platform
with high-performance formulated polymer applications and compounding, less influenced by commaodity
fluctuations. In January Finproject has taken the ISCC Plus certification for compound productions and
products from renewable raw materials.

Circular economy and green chemicals

Finalized the full share acquisition of FRI-EL Biogas Holding, Italian leader in biogas’s production. The
company, renamed EniBioCh4in, owns plants generating electricity from biogas and a plant for processing
OFMSW, the organic fraction of municipal solid waste, which Eni intends to convert to produce biomethane,
that will supply in Eni service stations.

Versalis, coherently with the Eni's decarbonization strategy, has launched a transformation plan which aims
to make its activities and products diversified and sustainable, in accordance with the principles of the
circular economy.

In 2021, Versalis expanded the “circular” products offering, manufactured with recycled raw materials. A
new product called Versalis Revive® PS Air F — Series Forever was added to Versalis Revive® product line.
It was addressed for food packaging and 75% made by recycled polystyrene from domestic waste sorting.
The new product developed by Versalis and Forever Plast SpA, is the result of collaboration with various
operators in the polystyrene industry such as Corepla, Pro Food e Unionplast.

Confirmed the commitment aimed at the development of sustainable innovative technologies, through the
agreement signed with BTS Biogas, an Italian company engaged in the design and realization of biogas
plants, to develop and market an innovative technology to produce biogas and biomethane from residual
lignocellulosic biomass. The technology will focus on Versalis’ technology integration for biomass thermo-
mechanical pretreatment, with the BTS Biogas technology for biogas and biomethane production via
fermentative ways.

Finally, signed an agreement between Matrica, a JV Versalis/Novamont company, and Lanxess, a leader in
specialty chemicals for the production of biocides from renewable raw materials. In January 2022 started the
supply of renewable-source raw materials obtained from vegetable oils to the Porto Torres plant. Lanxess will
use these materials to produce biocidal industrial additives for the consumer goods sector.

Sustainable mobility

As part of Eni's sustainable mobility growth strategy, signed an agreement in order to offer the battery
swapping service for XEV's city car at the Eni service stations. In addition, from 2022, the XEV YOYO zero-
emission city car will become part of the Enjoy fleet.

In order to promote initiatives to decarbonize the aviation sector and accelerate the process of energy
transition of airports, signed an agreement with SEA, the Milan Malpensa and Milan Linate airports operator,
for the supply of sustainable fuels for aviation (SAF — Sustainable Aviation Fuel) and for ground handling
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(HVO - Hydrotreated Vegetable 0il). This initiative is in line with the agreement finalized in January 2022
with Aeroporti di Roma which launched the first supplies of pure HVO hydrogenated biofuel, produced in
Eni’s biorefinery in Porto Marghera, to fuel the road vehicles for handling passengers with reduced mobility
at the airport.

SAF production started in October, are produced exclusively from waste and residues, in line with the
strategic decision of zeroing the use of palm oil from 2023.

As a step towards the transport decarbonization signed a letter of intent with Air Liquide for development
of hydrogen mobility in Italy, in particular a feasibility and sustainability study for the development of the
low carbon and renewable hydrogen supply chain to support the market of fuel cell vehicles for heavy and
light mobility.

Finally signed a strategic agreement with BASF, related to a new technology that produces advanced bio-
propanol from glycerin, obtained from the production of industrial biodiesel FAME (Fatty Acid Methil Esters),
intended for use as a bio component in fuel formulation.

Proprietary technologies

Proprietary technologies will play a key role in accelerating the “green” conversion of Versalis reducing
dependence on oil feedstock; Eni is engaged in the chemical recycling of non-reusable plastics (HOOP
technology) and the enhancement of forest biomass for production bioethanol and biogas (PROESA
technology) in collaboration with qualified partners such as Saipem and BTS Biogas. As part of the
valorization of proprietary technologies and the strengthening of Eni presence in the Asian continent,
Versalis has licensed the mass continuous technology to Supreme Petrochem Ltd, an Indian market-leader
in compact and expandable polystyrene, to create a plant in Maharashtra (India). This is a technology that
allows one to produce styrene polymers with reduced environmental impact, thanks to low emission and
low energy consumption.

REFINING & MARKETING

SUPPLY AND TRADING

In 2021, were purchased 18.85 mmtonnes of crude (compared with 17.37 mmtonnes in 2020), of which
3.85 mmtonnes by equity crude oil, 10.79 mmtonnes on the spot market and 4.27 mmtonnes by producer’s
Countries with term contracts. The breakdown by geographic area was as follows: 20% of purchased crude
came from the Middle East, 18% from Russia, 15% from Central Asia, 15% from North Africa, 11% from Italy,
11% from West Africa, 2% from North Sea and 8% from other areas.

PURCHASES

(mmtonnes) 2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.
Equity crude oil 3.85 3.55 4.24 0.30 8.5
Other crude oil 15.00 13.82 19.19 1.18 85
Total crude oil purchases 18.85 17.37 23.43 1.48 8.5
Purchases of intermediate products 0.26 0.11 0.26 0.15 136.4
Purchases of products 10.66 10.31 11.45 0.35 34
TOTAL PURCHASES 29.77 27.79 35.14 1.98 7.1
Consumption for power generation (0.31) (0.35) (0.35) 0.04 11.4
Other changes® (0.89) (0.69) (2.08) (0.20) (29.0)
TOTAL AVAILABILITY 28.57 26.75 32.71 1.82 6.8

(a) Include change in inventories, decrease due to transportation, consumption and losses.
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REFINING

In 2021, Eni's refining throughputs on own account were 18.78 mmtonnes increased by 10.5% from 2020, due
to the higher throughputs in Italy, in response to a lower impact of the COVID-19 pandemic compared to the
comparative period which was negatively affected by the partial lockdown of the economy, partly offset by the
impact of a depressed refining scenario.

In Italy, the refinery throughputs (16.57 mmtonnes) increased by 11.4% from 2020 following the depressed
refining scenario, due to higher volumes processed at Sannazzaro refinery.

Outside ltaly, Eni's refining throughputs on own account were 2.27 mmtonnes, up by approximately 90 ktonnes
or 4.1% as a result of lower standstill compared to the previous year, partly offset by negative scenario.
Total throughputs in wholly-owned refineries were 14.01 mmtonnes, increase by 1.29 mmtonnes or 10.1%
compared with 2020.

The refinery utilization rate, ratio between throughputs and refinery capacity, is 76%.

Approximately 21% of processed crude was supplied by Eni's Exploration & Production segment, with a slight
decrease from 2020 (21.2%).

BIOREFINERY
The volumes of biofuels processed from vegetable oil were 665 mmtonnes down by 6% from the previous period
(40 ktonnes), as a result of standstill at Venezia biorefinery in a depressed scenario context.

In addition, the incidence rate of palm oil supplied for the production of biodiesel was reduced by approximately
34 percentage points compared to 2020, leveraging on the start-up of a new Biomass Treatment Unit (BTU) at
the Gela biorefinery, enabling the use of up to 100% of biomass not in competition with the food chain for the
production of biofuels. Confirmed the zeroing palm oil by 2023 in the refining processes.

In 20271 productions of biofuels (HVO) amounted to approximately 585 ktonnes (down by 6%) according to
certifications in use (European RED and related directives).

AVAILABILITY OF REFINED PRODUCTS
(mmtonnes) 2021 2020 2019  Change % Ch.

ITALY

At wholly-owned refineries 14.01 12.72 17.26 1.29 10.1
Less input on account of third parties (1.71) (1.75) (1.25) 0.04 2.3
At affiliated refineries 4.21 3.85 4.69 0.36 9.4
Refinery throughputs on own account 16.51 14.82 20.70 1.69 11.4
Consumption and losses 1.17) (0.97) (1.38) 0.14) (14.8)
Products available for sale 15.40 13.85 19.32 1.55 11.2
Purchases of refined products and change in inventories 7.38 7.18 7.27 0.20 2.8
Products transferred to operations outside Italy 0.67) (0.66) (0.68) 0.01) (1.5)
Consumption for power generation (0.31) (0.35) (0.35) 0.04 1.4
Sales of products 21.80 20.02 25.56 1.78 8.9
Bio throughputs 0.67 0.71 0.31 (0.04) (5.6)

OUTSIDE ITALY

Refinery throughputs on own account 227 2.18 2.04 0.09 41
Consumption and losses (0.18) 0.17) (0.18) (0.01) (5.9)
Products available for sale 2.09 2.01 1.86 0.08 4.0
Purchases of refined products and change in inventories 3.41 3.39 417 0.02 0.6
Products transferred from Italian operations 0.67 0.66 0.68 0.01 1.5
Sales of products 6.17 6.06 6.71 0.11 1.8
Refinery throughputs on own account in Italy and outside Italy 18.78 17.00 22.74 1.78 10.5

of which: refinery throughputs of equity crude on own account 3.86 3.55 4.24 0.31 87
Total sales of refined products in Italy and outside Italy 27.97 26.08 32.27 1.89 7.2
Crude oil sales 0.60 0.67 0.44 (0.07) (10.4)

TOTAL SALES 28.57 26.75 32.71 1.82 6.8
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MARKETING OF REFINED PRODUCTS
In 2021, retail sales of refined products (27.97 mmtonnes) were up by 1.89 mmtonnes or by 7.2% from 2020,
due to the lower impact of COVID-19 crisis on mobility.

PRODUCT SALES IN ITALY AND OUTSIDE ITALY
(mmtonnes) 2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.

Retail 5.12 4.56 5.81 0.56 12.3
Wholesale 6.02 575 7.68 0.27 47
Petrochemicals 0.52 0.61 0.83 (0.09) (14.8)
Other sales 10.14 9.10 11.24 1.04 11.4
Sales in Italy 21.80 20.02 25.56 1.78 8.9
Retail rest of Europe 211 2.05 2.44 0.06 29
Wholesale rest of Europe 219 2.40 2.63 0.21) (8.8)
Wholesale outside Europe 0.52 0.48 0.48 0.04 8.3
Other sales 185 1.13 1.16 0.22 19.5
Sales outside Italy 6.17 6.06 6.71 0.11 1.8
TOTAL SALES OF REFINED PRODUCTS IN ITALY AND OUSTIDE ITALY 27.97 26.08 32.27 1.89 7.2

Retail sales in Italy

In 2021, retail sales in Italy were 5.12 mmtonnes, with an increase compared to 2020 (0.56 mmtonnes or up
by 12.3%) as consequence of the restrictive measures implemented mainy in the second quarter during the
pandemic peak. Average throughput per service station (1,362 kliters) increased by 156 kliters from 2020
(1,206 Kliters). Eni’s retail market share of 2021 was 22.3%, slightly down from 2020 (23.2%).

As of December 31,2021, Eni’s retail network in Italy consisted of 4,078 service stations, lower by 56 units from
December 31, 2020 (4,134 service stations), resulting from the negative balance of acquisitions/releases of
lease concessions (65 units), a decrease of 4 motorway concession/acquisitions, partly offset by the positive
balance of acquisitions/releases of network owned stations (13 units).

RETAIL AND WHOLESALES SALES OF REFINED PRODUCTS
(mmtonnes) 2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.

Italy 11.14 10.31 13.49 0.83 8.1
Retail sales 5.12 4.56 5.81 0.56 12.3
Gasoline 1.38 1.16 1.44 0.22 19.0
Gasoil 3.38 3.10 3.95 0.28 9.0
LPG 0.31 0.27 0.38 0.04 14.8
Others 0.05 0.03 0.04 0.02 66.7
Wholesale sales 6.02 5.75 7.68 0.27 4.7
Gasoil 3.11 3.11 3.41 0.00 0.0
Fuel Oil 0.03 0.02 0.06 0.01 50.0
LPG 0.17 0.18 0.18  (0.01) (5.6)
Gasoline 0.34 0.30 0.47 0.04 133
Lubricants 0.08 0.08 0.08 0.00 0.0
Bunker 0.59 0.63 077  (0.04) (6.3)
Jet fuel 0.92 0.70 1.92 0.22 31.4
Other 0.78 0.73 0.79 0.05 6.8
Outside Italy (retail+wholesale) 4.82 4.93 5.55 (0.11) (2.2)
Gasoline 1.06 113 1.31 (0.07) (6.2)
Gasoll 2.78 2.73 3.02 0.05 1.8
Jet fuel 0.07 0.09 029  (0.02) (222
Fuel Qil 0.08 0.13 0.09 (0.05) (38.5)
Lubricants 0.11 0.09 0.09 0.02 22.2
LPG 0.53 0.50 0.50 0.038 6.0
Other 0.19 0.26 025  (0.07)  (26.9)

TOTAL RETAIL AND WHOLESALES SALES 15.96 15.24 19.04 0.72 4.7
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Retail sales in the Rest of Europe

Retail sales in the Rest of Europe were 2.117 mmtonnes, recorded an increase from 2020 (up by 2.9%) as
a result of higher sold volumes in Austria, France and Spain benefitting from the economic recovery and
greater mobility of people.

At December 31, 2021, Eni's retail network in the Rest of Europe consisted of 1,236 units, increasing by 1 unit
from December 31, 2020, mainly in Spain balanced by the retail network closer in Switzerland and France. Average
throughput (2,025 kliters) increased by 45 kliters compared to 2020 (1,980 Kliters).

Wholesale and other sales
Wholesale sales in Italy amounted to 6.02 mmtonnes, increasing by 4.7% from the full year of 2020, due to
lower impact of the restrictive measures and the resumption of air transport.

Wholesale sales in the Rest of Europe were 2.19 mmtonnes, down by 8.8% from 2020 particularly in Germany,
Switzerland and Austria.

Supplies of feedstock to the petrochemical industry (0.52 mmtonnes) decreased by 14.8%. Other sales in
ltaly and outside Italy (11.49 mmtonnes) increased by 1.26 mmtonnes or up by 12.3% mainly due to higher
volumes sold to oil companies.

CHEMICALS
PRODUCT AVAILABILITY

(ktonnes) 2021 2020 2019  Change % Ch.
Intermediates 6,284 5861 5818 423 7.2
Polymers 2184 2211 2,250 (27) (12)
Biochem 8 1 7 .
Production of petrochemicals 8,476 8,073 8,068 403 5.0
Moulding & Compounding 20 20
Total productions 8,496 8,073 8,068 423 5.2
Consumption and losses (4590)  (4366) (4307) (224) (5.1)
Purchases and change in inventories 565 632 534 67) (10.6)
Total availability 4,471 4,339 4,295 132 3.0
Intermediates 2,648 2,539 2,519 109 4.3
Polymers 1,771 1,790 1,766 (19) 1.7)
Oilfield chemicals 24 9 10 15
Biochem 8 1 7 .
Sales of petrochemicals 4,451 4,339 4,295 112 2.6
Moulding & Compounding 20 20
TOTAL SALES 4,471 4,339 4,295 132 3.0

Petrochemical sales of 4,451 ktonnes slightly increased from 2020 (up by 112 ktonnes, or 2.6%) thanks
to the macroeconomic growth and the rebound in demand in leading sectors, such as packaging, durable
goods sector and the recovery of the automotive sector.

This performance also reflects the ability to capture additional sales volumes thanks to the greater
availability of the plants obtained by reprogramming the multi-year standstill, to reap the benefits from
the recovery in demand e and the reduction in imports from producer countries (USA and Middle East),
also as result of temporary product shortages.

Average unit sales prices of the intermediates business increased by 56.3% from 2020, with aromatics
and olefins up by 84.7% and 52.9%, respectively. The polymers reported an increase of 66.6% from 2020.
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Petrochemical production of 8,476 ktonnes up by 403 ktonnes from 2020 due to higher production of inter-
mediates business (up by 423 ktonnes), in particular olefins; these higher volumes were partially offset by
lower productions of styrenics down by 78 ktonnes from 2020.

The main increases in production were registered at the Priolo site (up by 527 ktonnes) and in Dunkerque (up
by 221 ktonnes), offset by lower volumes processed at Brindisi (down by 207 ktonnes) and Porto Marghera
(down by 140 ktonnes).

Nominal capacity of plants were substantially unchanged from 2020. The average plant utilization rate calcu-
lated on nominal capacity was 66%, (65% in 2020).

BUSINESS TRENDS

Intermediates

Intermediates revenues (€2,166 million) increased by €837 million from 2020 (up by 63%) reflecting
both the increase of commodity prices scenario and the higher product availability. Sales increased,
in particular for olefins (up by 7.6%). Average unit prices increased by 56.3%, in particular aromatics
(up by 84.7%), olefins (up by 52.9%) and derivatives (up by 50.1%). Intermediates production (6,284
ktonnes) registered an increase of 7.2% from 2020. Significant increases were recorded in aromatics
(up by 14.2%) and in olefines (up by 7.2%). In reduction derivatives (down by 7.3%).

Polymers

Polymers revenues (€3,114 million) increased by €1,226 million or 64.9% from 2020 due to the decrease of
the average unit prices (up by 66.6%). The styrenics business benefitted of the increase of prices sale (up
by 68.9%) despite the decrease of sold volumes (-7.9%) due to the lower product availability as a result of
the maintenance standstills in Mantova.

The decrease of volumes were mainly attributable to GPPS (down by 23%), ABS (down by 16.6%) and compact
polystyrene (down by 3.3%), these lower volumes were partly offset by higher sales of styrene (up by 13.4%).

In the elastomers business, an increase of sold volumes (up by 11.4%) was attributable to lattices (up
by 23.6%), EPR (up by 40.5%), and SBR rubbers (up by 14.8%). Overall, the sold volumes of polyethylene
business reported a slight reduction (down by 1.4 %) with lower sales of HDPE and LDPE (down by
10.3% and 3.4%, respectively), partly offset by higher sales of EVA (up by 6.4%); in addition, average
sales prices increased (up by 73.9%). Polymers productions (2,184 ktonnes) decreased from the
2020 due to the lower productions of styrenics (down by 7.9%), partly offset by higher production of
elastomers (up by 13.4%).

Oilfield Chemicals, Biochem e Moulding & Compounding
Qilfiled chemicals revenues (€65 million) increased by 16.1% (up by €9 million compared to 2020) as a
result of the increase in sales volumes (15 ktonnes) following the effect of the new contracts signed.

Biochem business revenues (€60 million) increased by €54 million from 2020 and mainly refer to sales of
disinfectant produced at the Crescentino plant. The amount also includes the share of revenue from sales
of energy produced at the biomass power plant at the Crescentino hub.

Moulding & Compounding business revenues of €70 million refer to 20 ktonnes of products sold, following
the consolidation of the Finproject group on October 1, 2021. The amount includes compounding activities
for €21 million, moulding for €24 million and the Padanaplast activities for €25 million.
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Plenitude & Power

Ebitda Plenitude

€O.6bln

Achieved the target of >2GW of installed
capacity and under construction

785 bln cm

Retail gas sales vs. 2020: +2%

16.49 wn

Retail power sales to end
customers vs. 2020: +32% thanks to the
growth of activities in Italy and abroad

986 cwn

Production from renewables sources
almost triplied vs. 2020

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Eni Annual Report 2021

Total recordable incident rate (TRIR)®
of which: employees

contractors

Plenitude

Retail and business gas sales

Retail and business power sales to end customers
Retail/business customers

Energy production from renewable sources

Installed capacity from renewables at period end

Power
Power sales in the open market
Thermoelectric production
Employees at year end

of which: outside Italy

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)®

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)/equivalent produced electricity

(Eni Power)®

(total recordable injuries/worked hours) x 1,000,000

(becm)
(Twh)
(milion of POD)
(GWh)
(MW)

(TWh)
(number)

(mmtonnes CO,eq.)

(9C0,eq./kWh eq.)

0.29
0.49
0.00

7.85
16.49
10.04

986
1,137

28.54
22.36
2,464

600
10.03

380

0.32
0.00
0.73

7.68
12.49
9.70
340
335

25.33
20.95
2,092
413
9.63

391

2021 2019

0.62
0.30
0.95

8.62
10.92
9.55

174

28.28
21.66
2,056

358
10.22

394

(a) Calculated on 100% operated assets.
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Retail customers and business Plenitude installed capacity
(min of POD)

O ltal
- o - S5 ([ Ausytralwa
@ France
O Pakistan
2019 2020 2021 @ UsA
@ Kazakhstan

© Clientipower O Clienti gas ® o
O Spain

Retail gas sales in Italy

0.72 . Evolution of EBIT adjusted (€ min)
0.30 O Resellers

0.24 @ Industries 405 e

370
@ small and medium-sized
enterprises and services

@ Residential

2019 2020 2021

Performance of the year

» The total recordable injury rate (TRIR) of the workforce improved by 9.3% compared to the 2020, as a result of
the excellent performance obtained by contractors.

» Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) reported an increase (up by 4% compared to 2020), due to the growth of the
productions at the power generation sites.

» Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)/equivalent produced electricity reported a decreasing trend from 2020
(down by 3%) following the reduced use of syngas at the Ferrera Erbognone plant.

» Energy production from renewable sources amounted to 986 GWh, almost triplied from the comparative
period (340 GWh in 2020) due to the contribution of the acquired assets in operation in Italy, the United States,
France and Spain.

» As of December 31, 2021, the installed capacity from renewables was 1.137 MW: 51% attributable to wind
farms and 48% attributable to photovoltaic plants (installed storage capacity of 1%).

» Retail and business gas sales amounted to 7.85 bcm, up by 2% compared to 2020, as a result of the lower
impact of COVID-19 and Aldro Energia acquisition.

» Retail and business power sales to end customers amounted to 16.49 TWh, recording an increase of 32%
benefitting from Aldro Energia acquisition, as well as the development of the activities in Italy and abroad.

» Power sales in the open market amounted to 28.54 TWh, up by 13% following the higher volumes sold to the
Power Exchange.

Portfolio valorization

As part of initiatives to extract value from portfolio restructuring by creating independent vehicles focused
on attracting capital, creating value and accelerating growth, started the listing process for Plenitude, the Eni's
subsidiary which comprises Gas & Power retail activities, renewables and e-mobility, with the strategic goal of
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decarbonizing Eni's customer portfolio, contributing to achieve the reduction target on GHG Scope 3 emissions.
The establishment of the new company Plenitude is part of the Eni's strategy and long-term commitment to be a
decarbonization energy company and focused on sustainability. The decision is in line with a favorable industrial
scenario, with the growth in demand of renewables energies and green energy products for retail client.

On 14 March 2022, Eni signed an agreement with the investment company Sixth Street for the sale of the 49%
share in EniPower which owns six gas power plants. This agreement, subject to certain conditions precedent and
authorizations of the competent Authorities, is part of Eni's strategy to enhance its assets and generate resources for
the energy transition. Eni will mantain the operative control of EniPower as well as the consolidation of the company.

Portfolio developments

» Inline with the strategy of decarbonization and energy transition of product and process, finalized the acquisition
of 100% of Be Power Spa, a company that through its subsidiary Be Charge is the second Italian operator for
installing and operating EV charging columns with over 6,000 charging points. Be Power manages its own
charging stations and those of other operators through a proprietary technology platform and provides charging
services to drivers of electric vehicles on its own or third-party charging stations through a dedicated app.

» Evolvere, Plenitude’s subsidiary, completed the acquisition of a 100% stake in PV Family, an innovative start-
up that manages My Solar Family, the largest digital commmunity of prosumer (consumers/energy producers),
in Italy with over 80 thousand subscribers. The acquisition of the capital has the objective to combine the
Evolvere's supply and digital community services, in a market context that promotes a new energy model
where the customer evolves from a consumer to an energy producer. With this acquisition Evolvere confirms
the leadership in distributed generation from renewable sources in Italy and reaffirms the promotion of a new
energy model, decentralized and sustainable, contributing to the ongoing energy transition.

» Entry into the Iberian Peninsula through the 100% acquisition of Aldro Energia, active in the market of the sale
of electricity, gas and services in the residential segment with a portfolio of over 300,000 customers.

» Eni and CDP Equity established GreenlT, a new joint venture for the development, construction and
management of plants for the production of electricity from renewable sources in Italy. The JV's aim is to
reach a level of installed capacity of approximately T GW.

Business developments

Growth of the retail/business portfolio to 10 million points of delivery, up by over 300 thousand points
compared to December 31, 2020 (up 4%) leveraging on the growth in Greece and the acquisition of Aldro
Energia, engaged in the Spanish and Portuguese retail markets.

In 2021 continued the expansion in the national and international renewable energy market, with strong

acceleration in the build-up of renewable generation capacity, leveraging targeted tuck-in acquisitions that can

be quickly integrated into Eni's portfolio:

» In ltaly finalized the acquisition from Glennmont Partners (“Glennmont”) and PGGM Infrastructure Fund
("PGGM") of a portfolio of 13 onshore wind farms in Italy, for a total capacity of 315 MW;

» In Spain, finalized in October the acquisition from Azora Capital of 9 renewable energy projects consisting
of 3 wind facilities in operation and 1 under construction for a total of 234 MW and 5 photovoltaic projects
at an advanced stage of development for about 0.9 GW;

» In France and Spain finalized in October the acquisition of Dhamma Energy Group, owner of a pipeline of
photovoltaic projects with a target installed capacity of about 3 GW, and installations already in operation
or under construction with a capacity of approximately 120 MW,

» In Greece, in January 2022, acquired the Greek company Solar Konzept Greece “SKGR", owner of a portfolio
of photovoltaic plants in Greece with a pipeline of projects targeting about 800 MW, which will form the
basis for further development of the renewable portfolio in the country;

» Inthe UK offshore wind market finalized the agreement with Equinor and SSE Renewables for the acquisition
of the 20% interest in Dogger Bank C project worth (1.2 GW), the third phase of the largest offshore wind farm
in the world (3.6 GW) currently under construction in the UK North Sea. Production will start in different stages
in the 2023-2025 period.
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In February 2022 was expanded portfolio of renewable capacity in the United States through the acquisition
from BayWa r.e. with a total capacity of 466 MW in Texas, of which 266 MW referred to Corazon | Solar plant.
The plant began operations in August 2021, it will produce about 500 GWh each year, equivalent to eliminating
about 250 ktonnes of CO, emissions annually into the atmosphere. In the same location, acquired Guajillo
storage project, in advanced stage of development, with a capacity of around 200 MW/400 MWh.

In 2021, were signed a collaboration agreements to develop renewable plants with: Equinor (through
Vargrgnn) for the development of an offshore wind project in the Utsira Nord, with Red Rock Power in
order to make a joint bid to ScotWind proposition, and with Copenhagen Infrastructure Partners (CIP), as
part of the competition for allocation of marine concessions for the offshore wind farm development in
Polonia and for the subsequent participation in incentive mechanisms (contract-for-difference), which will
be auctioned between 2025 and 2027.

E-mobility

As a part of the initiative for the development of the e-mobility sector in Italy, signed an agreement with Hyundai with
the aim to expand the range of products for recharging electric cars and to encourage energy efficiency. Thanks
to this agreement, Hyundai dealers will be able to offer their customers the purchase and the installation of the
Plenitude E-start charging stations. Hyundai can also install charging stations and photovoltaic plants at their own
dealerships, and adopt Plenitude’s energy efficiency solutions.

The agreements signed in December with Enel X and Be Charge will permit to activate grid interoperability, allowing
access to the widest national charging network of about 20,000 charging points. This synergy is part of Eni's
broader strategy for the mobility of the future, which includes the evolution of the current service stations, mobility
points at which we plan, among other things, to offer fast and ultra-fast charging for electric mobility.

PLENITUDE
RETAIL GAS & POWER

GAS DEMAND

Eni operates in a liberalized market where energy customers are allowed to choose the gas supplier and, according
to their specific needs, to evaluate the quality of services and offers. Overall Eni supplies 10 million retail clients (gas
and electricity) in Italy and Europe. In particular, clients located all over Italy are 7.8 million.

GAS SALES BY MARKET
(bem) 2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.

ITALY 5.14 517 5.49 (0.03) (0.6)
Resellers 0.24 0.23 0.33 0.01 4.3
Industries 0.30 0.28 0.30 0.02 71
Small and medium-sized enterprises and services 0.72 0.70 0.87 0.02 29
Residential 3.88 3.96 3.99 (0.08) (2.0)
INTERNATIONAL SALES 2.7 2.51 3.13 0.20 8.0
European markets:

France 217 2.08 2.69 0.09 4.3
Greece 0.39 0.34 0.35 0.05 14.7
Other 0.15 0.09 0.09 0.06 66.7
RETAIL AND BUSINESS GAS SALES 7.85 7.68 8.62 0.17 2.2

RETAIL AND BUSINESS GAS SALES

In 2021, retail and business gas sales in Italy and in the rest of Europe amounted to 7.85 becm, up by 0.17 bcm
or 2% from the previous year. Sales in Italy amounted to 5.14 bcm were substantially unchanged from 2020,
the reduction reported in the residential segment was mitigated by the higher volumes marketed at small and
medium enterprises and resellers segments.

Sales in the European markets (2.71 bcm) are increasing of 8% or 0.20 bcm compared to 2020. Highest
sales were recorded in France, Greece and Spain benefiting from the lower impact of the COVID-19 from the
comparative period as well as the acquisition of Aldro Energia.
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RETAIL AND BUSINESS POWER SALES TO END CUSTOMERS

In 2021, retail power sales to end customers amounted to 16.49 TWh, managed by Plenitude and the
subsidiaries in France and Greece and Spain increase by 32% from 2020, due to growth of retail customers
portfolio (up by 4% customers vs. 2020) thanks to the acquisition of Aldro Energia and the development of
activities in Italy and abroad.

RENEWABLES

Eni is engaged in the renewable energy business (solar and wind) aiming at developing, constructing and
managing renewable energy producing plant. Eni's targets in this field will be reached by leveraging on an
organic development of a diversified and balanced portfolio of assets, integrated with selective asset and
projects acquisitions as well as international strategic partnership.

ENERGY FROM RENEWABLE SOURCES
2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.

Energy production from renewable sources (GWh) 986 340 61 646
of which: photovoltaic 398 223 61 175
wind 588 116 472
of which: Italy 400 112 53 288
outside Italy 586 227 7 359
of which: own consumption® 8% 23% 60%

(*) Electricity for Eni's production sites consumptions.

Energy production from renewable sources amounted to 986 GWh (of which 398 GWh photovoltaic and 588
GWh wind) up by 646 GWh compared to 2020. The increase in production compared to the previous year
benefitted from the entry in operations of new capacity, mainly for the contribution of assets already operating
in Italy, France, Spain and United States.

Follows breakdown of the installed capacity by Country and technology:

INSTALLED CAPACITY AT PERIOD END (ENI'S SHARE)
2021 2020 2019  Change % Ch.

Installed capacity from renewables at period end (MW) 1,137 335 174 802 239.4
of which: photovoltaic 48% 77% 76%
wind 51% 20% 20%
installed storage capacity 1% 3% 4%
(technology) (MW) 2021 2020 2019
Italy fotovoltaic 116 12 82
Outside Italy 436 160 58
Algeria® fotovoltaic 5 5
Australia fotovoltaic 64 64 39
France fotovoltaic 108
Pakistan fotovoltaic 10 10 10
Tunisia® fotovoltaic 9
United States fotovoltaic 254 72
TOTAL PHOTOVOLTAIC INSTALLED CAPACITY 552 272 140
Italy wind 350
Outside Italy 235 63 34
Kazakhstan wind 91 48 34
Spain wind 129
United States wind 15 15
TOTAL WIND INSTALLED CAPACITY 585 63 34
TOTAL INSTALLED CAPACITY AT PERIOD END (INCLUDING INSTALLED STORAGE POWER) 1,137 335 174
of which installed storage power 7 8 7

(*) Assets transferred to other segments in the fourth quarter of 2021.
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At the end of 2021, the total installed and sanctioned capacity amounted to 1,137 MW +802 MW from 2020
mainly relating to acquisition in Italy (+315 MW, onshore wind), Spain (+129 MW, onshore wind) e France
(+108 MW, photovoltaic), carried out during the second half of 2021, as well as the acquisition in United
States (+182 MW, photovoltaic), and the completion of three plants in Puglia (+35 MW, onshore wind).

E-MOBILITY

In a context of the mobility market that includes a constant increase in the number of electric vehicles in
circulation in Italy and in Europe, Plenitude, thanks to the acquisition of Be Charge, disposes one of the
largest and most widespread networks of public charging infrastructure for electric vehicles.

As of December 31, 2021, there are more than 6,200 charging points distributed throughout the country.
These stations are smart and user-friendly, monitored 24 hours a day by a help desk and accessible via the
mobile app. Within the sector chain, Be Charge plays both the role of manager and owner of the charging
infrastructure network (CPO - Charge Point Operator), and that of charging and electric mobility service
provider working directly with electric vehicle users (EMSP - Electric Mobility Service Provider). Be Charge
charging stations are Quick (up to 22 kW) alternating current, Fast (up to 150 kW) or HyperCharge (above
150 kW) direct current type.

POWER

AVAILABILITY OF ELECTRICITY

Eni's power generation sites are located in Brindisi, Ferrera Erbognone, Ravenna, Mantova, Ferrara and
Bolgiano. As of December 31, 2021, installed operational capacity of Enipower's power plants was 4.5
GW. In 2021, thermoelectric power generation was 22.36 TWh, increase 1.41 TWh from the previous year.
Electricity trading (22.79 TWh) reported an increase of 33% from 2020, thanks to the optimization of inflows
and outflows of power.

POWER SALES IN THE OPEN MARKET
In 2021, power sales in the open market were 28.54 TWh, representing an increase of 13% compared to 2020,
due to higher volumes marketed at Power Exchange.

2021 2020 2019  Change % Ch.

Purchases of natural gas (mmcm) 4,670 4,346 4410 324 7.5
Purchases of other fuels (ktoe) 93 160 276 (67) (41.9)
Power generation (TWh) 22.36 20.95 21.66 1.41 6.7
Steam (ktonnes) 7,362 7,591 7,646 (229) (3.0)

AVAILABILITY OF ELECTRICITY

(Twh) 2021 2020 2019  Change % Ch.
Power generation 22.36 20.95 21.66 1.41 6.7
Trading of electricity® 22.79 17.09 17.83 5.70 334
Availability 4515 38.04 39.49 7.1 18.7
Power sales in the open market 28.54 25.33 28.28 3.21 12.7

(a) Includes positive and negative imbalances (difference between the electricity effectively fed-in and as scheduled)
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Environmental activities

around 2 mIn tonnes
total waste managed

around 7 3 % recovered

VvS. recoverable waste

around 9 5% areas

with approved decree
on total contaminated areas
in sites of national priority

present in over 1 O O

sites of regional

and national priority
Eni global contractor

The Group’s environmental activities are developed by Eni Rewind, the Eni's company that operates
in line with the principles of the circular economy to give new life to land, water and waste resources,
industrial or deriving from reclamation activities, through sustainable reclamation and revaluation
projects, both in Italy and abroad.

Through its integrated end-to-end model, Eni Rewind guarantees the supervision of every phase of the
process reclamation and waste management, planning, from the early stages, the projects of enhancement
and reuse of resources (soils, water, waste), making them available for new development opportunities.

Reclamation activities

Coherently with the expertise gained and in agreement with the institutions and stakeholders, Eni Rewind
identifies the projects for enhancement and reuse of reclaimed areas, allowing the environmental
recovery of former industrial area and the resumption of the local economy. In this context, during
2021, were identified suitable areas for the installation of photovoltaic and wind plants.

In 2021, Eni Rewind, owner of the Ponticelle area in Ravenna, a disused industrial area outside the petrochemical
plant of Ravenna, obtained the certification for the activities of Permanent Safety Measures (MISP), with the
realization of a capping. In addition, was started a redevelopment plan production that includes the application
of innovative, sustainable and recovery technologies, as well as to the urbanization works of the area. In the
area object of MISP is planned the construction of a photovoltaic plant and a biorecovery platform for the
subsequent reuse of land and management of industrial waste. In particular, the latter will be managed by
HEA SpA, a joint venture between Eni Rewind and Herambiente Servizi Industriali established in March 2021.
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Water & Waste Management

Eni Rewind manages water treatment, aimed at reclamation activities, through an integrated aquifer
interception system and the conveyance of water for purification to treatment plants.

Currently 42 treatment plants are fully in operation and in Italy, with over 36 million cubic meters of treated
water in 2021. Continued the activities of automation and digitalization of groundwater treatment plants and
implementation of the remote control. The activity of recovery and reuse of treated water for the production
of demineralized water is ongoing for industrial use, as part of the operational plans for the remediation of
contaminated sites. In 2021 about 9 million cubic meters of water have been reused after treatment, with an
increase of over 3 million cubic meters compared to 2020.

During 2021, completed the installation of 44 devices using the proprietary technology E-Hyrec® for the
selective removal of hydrocarbons from groundwater, allowing the improvement of the effectiveness and
efficiency of groundwater reclamation, with significant reductions in extraction times and avoiding the disposal
of more than 1,000 tons of waste equivalent.

In addition, are ongoing the activities related to the application of Blue Water technology, aimed at treatment
and the recovery of production water deriving from crude oil extraction activities. It's underway the preliminary
inquiry for obtaining authorizations from Local Authorities to carry out the first plant on an industrial scale in
the Val d’Agri Qil Center in Viggiano, in the Region of Basilicata.

Eni Rewind also operates as Eni's competence center for management of waste deriving from Eni’s
environmental remediation activities and production activities in ltaly, thanks to its model that, by
adopting the best technological solutions available on the market, allows to minimize costs and
environmental impacts.
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During 2021, Eni Rewind managed a total of approximately 1.9 million tonnes’ of waste by sending for recovery
or disposal at external plants.

In particular, the recovery index (ratio of recovered/recoverable waste) in 2021 was 73%: the slight
decrease compared to 2020 (78%) is due to the qualitative and particle size characteristics of the
reclamation waste, detected during characterization, which prevented and/or limited its recovery
compared to the previous year, as well as a reduction in availability from external plants, in order to
recovery, in specific regions of ltaly.

Relating to waste management in line with the principles of the circular economy, the valorization of
resources and synergy with the territory, continues the company’s commitment to the development of
the Eni's proprietary ‘Waste to Fuel technology that treats the organic fraction of municipal waste to
produce bio-oil and biomethane, as well as recovering the water that constitutes the main component
of the so-called “wet”, for new industrial and irrigation uses.

Certification

In 2021 Eni Rewind obtained SOA Certification, the mandatory certification for participation in
tenders to execute public works contracts with a basic auction amount exceeding €150,000, for its
core activities in the OG 12 Reclamation and protection works and plants environmental and in the
specialized categories OS 22 Drinking water and purification plants and OS 14 — Waste disposal and
recovery plants.

Not-captive initiatives

Starting from 2020, Eni Rewind has expanded the scope of its activities outside the group. In 2021,
continued the activities related to the finalization of contracts with Edison, for the reclamation of
the Mantova site and Altomonte (Cosenza) and with Acciaierie d'ltalia, for the design of reclamation
interventions of the former Ilva area in Taranto.

In addition completed the qualification processes as a supplier for important national and international
operators (Arcadis, MOL Group, Edison, Tamoil, TOTAL, Q8, ADNOC).

Started the participation in several tenders with leading national operators, awarding the contract with
ANAS, for survey and characterization services in the Adriatic area (Emilia Romagna, Marche, Abruzzo,
Molise, Puglia), where Eni Rewind will provide chemical analysis service, through its environmental
laboratories.

Signed collaboration agreements with main Italian companies that manage collection and processing
of urban waste and with key players in the supply chain (CONAI). These agreements are aimed at
assessing the opportunity of setting up new waste treatment and recovery plants on reclaimed land or
will become available following the progressive conversion of Eni’s refining and chemical sites.

(1) The volume includes waste deriving from the management of the environmental activities of the points of sale network (about 92 ktonnes),
whose “producer” is the same environmental company in charge of the execution out the work.
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Eni Rewind outside Italy

Eni Rewind, starting from 2018, has made its expertise available to Eni’'s subsidiaries located in foreign
countries for environmental issues, in particular for management and enhancement activities of the
water resource, soil, as well as training and knowledge sharing.

In January 2021, Eni Rewind signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with the National Authority
for oil and gas of the Kingdom of Bahrain (NOGA) with the target to identify and promote joint initiatives
for the management, recovery and reuse of water and soil resources and waste in the country. In October,
an assessment was carried out at the petrochemical plants and refining of the Kingdom of Bahrain which
has identified three possible areas of activity for Eni Rewind related to groundwater modeling, waste
management and field testing of the proprietary E-Hyrec® technology.

Eni Rewind obtained the qualification as a supplier to Abu Dhabi Oil Company (ADNOC) for the activities of
demolition and reclamation.

Completed the feasibility studies on the optimization of waste water management and process water
through its reuse for plants located in Algeria and Libya and extended the design services to foreign
subsidiaries for environmental activities and decommissioning of the operative and disposed points sales.
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Possible evolution in respect of the war in Ukraine

The crisis in the relationship between Russia and Ukraine that
in February 2022 gave rise to the Russian military invasion and
an open conflict on a large scale with violent armed clashes and
tragic loss of human lives, constitutes a macroeconomic risk.
Possible outcomes of this situation might include a prolonged
armed conflict, a possible escalation in the military action, risks
of expansion of the ongoing geopolitical crisis and a further
tightening up of the economic sanctions against Russia.
These factors could result in a scenario that could eventually
sap consumers’ confidence, deter investment decisions by
operators and cripple industrial activities derailing the global
recovery or, in the worst of the outcomes, triggering a new
worldwide recession. This scenario would drive a reduction in
hydrocarbons demands and of commodity prices and would
adversely and significantly affect our results of operations and
cash flow, as well as business prospects, with a possible lower
remuneration of our shareholders.

Shortly after the outbreak of hostilities with the Russian invasion
of Ukraine, the European Union, the USA, and the UK imposed a
raft of stringent economic and financial sanctions against Russia,
which have been added to those already in force since 2014.

The new restrictions have mainly targeted the Russian
financial sector, precluding access to funding from US and
EU-based financial institutions and several relevant Russian
entities operating in the Oil & Gas sector. Currently, the new
sanctions continue to permit the purchase of oil, natural gas
and refined products exported by Russian entities, or the
maintenance of business relationships with certain Russian
entities; however, as long as the conflict continues, it is
possible that increasingly tight sanctions could be imposed.
Furthermore, the situation in the marketplace has evolved
concurrently, as many Western traders, oil companies, refiners
and brokers have begun reducing purchases of crude oil from
Russia giving rise to a sort of a private market sanctioning
system. Finally, the President of the USA signed an executive
order to ban all imports of Russian energy products. Those
developments have destabilized energy markets as evidenced
by the material discount of the Ural Russian crude benchmark,
triggering a spike in market volatility and propelling the Brent
price at about 130 $/bbl in the last days of February and

into early March 2022. Natural gas prices for the continental
Europe spot benchmark surged to new all-time highs driven by
fears of supply disruptions (approximately €200 Mwh).

This volatility could increase counterparty and margining risks
(see the section “Risk factors and uncertainties”).

Eni's current presence in Russia is insignificant. Exploration
projects in the Russian upstream are in a shut-down phase,
also due to certain sanctions already in force before the recent
crisis, and the related costs have been entirely impaired in
previous reporting periods. Eni holds a stake in the Blue Stream
pipeline that transports russian-sourced gas across the Black
Sea, jointly marketed by Eni and Gazprom to Turkey's state-
owned company Botas. It represents a non-significant value
in Eni's balance sheet. Management is considering different
options for a possible sale of this stake.

The most significant transactions between Eni and its Russian
counterparts concern the purchase of natural gas from the
Russian state company Gazprom on the basis of the long-term
take-or-pay contracts (in 20271 about 22 billion cubic meters
for the ltalian market). Eni's gas portfolio availability from
other geographies, access to transport capacities, contracts
flexibility and presence in the LNG segment (in particular
through the Damietta plant) as well as long-term relations with
producing countries (primarily Algeria and Libya) are all options
that the Company can activate in the event of unpredictable
scenarios of sanctions by the international community against
Russian Oil & Gas.

As far as crude oil supplies are concerned, although Eni's
refining system has always processed Ural crudes, plants
flexibility and trading skills in the supply eventually allow us to
replace this crude oil in our processes.

Furthermore, in certain upstream projects in different countries
in the world the counterparties are Russian.

Any decision on such presence is on behalf of the State
Companies of the Countries where these initiatives are located.
Eni has taken the necessary measures to ensure that its
activities are carried out in accordance with the applicable
rules, ensuring continuous monitoring of the evolution of the
sanctioning framework, to adapt its activities on an ongoing
basis to the restrictions applicable from time to time.
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Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

The macroeconomic environment has gradually improved
during 2021 due to the effective vaccination campaigns
against the COVID-19 disease, together with measures to
contain the spread of the virus, particularly in OECD Countries,
allowing for a phased reopening of the economic activities
and increasing mobility of people. The expansionary monetary
policies adopted by the central banks and the large scale
fiscal stimulus launched by the governments supported
consumptions and investments. In this context, the demand
for hydrocarbons and the prices of commodities, main driver
of the Group’s financial results, recorded a significant rebound.
Global energy demand first stabilized and then unexpectedly
increased inthe last quarter of the year, driven by an acceleration
in the pace of the economic recovery, resulting in an increase in
the average price of oil for the year by 70% vs. 2020 at about 71
S$/barrel, while natural gas prices recorded material increases
(in the order of several hundreds percentage points) due to a
particularly tight market. These trends were the basis of the
strong recovery in profitability in the Exploration & Production
and Global Gas & LNG Portfolio segments, and to a lesser
extent a solid performance of the chemical business line,
driven by a recovery in demand for commaodities.

The Refining & Marketing business has continued to be
weighted down by the effects of the pandemic, due to

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
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weak demands for jet fuel that penalized the profitability
of traditional refineries by creating an oversupply of gasoil
leading to significantly lower products spreads. The
profitability was also affected by the higher costs of gas-
indexed energy and plant utilities and the higher costs for
the purchase of emission allowances to comply with the
environmental obligations of the European ETS, which more
than doubled due to a recovery in industrial activities and as
consumption of coal increased signficantly due to its cost-
competitiveness against natural gas to fire power generation
and to produce steam.

Overall, 2027 saw a significant rebound in consolidated
results which closed with a profit of €5.82 billion compared
to a loss of €8.64 billion in 2020 and an operating cash flow
of €12.86 billion, which increased by approximately €8 billion
compared to 2020.

Looking to the future, the main risks for the Group'’s financial
performance are linked to the possibility of the spread of
new vaccine-resistant variants of the virus, as well as the
resumption of inflation driven by the spill-over effects through
the supply chains of increased raw material costs as the
ultimate, unintended effect of accommodative monetary
policies and big tax measures adopted to help the economy
recover from the fallout of the pandemic.

(€ million) 2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.
Sales from operations 76,575 43,987 69,881 32,588 74.1
Other income and revenues 1,196 960 1,160 236 24.6
Operating expenses (58,716)  (36,640)  (54,302)  (22,076) (60.3)
Other operating income (expense) 903 (766) 287 1,669 .
Depreciation, depletion, amortization (7,063) (7,304) (8,106) 241 33
Net impairment reversals (losses) of tangible and intangible
and right-of-use assets (167) (3,183) (2,188) 3,016 94.8
Write-off of tangible and intangible assets (387) (329) (300) (58) (17.6)
Operating profit (loss) 12,341 (3,275) 6,432 15,616 .
Finance income (expense) (788) (1,045) (879) 257 24.6
Income (expense) from investments (868) (1,658) 193 790 47.6
Profit (loss) before income taxes 10,685 (5,978) 5,746 16,663 .
Income taxes (4,845) (2,650) (5,591) (2,195) (82.8)
Tax rate (%) 45.3 97.3
Net profit (loss) 5,840 (8,628) 155 14,468
attributable to:
- Eni's shareholders 5,821 (8,635) 148 14,456
- Non-controlling interest 19 7 7 12
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Eni's 2021 results were markedly influenced by the recoveryin the
energy commodity price scenario. In 2021 the average reference
price of the Brent marker was 71 $/bbl, +70% compared to
2020. The European gas market was characterized by extreme
conditions due to the tight supply and uncertainties on supplies
from Russia: spot price at the continental hub “TTF” reached an
average of 46 €/MWh, increasing by more than 300%; aligned
values for the Italian spot price "PSV".

Similar conditions were recorded in the wholesale electricity
market with the Italian “PUN" price at an average 125 €/MWh, +86%
compared to 2020, peaking at 440 €/MWh in the fourth quarter
of the year. Eni's refining margin (Standard Eni Refining Margin)
continued to fell during the last year with the average of the period
falling to a negative -0.9 $/bbl (a positive 1.7 $/bbl in 2020).
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The weak trend recorded during the year reached a further
bearish acceleration in the last quarter of the year, particularly
in the last month, due to the exceptional gas prices affecting
both the cost of processing and refinery utilities, in addition to
the pre-existing factors of recovery in the cost of the oil charge
supported by OPEC + production management and weakness
of some outlet markets depressing spreads of the products,
in particular jet fuel and diesel, due to oversupply. In addition,
recorded increased cost of emission allowances to comply
with the European ETS.

2021 cracker margin, reference marker forthe chemical business,
declined by 11%; elastomers, styrenic and polyethylene spreads
were steady.

2021 2020 2019 % Ch.
Average price of Brent dated crude oil in U.S. dollars® 70.73 41.67 64.30 69.7
Average EUR/USD exchange rate® 1.183 1.142 1.119 3.6
Average price of Brent dated crude oil in euro 59.80 36.49 57.44 63.9
Standard Eni Refining Margin (SERM)© (0.9) 1.7 43 (152.9)
PSV@ 487 12 171 334.8
TTF® 486 100 142 386.0
(a) Price per barrel. Source: Platt's Oilgram.

Source: ECB.

(b)
(c) In $/BBL FOB Mediterranean Brent dated crude oil. Source: Eni calculations. Approximates the margin of Eni's refining system in consideration of material balances and refineries’ product yields.
(d)

€/kem.

Adjusted results and breakdown of special items

Net profit attributable to Eni's shareholders was €5,821
million in 2021 compared to a loss of €8,635 million in the
previous year. Financial discipline and cost reduction initiatives
implemented to withstand the enduring impact of COVID-19
enabled Eni to capture the full upside of 2021's strong
economic recovery, allowing Eni to report excellent results
in a more favourable environment and in an energy scenario
with better fundamentals. Net profit recovered to pre-COVID

level, benefitting from the significant growth in operating profit
to €12,341 million compared to the operating loss of €3,275
million in 2020, affected by lockdown measures to contain the
spread of the COVID-19 pandemic. Finally, net income was
positively impacted by a tax rate returned to values in line with
the Group's historical averages.

The following tables report the breakdown of the operating profit
by business:

(€ million) 2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.
Exploration & Production 10,066 (610) 7,417 10,676
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 899 (332) 431 1,231
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 45 (2,463) (682) 2,508
Plenitude & Power 2,355 660 74 1.695 .
Corporate and other activities (816) (563) (688) (253) (44.9)
Impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination (208) 33 (120) (2471)
Operating profit (loss) 12,341 (3,275) 6,432 15,616
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Management determines adjusted results excluding improve understanding of the key businesses.
extraordinary gains/charges or special items, in order to
ADJUSTED RESULTS AND BREAKDOWN OF SPECIAL ITEM

(€ million) 2021 2020 2019  Change % Ch.
Operating profit (loss) 12,341 (3,275) 6,432 15,616
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses (1,491) 1,318 (223)
Exclusion of special items (1,186) 3,855 2,388
Adjusted operating profit (loss) 9,664 1,898 8,597 7,766 409.2
Breakdown by business segments:
Exploration & Production 9,293 1,547 8640 7,746 .
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 580 326 193 254 77.9
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 152 6 21 146 .
Plenitude & Power 476 465 370 11 24
Corporate and other activities (593) (507) (602) (86) (17.0)
Impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination and other consolidation adjustments (244) 61 (25) (305)
Net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders 5,821 (8,635) 148 14,456
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses (1,060) 937 (157)
Exclusion of special items (431) 6,940 2,885
Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders 4,330 (758) 2,876 5,088

In 2021, the adjusted operating profit was €9,664 million, a
recovery of significant proportions equal to an increase of
€7.8 billion or over 400% from 2020. This performance was
driven by the financial discipline and cost reduction initiatives
implemented to withstand the enduring impact of COVID-19
and enabled Eni to capture the recovery in energy scenario due
to a strong recovery in commodity prices driven by completely
different market conditions, which turned to balanced/
undersupplied compared to oversupplied markets a year ago
impacted by the pandemic COVID-19, due to the reopening of
the economies and a strong macroeconomic cycle which drove
hydrocarbons demands and significant drawdowns at global oil
and products inventories. Commodities supply was impacted by
capex plan reduction of oil companies in response to the crisis
of the COVID-19.

These trends resulted in robust price increases for all energy
commodities (in the full year 2021, Brent price was 70.73 S/
bbl on average up 70%; the Italian reference spot price “PSV”" of
natural gas was up 487 €/kcm, or 335%).

For a detailed disclosure of business performance, see “Results
by business segments”.

In 2021 Eni Group reported an adjusted net profit of €4,330
million driven by a better operating performance and a lower tax
rate (50% in 2021 compared to 175% in 2020).

Breakdown of special items

Net profit includes special items consisting of net gains of

€431 million, relating to the following:

i) the accounting effect of certain fair-valued commodity
derivatives lacking the formal criteria to be classified as

i)

vi)

hedges, as well as the fair value of forward contracts to
sell volumes of gas which were not accounted based on
the own use exemption (gains of €2,139 million);
reversals of previously recognized impairment losses
for €1,244 million relating to gas fields in Italy and
fields in Congo, Libya, the USA and Algeria, driven by an
improved hydrocarbon pricing environment;
impairment losses at refineries (approximately €900
million) relating to the book value of operated plants
and managed through JV in Italy and in Europe, driven
by expected decreasing cash flows reflecting lowered
outlook for refining margins and the forecast of higher
expenses for emission allowances, as well as the write-
down of capital expenditure relating to certain Cash
Generating Units in the R&M business. These units were
impaired in previous reporting periods and continued to
lack any profitability prospects (for an overall impact of
approximately €300 million);

the impairment of exploration projects (€247 million)
due to the refocusing of the portfolio with the exiting
from marginal areas;

the impairment of Chemical assets due to a deteriorated
margin scenario (€163 million);

the difference between the value of gas inventories
accounted for under the weighted-average cost method
provided by IFRS and management's own measure of
inventories, which moves forward at the time of inventory
drawdown the margins captured on volumes in inventories
above their normal levels leveraging the seasonal spread in
gas prices net of the effects of the associated commodity
derivatives (gains of €352 million);
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a currency other than the reporting currency for which
the reimbursement cash outflows are expected to be
matched by highly probable cash inflows from the sale
of production volumes, in the same currency as the
finance debt as part of a natural hedge relationship;

the alignment of raw material and products inventories
to their net realizable values at period end, impairments
and extraordinary charges at ADNOC Refining, for a
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vii)  environmental provisions (€271 million) mainly in the
R&M and Chemical segment;

viii)  provisions for redundancy incentives (€193 million);

iX)  risk provisions (€142 million);

x)  anallowance for doubtful accounts relating to receivables
net of finance expense (€109 million) in the E&P segment;  xii)

xi)  charges of €405 million relating to the JV Var Energi,
mainly driven by impairment losses recorded at Oil & Gas
assets due to delays in the start-up of certain projects total charges of €244 million;
and increasing opex as well as accrued currency  Xxiii)

Eni's share of non current charges/impairments relating

translation differences at finance debt denominated in to Saipem.

BREAKDOWN OF SPECIAL ITEMS

(€ million) 2021 2020 2019
Special items of operating profit (loss) (1,186) 3,855 2,388
- environmental charges 271 (25) 338
- impairment losses (impairments reversal), net 167 3183 2,188
- impairment of exploration projects 247
- net gains on disposal of assets (100) 9) (151)
- risk provisions 142 149 3
- provision for redundancy incentives 793 123 45
- commodity derivatives (2,139) 440 (439)
- exchange rate differences and derivatives 183 (160) 108
- other (150) 154 296
Net finance (income) expense (115) 152 (42)
of which:
- exchange rate differences and derivatives reclassified to operating profit (loss) (183) 160 (108)
Net (income) expense from investments 851 1,655 188
of which:
- gains on disposal of assets (46)
- impairments / revaluation of equity investments 851 1,207 148
Income taxes 19 1,278 351
Total special items of net profit (loss) (431) 6,940 2,885
The breakdown by segment of the adjusted net profit is provided in the table below:
(€ million) 2021 2020 2019  Change % Ch.
Exploration & Production 5,543 124 3,436 5419 .
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 169 211 100 (42) (19.9)
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 62 (246) (42) 308 .
Plenitude & Power 327 329 275 2) (0.6)
Corporate and other activities (1,576) (1,205) (866) (371) (30.8)
Impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination and other consolidation adjustments® (176) 36 (20) (212)
Adjusted net profit (loss) 4,349 (751) 2,883 5,100
attributable to:
- Eni's shareholders 4,330 (758) 2,876 5,088
- Non-controlling interest 19 7 7 12

(a) This item concerned mainly intragroup sales of commodities, services and capital goods recorded in the assets of the purchasing business segment as of end of the period.
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PROFIT AND LOSS ANALYSIS
REVENUES

(€ million) 2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.
Exploration & Production 21,742 13,590 23,572 8,152 60.0
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 20,843 7,051 11,779 13,792 195.6
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 40,374 25,340 42,360 15,034 59.3
- Refining & Marketing 36,5017 22,965 39,836 13,636 589
- Chemicals 5590 3387 4,123 2,203 65.0
- Consolidation adjustments (1,717) (1,012) (1,599)
Plenitude & Power 11,187 7,536 8,448 3,651 48.4
- Plenitude 7,452 6,020 6,424 1,432 23.8
- Power 3,996 1,894 2,476 2,102
- Consolidation adjustments (261) (378) (452)
Corporate and other activities 1,698 1,559 1,676 139 8.9
Consolidation adjustments (19,269)  (11,089)  (17,954) (8,180)
Sales from operations 76,575 43,987 69,881 32,588 74.1
Other income and revenues 1,196 960 1,160 236 24.6
Total revenues 77,771 44,947 71,041 32,824 73.0

Total revenues amounted to €77,771 million, reporting an
increase of 73% from 2020.

The acceleration of the global recovery, driven by the re-
opening of the world’'s economies, spurred a pent-up demand
for all kinds of energy commodities across all geographies,
determining the boost in all commodity prices.

Sales from operations in the full year of 2021 (€76,575 million)
increased by €32,588 million or up by 74.1% from 2020, with
the following breakdown:

4

revenues generated by the Exploration & Production
segment (€21,742 million) increased by 60% due to a better
price scenario, reflected on hydrocarbon realizations (up by
78% on average from 2020);

revenues generated by the Global Gas & LNG Portfolio
segment (€20,843 million) increased by €13,792 million or

OPERATING EXPENSES

up by 196%, reflecting higher spot prices for natural gas,
significantly improved in the fourth quarter of 2021, due to
short supply and uncertainty on flows of supplied gas as
well as higher volumes marketed, in particular of LNG;
revenues generated by the Refining & Marketing and
Chemicals segment (€40,374 million) increased by €15,034
million (up by approximately 60%) due to higher prices of
refined products (fuel up by 76% and gasoil up by 60%) and
plastics commodities, reflecting the economic recovery;
revenues generated by the Plenitude & Power segment
(€11,187 million) increased by €3,651 million or up by 48%,
due to increased commodity prices following the economic
recovery, the acquisition of Aldro Energia and the positive
performance of the extracommodity business and the
increase in the number of customers.

(€ million) 2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.

Purchases, services and other 55,549 33,551 50,874 21,998 65.6

Impairment losses (impairment reversals) of trade and other receivables, net 279 226 432 53 235

Payroll and related costs 2,888 2,863 2,996 25 0.9
of which: provision for redundancy incentives and other 193 123 45

58,716 36,640 54,302 22,076 60.3
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Operating expenses for 2021 (£58,716 million) increased by
€22,076 million from 2020, up by 60%. Purchases, services
and other (€55,549 million) were up by 66% vs. 2020,
mainly reflecting higher costs for hydrocarbon supplies
(gas under long-term supply contracts and refinery and
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chemical feedstocks). Payroll and related costs (€2,888
million) were almost unchanged from 2020 (up by €25
million, or by 0.9%), mainly due to the appreciation of the
euro against the USD, partly offset by higher provision for
redundancy incentives.

DEPRECIATION, DEPLETION, AMORTIZATION, IMPAIRMENTS (REVERSALS) AND WRITE-OFF

(€ million) 2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.
Exploration & Production 5976 6,273 7,060 (297) 4.7)
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 174 125 124 49 39.2
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 512 575 620 (63) (11.0)
- Refining & Marketing 417 488 530 (71) (14.5)
- Chemicals 95 87 90 8 9.2
Plenitude & Power 286 217 190 69 31.8
- Plenitude 241 172 135 69 40.1
- Power 45 45 55
Corporate and other activities 148 146 144 2 1.4
Impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination (33) (32) (32) ©)
Total depreciation, depletion and amortization 7,063 7,304 8,106 (247) 3.3)
e o i L 9 wm 2 o9 049
Depreciation, depletion, amortization, impairments and reversals, net 7,230 10,487 10,294 (3,257) (31.1)

Write-off of tangible and intangible assets

387 329 300 58 17.6
7617 10816 10594  (3,199) (29.6)

Depreciation, depletion and amortization (€7,063 million)
decreased by 3.3% or €241 million from 2020, in particular in
the Exploration & Production segment mainly due to the lower
book value of Qil & Gas assets as consequence of impairments
recorded in 2020, lower production volumes as well as the
appreciation of the euro vs. the USD, partially offset by start-up
and ramp-up of new projects.

Net impairment losses (impairment reversals) of tangible and
intangible and right of use assets amounted to €167 million and
the disclosure is provided under the paragraph “special items”.
The breakdown by segment is provided below:

(€ million) 2021 2020 2019 Change
Exploration & Production (1,244) 1,888 1,217 (3132)
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 26 2 (5) 24
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 1,342 1,271 922 71
Plenitude & Power 20 1 42 19
Corporate and other activities 23 21 12 2
Impairment losses (impairment reversals) of tangible 167 3183 2188 (3,016)

and intangible and right of use assets, net

Write-off charges amounted to €387 million and mainly
related to the E&P segment. In 2021, exploration and
appraisal activities comprised write-offs of unsuccessful
exploration wells costs for €331 million mainly in Gabon,
Montenegro, Myanmar, Bahrain, Egypt and Angola.

Write-offs of €35 million related to exploration licenses due
mainly to the exiting from marginal areas due to geopolitical
or environmental issues.
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FINANCE INCOME (EXPENSE)
(€ million) 2021 2020 2019 Change
Finance income (expense) related to net borrowings (849) (913) (962) 64
- Interest expense on corporate bonds (475) (517) (618) 42
- Net income from financial activities held for trading 11 31 127 (20)
- Interest expense for banks and other financing institutions (94) (102) (122) 8
- Interest expense for lease liabilities (304) (347) (378) 43
- Interest from banks 4 10 21 6)
- Interest and other income from receivables and securities for non-financing operating activities 9 12 8 ©)]
Income (expense) on derivative financial instruments (306) 351 14) (657)
- Derivatives on exchange rate (322) 391 9 (713)
- Derivatives on interest rate 16 (40) (23) 56
Exchange differences, net 476 (460) 250 936
Other finance income (expense) a77) (96) (246) (81)
- Interest and other income from receivables and securities for financing operating activities 67 97 112 (30)
- Finance expense due to the passage of time (accretion discount) (144) (190) (255) 46
- Other finance income (expense) (100) ©)] (103) 97)
(856)  (1,118) (972) 262
Finance expense capitalized 68 73 93 (5)
(788)  (1,045) (879) 257

Net finance expenses were €788 million, a decrease of €257
million from 2020. The main drivers were: (i) recognition
of income on exchange rate (+€936 million) offset by the
negative change of fair-valued currency derivatives (down by
€713 million) lacking the formal criteria to be designated as
hedges under IFRS 9; (ii) decrease of interest expense (+€42
million) reflecting a reduction cost of finance debt due to a

NET INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS

lower benchmark interest rates, as well as the positive change
in the fair value of interest rate derivatives (+€56 million)
lacking the formal criteria to be designed as hedges; (iii)
lower interest expenses for lease liabilities due to exchange
rate effects (+€43 million). Other finance expense increased
by €97 million mainly due to a discounted receivable in the
E&P segment.

Refining
Global & Marketing
Exploration Gas & LNG and Plenitude Corporate and

2021 (€million)  &Production  Portfolio  Chemicals & Power other activities Group
Share of gains (losses) from equity-accounted investments 8 (333) (766) (1,091)
Dividends 171 59 230
Net gains (losses) on disposals 1 1
Other income (expense), net (5) 3 (3) (3) (8)
180 (5) (271) 3) (769) (868)

Net expense from investments amounted to €868 million

related to:

» alossof €1,091 million due to the share of losses at equity-
accounted entities, mainly: (i) ADNOC Refining, due to the
accounting of extraordinary charges; and (ii) Eni's interest
of the JV Saipem losses;

» dividends of €230 million paid by minor investments in
certain entities which were designated at fair value through
OCI under IFRS 9 except for dividends which are recorded
through profit. These entities mainly comprised Nigeria
LNG (€144 million) and Saudi European Petrochemical Co.
(€54 million).
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The table below sets forth a breakdown of net income/loss from investments:

(€ million) 2021 2020 2019 Change
Share of gains (losses) from equity-accounted investments (1,097) (1,733) (88) 642
Dividends 230 150 247 80
Net gains (losses) on disposals 1 19 1
Other income (expense), net 8) (75) 15 67
Income (expense) from investments (868) (1,658) 193 790

INCOME TAXES

In 2021, income taxes amounted to €4,845 million, an increase
of €2,195 million, with a profit before income taxes of €10,685
million (a loss before income taxes of €5,978 million in 2020).

In 2021, the Group’s tax rate was 45% (compared to
disproportionate value in 2020). The main driver of this
trend was the normalization of the E&P tax rate, which was
driven by a better geographical mix of profits on the back of

Results by business segments'

EXPLORATION & PRODUCTION

a strengthened scenario, which lowered the relative weight of
jurisdictions characterized by higher tax rates, as well as the
fact that the 2020 reporting period was affected by a number
of tax dis-optimizations resulting in a particularly high tax rate.

Adjusted tax rate was 50% due to the same drivers disclosed in
the reported tax rate disclosure.

(€ million) 2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.

Operating profit (loss) 10,066 (610) 7417 10,676
Exclusion of special items: (773) 2,157 1,223
- environmental charges 60 19 32
- impairment losses (impairment reversals), net (1,244) 1,888 1,217
- impairment of exploration projects 247
- net gains on disposal of assets (77) 1 (145)
- provision for redundancy incentives 60 34 23
- risk provisions 113 114 (18)
- exchange rate differences and derivatives 3) 13 14
- other 71 88 100
Adjusted operating profit (loss) 9,293 1,547 8,640 7,746
Net finance (expense) income® (313) (316) (362) 3
Net income (expense) from investments® 681 262 312 419

of which: Var Energi 425 793 122
Income taxes® (4,118) (1,369) (5,154) (2,749)
Adjusted net profit (loss) 5,543 124 3,436 5,419
Results also include:
Exploration expenses: 558 510 489 48 9.4
- prospecting, geological and geophysical expenses 194 796 275 2) (1.0)
- write-off of unsuccessful wells® 364 314 214 50 15.9
Average realizations
Liquids®© ($/bbl) 66.62 37.06 59.26 29.56 79.8
Natural gas (8/kef) 6.64 3.76 494 2.88 76.6
Hydrocarbons (S/boe) 51.49 28.92 43.54 22.57 78.0

(a) Excluding special items.

(b) Also includes write-off of unproved exploration rights, if any, related to projects with negative outcome.

(c) Includes condensates.

(1) Other alternative performance indicators disclosed are accompanied by explanatory notes and tables in line with guidance provided by ESMA guidelines on alternative
performance measures (ESMA/2015/1415), published on October 5, 2015. For further information, see the section “Alternative performance measures” of this Annual

Report at subsequent pages.
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In 2021, Exploration & Production reported an adjusted
operating profit of €9,293 million, up by €7,746 million y-o-y,
or 500% from 2020 which was affected by the pandemic.
This recovery was driven by an ongoing recovery in the oil
scenario. Against this backdrop, Eni's realized prices of
liquids increased by 80%, whereas natural gas realized prices
increased by 77% compared to 2020.

These effects were partly offset by lower production volumes.

Adjusted operating profit excluded special gains of €773
million.

Adjusted net profit of €5,543 million reported a substantial
increase compared to net profit of €124 million of 2020,
benefitting from a reduction in the tax rate due to recovery in

105

the upstream scenario and a more favorable geographic mix
of profits (in terms of a reducing share of taxable income in
Countries with a higher tax rate), as well as to the fact that the
2020 reporting period was affected by a number of drivers
leading to tax dis-optimizations.

In 2021, Eni's gas realizations for the full year increased on
average by 77% in dollar terms, driven by a recovery in trading
environment. Those were reduced on average by 0.1 $/kcf due
to the impact of hedges activated in the final months of 2021
on the sale of about 12 bcf. These transactions were part of
an hedging program relating to the sale of 157 bcf out of the
Company's natural gas proved reserves in the period December
2021 to December 2022.

The following table reports the impact of cash flow hedge
derivatives as described above:

2021

Natural gas (billion cubic feet)
Sale volumes 1,446
Sale volumes hedged by derivatives (cash flow hedge) 12
Total price excluding derivatives ($/kef) 6.71
Realized gains (losses) on derivatives (0.07)
Total average price 6.64
GLOBAL GAS & LNG PORTFOLIO

(€ million) 2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.
Operating profit (loss) 899 (332) 431 1,231
Exclusion of special items: (319) 658 (238)
- impairment losses (impairment reversals), net 26 2 ©
- provision for redundancy incentives 5 2 1
- commodity derivatives (207) 858 (576)
- exchange rate differences and derivatives 206 (183) 109
- other (349) (21) 233
Adjusted operating profit (loss) 580 326 193 254 77.9
Net finance (expense) income® 17) 3 a7)
Net income (expense) from investments® (15) (21) 15
Income taxes® (394) (100) (75) (294)
Adjusted net profit (loss) 169 211 100 (42) (19.9)

(a) Excluding special items.

In 2021, the Global Gas & LNG Portfolio segment reported an
adjusted operating profit of €580 million, a robust growth
compared to 2020 (up by €254 million, or 78%). The positive
performance leveraged on the continuous initiatives of portfolio
optimization and renegotiations as well as higher gas volumes
sold. These positives were partially offset by higher provisions
due to an increased nominal value of trade receivables, and
a higher counterparty risks due to the financial difficulties of

industrial accounts pressured by rising energy costs, as well as
provisions for contractual claims.

Adjusted operating profit excluded special gains of €319
million.

Adjusted net profit was €169 million (net profit of €211
million in 2020).
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(€ million) 2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.

Operating profit (loss) 45 (2,463) (682) 2,508
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses (1,455) 1,290 (318)
Exclusion of special items: 1,562 1,179 1,021
- environmental charges 150 85 244
- impairment losses (impairment reversals), net 1,342 1,271 922
- net gains on disposal of assets (22) 8) ()
- risk provisions (4) 5 2)
- provision for redundancy incentives 42 27 8
- commodity derivatives 50 (185) (118)
- exchange rate differences and derivatives (14) 70 (5)
- other 18 (26) (23)

Adjusted operating profit (loss) 152 6 21 146

- Refining & Marketing (46) 235 289 (281)

- Chemicals 198 (229) (268) 427

Net finance (expense) income® 32) 7) (36) (25)

Net income (expense) from investments® (4) (167) 37 157
of which: ADNOC Refining (76) (167) 23

Income taxes® (54) (84) (64) 30

Adjusted net profit (loss) 62 (246) (42) 308

(a) Excluding special items.

The Refining & Marketing business reported an adjusted
operating loss of €46 million, compared to an operating profit
of €235 million in 2020, due to the sharply decline of refining
margins, the worst of the last ten years and higher expenses
for the purchase of emission allowances. These negatives
were partly offset by plant optimizations and higher volumes
sold by the marketing business benefitting from the recovery
in products demand, the reopening of the economy and
increased people mobility.

In2021, the Chemical business reported an adjusted operating
profit of €198 million, a sharp improvement compared with a
loss of €229 million in 2020, due to a global economic recovery

that supported demands and margins of plastic commaodities
softening competitive pressure, higher plant availability as well
as certain contingent issues reducing imports from non-EU
countries leading product shortages in the area, enabling the
business to capture market opportunities.

Adjusted operating profit of the R&M and Chemicals
segment of €152 million, excluded special items of €1,562
million and inventory holding gains of €1,455 million.

On a net basis, the positive result of €62 million reported in
2021, compared to a loss of €246 million in 2020, due to the
better performance of the Chemical business.

PLENITUDE & POWER
(€ million) 2021 2020 2019 Change % Ch.
Operating profit (loss) 2,355 660 74 1,695
Exclusion of special items: (1,879) (195) 296
- environmental charges 1
- impairment losses (impairment reversals), net 20 1 42
- net gains on disposal of assets (2)
- risk provisions 70
- provision for redundancy incentives (5 20 3
- commodity derivatives (1,982) (233) 255
- exchange rate differences and derivatives (6) (10)
- other 96 6 6
Adjusted operating profit (loss) 476 465 370 11 2.4
- Plenitude 363 304 256 59 19.4
- Power 113 167 114 (48) (29.8)
Net finance (expense) income® 2 (1) M) (1)
Net income (expense) from investments® (3) 6 10 )
Income taxes® (144) (147) (104) (3)
Adjusted net profit (loss) 327 329 275 2) (0.6)

(a) Excluding special items.
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In 2021, Plenitude reported solid and growing performances
with an adjusted operating profit of €363 million, an increase of
€59 million (up by 19% compared to 2020), leveraging on gains
in the extra-commodity business, as well as benefits from the
integration of the distributed photovoltaic business (Evolvere),
marketing initiatives in Italy, the growth in customer base
following expansion in Greece, the acquisition of Aldro Energia
in Spain, and lower than expected credit losses, following an
improved economic cycle.

CORPORATE AND OTHER ACTIVITIES
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The Power business reported an adjusted operating profit of
€113 million (down by €48 million vs. 2020, or 30%), mainly due
to lower one-off items.

The Plenitude & Power segment reported an adjusted
operating profit of €476 million, which includes a negative
adjustment for special item of €1,879 million.

The Plenitude & Power segment reported an adjusted net
profit of €327 million, substantially unchanged from the 2020
result (adjusted net profit of €329 million).

(€ million) 2021 2020 2019  Change % Ch.
Operating profit (loss) (816) (563) (688) (253) (44.9)
Exclusion of special items: 223 56 86
- environmental charges 61 (130) 62
- impairment losses (impairment reversals), net 23 21 12
- net gains on disposal of assets 1 2) (1)
- risk provisions 33 20 23
- provision for redundancy incentives 91 40 10
- other 14 107 (20)
Adjusted operating profit (loss) (593) (507) (602) (86) (17.0)
Net finance (expense) income® (539) (569) (525) 30
Net income (expense) from investments® (691) 95) 43 (596)
Income taxes® 247 (34) 218 281
Adjusted net profit (loss) (1,576) (1,205) (866) (371) (30.8)

(a) Excluding special items.

The results of Corporate and other activities mainly include
costs of Eni's headquarters net of services charged to
operational companies forthe provision of general purposes
services, administration, finance, information technology,
human resources management, legal affairs, international

affairs, as well as operational costs of decommissioning
activities pertaining to certain businesses which Eni exited,
divested or shut down in past years, net of the margins of
captive subsidiaries providing specialized services to the
business (insurance, financial, recruitment).
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SUMMARIZED GROUP BALANCE SHEET

The summarized Group balance sheet aggregates the
amount of assets and liabilities derived from the statutory
balance sheet in accordance with functional criteria which
considers the enterprise conventionally divided into the
three fundamental areas focusing on resource investments,
operations and financing. Management believes that this
summarized group balance sheet is useful information in

SUMMARIZED GROUP BALANCE SHEET®
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assisting investors to assess Eni's capital structure and to
analyse its sources of funds and investments in fixed assets
and working capital. Management uses the summarized
group balance sheet to calculate key ratios such as the
return on invested capital (adjusted ROACE) and the financial
soundness/equilibrium (gearing and leverage).

(€million) December 31,2021 December 31,2020 Change
Fixed assets
Property, plant and equipment 56,299 53,943 2,356
Right of use 4,821 4,643 178
Intangible assets 4,799 2,936 1,863
Inventories - Compulsory stock 1,053 995 58
Equity-accounted investments and other investments 7,181 7,706 (525)
Receivables and securities held for operating purposes 1,902 1,037 865
Net payables related to capital expenditure (1,804) (1,361) (443)
74,251 69,899 4,352
Net working capital
Inventories 6,072 3,893 2,179
Trade receivables 15,624 7,087 8,437
Trade payables (16,795) (8,679) (8,116)
Net tax assets (liabilities) (3,678) (2,198) (1,480)
Provisions (13,593) (13,438) (155)
Other current assets and liabilities (2,258) (1,328) (930)
(14,728) (14,663) (65)
Provisions for employee benefits (819) (1,201) 382
Assets held for sale including related liabilities 139 44 95
CAPITAL EMPLOYED, NET 58,843 54,079 4,764
Eni shareholders' equity 44,437 37,415 7,022
Non-controlling interest 82 78 4
Shareholders’ equity 44,519 37,493 7,026
Net borrowings before lease liabilities ex IFRS 16 8,987 11,568 (2,581)
Lease liabilities 5,337 5018 319
- of which Eni working interest 3653 3366 287
- of which Joint operators' working interest 1,684 1,652 32
Net borrowings post lease liabilities ex IFRS 16 14,324 16,586 (2,262)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 58,843 54,079 4,764
Leverage 0.32 0.44
Gearing 0.24 0.31

(a) For a reconciliation to the statutory statement of cash flow see the paragraph “Reconciliation of Summarized Group Balance Sheet and Statement of Cash Flows to Statutory Schemes”.

As of December 31, 2021, fixed assets of €74,251 million
increased by €4,352 million from December 31, 2020: capital
expenditures and acquisitions during the year and the positive
impact of exchange rate differences were partly offset by DD&A
(the period-end exchange rate of EUR vs. USD was 1.133, down
7.7% compared to 1.227 at December 31, 2020).

Net working capital (€14,728 million) was substantially
unchanged compared to December 31, 2020: the increased
value of oil and product inventories due to the weighted-average
cost method of accounting in an environment of rising prices
were partly offset by the recognition of income taxes for the year
of €1,480 million and by the increase of the other current assets
and liabilities (€930 million).
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(€ million) 2021 2020
Net profit (loss) 5,840 (8,628)
Items that are not reclassified to profit or loss 149 33
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 119 (76)
Change of minor investments at fair value with effects
to other comprehensive income e 24
Share of "Other comprehensive income” on equity-accounted investments 2
Tax effect (77) 25
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 1,902 (2,813)
Currency translation differences 2,828 (3,314)
Change in the fair value of cash flow hedging derivatives (1,264) 667
Share of "Other comprehensive income” on equity-accounted investments (34) 32
Tax effect 372 (192)
Total other items of comprehensive income (loss) 2,051 (2,780)
Total comprehensive income (loss) 7,891 (11,408)
attributable to:
- Eni's shareholders 7,872 (11,415)
- Non-controlling interest 19 7
CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
(€ million)
Shareholders' equity at January 1%, 2020 47,900
Total comprehensive income (loss) (11,408)
Dividends distributed to Eni's shareholders (1,965)
Dividends distributed by consolidated subsidiaries (3)
Net issue of perpetual subordinated bonds 2,975
Other changes (6)
Total changes (10,407)
Shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2020 37,493
attributable to:
- Eni's shareholders 37,415
- Non-controlling interest 78
Shareholders’ equity at January 1%, 2021 37,493
Total comprehensive income (loss) 7,891
Dividends distributed to Eni's shareholders (2,390)
Dividends distributed by consolidated subsidiaries (5)
Payments on perpetual subordinated bonds 2,000
Coupon of perpetual subordinated bonds 67)
Costs for the issue of perpetual subordinated bonds (15)
Buy-back program (400)
Other changes 6
Total changes 7,026
Shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2021 44,519
attributable to:
- Eni's shareholders 44,437
- Non-controlling interest 82

Shareholders’ equity (€44,519 million) increased by €7,026
million compared to December 31, 2020 due to the net profit
for the period (£5,840 million), the issuance in May 2021
of hybrid bonds for €2 billion and positive foreign currency
translation differences (+€2,828 million) reflecting the
appreciation of the US dollar vs. the euro as of December

31, 2021 vs. December 31, 2020, partly offset by the
distribution of dividends to Eni shareholders (balance of the
2020 dividend of €857 million and the 2021 interim dividend
of €1,533 million), the buy-back (€400 million) as well as a
negative change in the cash flow hedge reserve of -€1,264
million reflecting trends in gas prices.
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LEVERAGE AND NET BORROWINGS

Leverage is a measure used by management to assess
the Company’s level of indebtedness. It is calculated as a
ratio of net borrowings which is calculated by excluding
cash and cash equivalents and certain very liquid assets
from financial debt to shareholders’ equity, including non-
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controlling interest. Management periodically reviews
leverage in order to assess the soundness and efficiency of
the Group balance sheet in terms of optimal mix between
net borrowings and net equity, and to carry out benchmark
analysis with industry standards.

(€million) December 31,2021 December 31,2020 Change

Total finance debt 27,794 26,686 1,108
- Short-term debt 4,080 4,791 (7117)

- Long-term debt 23,714 21,895 1,819
Cash and cash equivalents (8,254) (9,413) 1,159
Securities held for trading (6,301) (5,502) (799)
Financing receivables held for non-operating purposes (4,252) (203) (4,049)
Net borrowings before lease liabilities ex IFRS 16 8,987 11,568 (2,581)
Lease Liabilities 837 5018 319
- of which Eni working interest 3653 3366 287
- of which Joint operators' working interest 1,684 1,652 32
Net borrowings post lease liabilities ex IFRS 16 14,324 16,586 (2,262)
Shareholders’ equity including non-controlling interest 44,519 37,493 7,026
Leverage before lease liability ex IFRS 16 0.20 0.31 0.11
Leverage after lease liability ex IFRS 16 0.32 0.44 0.12

As of December 31, 2021, net borrowings were €14,324
million decreasing by €2,262 million from 2020.

Total finance debt of €27,794 million consisted of €4,080
million of short-term debt (including the portion of long-
term debt due within twelve months of €1,781 million) and
€23,714 million of long-term debt.

The increase in financing receivables held for non-
operating purposes was due to the material increase in
commodity prices and in commodity derivates exposure
which triggered requests from financial counterparts and
commodity exchanges to adjust the financial deposits to

SUMMARIZED GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Eni's Summarized Group Cash Flow Statement derives from
the statutory statement of cash flows. It enables investors to
understand the connection existing between changes in cash
and cash equivalents (deriving from the statutory cash flows
statement) and in net borrowings (deriving from the summarized
cash flow statement) that occurred in the reporting period. The
measure which links the two statements is represented by the
“free cash flow” which is calculated as difference between the
cash flow generated from operations and the net cash used in
investing activities. Starting from free cash flow it is possible to

secure the derivatives transactions (margin calls). Those
deposit will be reimbursed to the Company upon settlement
of the underlying transactions.

When excluding the lease liabilities, net borrowings were
re-determined at €8,987 million reducing by €2,581 million
from 2020.

Leverage? - the ratio of the borrowings to total equity — was
0.32 at December 31, 2021. The impact of the lease liability
pertaining to joint operators in Eni-led upstream unincorporated
joint ventures weighted on leverage for 4 points. Excluding the
impact of IFRS 16 altogether, leverage would be 0.20.

determine either: (i) changes in cash and cash equivalents for
the period by adding/deducting cash flows relating to financing
debts/receivables (issuance/repayment of debt and receivables
related to financing activities), shareholders’ equity (dividends
paid, net repurchase of own shares, capital issuance) and
the effect of changes in consolidation and of exchange rate
differences; and (ii) change in net borrowings for the period by
adding/deducting cash flows relating to shareholders’ equity
and the effect of changes in consolidation and of exchange rate
differences.

(2) Other alternative performance indicators disclosed are accompanied by explanatory notes and tables in line with guidance provided by ESMA guidelines on alternative
performance measures (ESMA/2015/1415), published on October 5, 2015. For further information, see the section “Alternative performance measures” of this Annual

Report at subsequent pages.
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SUMMARIZED GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT®

(€ million) 2021 2020 2019 Change
Net profit (loss) 5,840 (8,628) 155 14,468
Adjustments to reconcile net profit (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
- depreciation, depletion and amortization and other non monetary items 8,568 12,641 10,480 (4,073)
- net gains on disposal of assets (102) © (170) (93)
- dividends, interests, taxes and other changes 5,334 3,251 6,224 2,083
Changes in working capital related to operations (3,146) (18) 366 (3,128)
Dividends received by investments 857 509 1,346 348
Taxes paid (3726)  (2049)  (5068)  (1,677)
Interests (paid) received (764) (875) (947) 1
Net cash provided by operating activities 12,861 4,822 12,392 8,039
Capital expenditure (5,234) (4,644) (8,376) (590)
Investments and purchase of consolidated subsidiaries and businesses (2,738) (392) (3,008) (2,346)
Disposals of consolidated subsidiaries, businesses, tangible and intangible assets and investments 404 28 504 376
Other cash flow related to investing activities 289 (735) (254) 1,024
Free cash flow 5,582 (921) 1,258 6,503
Net cash inflow (outflow) related to financial activities (4,743) 1,156 (279) (5,899)
Changes in short and long-term financial debt (244) 3,115 (1,540) (3359)
Repayment of lease liabilities (939) (869) (877) (70)
Dividends paid and changes in non-controlling interests and reserves (2,780) (1,968) (3,424) (812)
Net issue (repayment) of perpetual hybrid bond 1,924 2,975 (1,051)
Effect of changes in consolidation and exchange differences of cash and cash equivalent 52 (69) 1 121
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT (1,148) 3,419  (4861)  (4,567)
Adjusted net cash before changes in working capital at replacement cost 12,711 6,726 11,700 5,985
Change in net borrowings

(€ million) 2021 2020 2019  Var.ass.
Free cash flow 5,582 (921) 1,258 6,503
Repayment of lease liabilities (939) (869) (877) (70)
Net borrowings of acquired companies (777) 67) (710)
Net borrowings of divested companies 13
Exchange differences on net borrowings and other changes (429) 759 (158) (1,188)
Dividends paid and changes in non-controlling interest and reserves (2,780) (1,968) (3,424) (812)
Net issue (repayment) of perpetual hybrid bond 1,924 2,975 (1,051)
CHANGE IN NET BORROWINGS BEFORE LEASE LIABILITIES 2,581 91) (3,188) 2,672
IFRS 16 first application effect (5,759)
Repayment of lease liabilities 939 869 877
Inception of new leases and other changes (1,258) (239) (766)
Change in lease liabilities (319) 630 (5,648)
CHANGE IN NET BORROWINGS AFTER LEASE LIABILITIES 2,262 539 (8,836)

(a) For a reconciliation to the statutory statement of cash flow see the paragraph “Reconciliation of Summarized Group Balance Sheet and Statement of Cash Flows to Statutory Schemes”.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the full year
of 2021 was €12,861 million, an increase of €8,039 million
compared to the full year of 2020, driven by a better scenario
in the upstream segment.

The cash flow benefitted from trade receivables (about
€2 billion) due in subsequent reporting periods divested
to financing institutions, up by approximately €0.7 billion

compared to the fourth quarter 2020.

The outflow related to the working capital of €3,146 million
was due to the change in the value of inventory holding,
the use of advances received by Egyptian state-owned
companies for financing the Zohr project, which were netted
against invoices for gas supplies and the adjustment of the
derivatives fair value.




112

The dividends received by equity investments mainly related
to Var Energi.

Cash flow from operations before changes in working capital
at replacement cost was €12,711 million. This non-GAAP
measure includes net cash provided by operating activities
before changes in working capital excluding inventory holding
gains or losses relating to oil and products and provisions for
extraordinary credit losses and other charges, as well as the
fair value of commodity derivatives lacking the formal criteria
to be designated as hedges.

Net financial borrowings before IFRS16 decreased by €2,581
million mainly due to issuances of hybrid bonds for €2,000
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million and the free cash flow provided by operating activities
(€£5,582 million), partly offset by the payment of dividends to Eni's
shareholders of approximately €2,358 million (the 2020 balance
dividend of €0.24 per share for a total amount of approximately
€854 million and the 2021 interim dividend of €0.43 per share
for a total amount of €1,504 million), the €400 million buy-back
program, the payment of lease liabilities for €939 million and the
consolidation of debt of acquired subsidiaries (€777 million).
Areconciliation of cash flow from operations before changes
in working capital at replacement cost to net cash provided
by operating activities for the full year of 2021, 2020 and 2019
is provided below:

(€ million) 2021 2020 2019 Change
Net cash provided by operating activities 12,861 4,822 12,392 8,039
Changes in working capital related to operations 3,146 18 (366) 3128
Exclusion of commodity derivatives (2139) 440 (439) (2,579)
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses (1,497) 1,318 (223) (2,809)
Provisions for extraordinary credit losses and other charges 334 128 336 206
Adjusted net cash before changes in working capital at replacement cost 12,711 6,726 11,700 5,985
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND INVESTMENTS
(€ million) 2021 2020 2019  Var. ass. Var. %
Exploration & Production® 3,940 3,472 6,996 468 135
- acquisition of proved and unproved properties 17 57 400 (40) (70.2)
- exploration 391 283 586 108 382
- oil and gas development 3443 3077 5931 366 11.9
- CCUS and agro-biofeedstock projects 37 37 .
- other expenditure 52 55 79 (3) (5.5)
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 19 11 15 8 727
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 728 771 933 (43) (5.6)
- Refining & Marketing 538 588 815 (50) (8.5)
- Chemicals 190 183 118 7 3.8
Plenitude & Power 443 293 357 150 51.2
- Plenitude 366 241 315 125 51.9
- Power 77 52 42 25 48.1
Corporate and other activities 187 107 89 80 74.8
Impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination (4) (10) (14) 6
Capital expenditure® 5,313 4,644 8,376 669 14.4
Investments and purchase of consolidated subsidiaries and businesses 2,738 392 3,008 2,346
Total capex and investments and purchase of consolidated subsidiaries and businesses 8,051 5,036 11,384 3,015 59.9

(a) Includes reverse factoring operations in 2021.

Cash outflows for capital expenditure and investments
were €8,051 million, increasing by 60% from 2020 and
include the consideration relating the following acquisitions:
(i) Be Power, a company engaged in the installation and
management of a network of charging stations for electric
vehicles for which half of the price will be paid in 2022; (i) a
20% stake in the Dogger Bank A/B offshore wind project in the
North Sea; (jii) the 100% stake in Aldro Energia in the retail gas
business; (iv) the 100% stake in Fri-El Biogas Holding engaged
in the bioenergy business in Italy; (v) the management control
of Finproject by exercising the purchase option on the
remaining 60% share of the share capital, following the initial
investment of the 40% interest in 2020; and (vi) a portfolio
of renewables assets operational/under construction in Italy
(wind power assets) and in Spain, France and the United
States (including wind and photovoltaic assets).

Net of the above-mentioned non-organic items and of
utilization of trade advances cashed by Egyptian partners

in previous reporting periods in relation to the financing of
the Zohr project (approximately €500 million), net capital
expenditures amounted to €5.8 billion. Net capex were fully
funded by the adjusted cash flow.

In 2021, capital expenditure amounted to €5,313 million

(€4,644 million in the full year of 2020) mainly related to:

» Oil & Gas development activities (€3,443 million) mainly
in Egypt, Angola, the United States, Mexico, the United
Arab Emirates, Italy, Indonesia and Iraq;

» refining activity in Italy and outside Italy (€390 million)
mainly relating to the activities to maintain plants’integrity
and stay-in-business, as well as HSE initiatives; marketing
activity (€148 million) for regulation compliance and stay-
in-business initiatives in the retail network in Italy and in
the rest of Europe;

» initiatives relating to gas and power marketing in the
retail business and renewables activities (€366 million).
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Non-GAAP measures (Alternative performance measures)

Management evaluates underlying business performance on the
basis of Non-GAAP financial measures, which are not provided
by IFRS (“Alternative performance measures”), such as adjusted
operating profit, adjusted net profit, which are arrived at by
excluding from reported results certain gains and losses, defined
special items, which include, among others, asset impairments,
including impairments of deferred tax assets, gains on disposals,
risk provisions, restructuring charges, the accounting effect of
fair-valued derivatives used to hedge exposure to the commodity,
exchange rate and interest rate risks, which lack the formal criteria
to be accounted as hedges, and analogously evaluation effects
of assets and liabilities utilized in a relation of natural hedge of
the above mentioned market risks. Furthermore, in determining
the business segments’ adjusted results, finance charges on
finance debt and interest income are excluded (see below). In
determining adjusted results, inventory holding gains or losses
are excluded from base business performance, which is the
difference between the cost of sales of the volumes sold in the
period based on the cost of supplies of the same period and the
cost of sales of the volumes sold calculated using the weighted
average cost method of inventory accounting as required by
IFRS, except in those business segments where inventories are
utilized as a lever to optimize margins.

Finally, the same special charges/gains are excluded from the
Eni's share of results at JVs and other equity accounted entities,
including any profit/loss on inventory holding.

Management is disclosing Non-GAAP measures of performance
to facilitate a comparison of base business performance across
periods, and to allow financial analysts to evaluate Eni's trading
performance on the basis of their forecasting models.

Non-GAAP financial measures should be read together with
information determined by applying IFRS and do not stand in
for them. Other companies may adopt different methodologies
to determine Non-GAAP measures. Follows the description of
the main alternative performance measures adopted by Eni.
The measures reported below refer to the performance of the
reporting periods disclosed in this press report.

Adjusted operating and net profit

Adjusted operating profit and adjusted net profit are determined
by excluding inventory holding gains or losses, special items
and, in determining the business segments’ adjusted results,
finance charges on finance debt and interest income. The
adjusted operating profit of each business segment reports
gains and losses on derivative financial instruments entered
into to manage exposure to movements in foreign currency
exchange rates, which impact industrial margins and translation
of commercial payables and receivables. Accordingly, also
currency translation effects recorded through profit and loss
are reported within business segments’ adjusted operating

profit. The taxation effect of the items excluded from adjusted
operating or net profit is determined based on the specific rate
of taxes applicable to each of them.

Finance charges or income related to net borrowings excluded
fromthe adjusted net profit of business segments are comprised
of interest charges on finance debt and interest income earned
on cash and cash equivalents not related to operations.
Therefore, the adjusted net profit of business segments includes
finance charges or income deriving from certain segment operated
assets, i.e, interest income on certain receivable financing and
securities related to operations and finance charge pertaining to
the accretion of certain provisions recorded on a discounted basis
(asinthe case of the asset retirement obligations in the Exploration
& Production segment).

Inventory holding gain or loss

This is the difference between the cost of sales of the volumes sold
in the period based on the cost of supplies of the same period and
the cost of sales of the volumes sold calculated using the weighted
average cost method of inventory accounting as required by IFRS.

Special items

These include certain significant income or charges pertaining
to either: (i) infrequent or unusual events and transactions, being
identified as non-recurring items under such circumstances;
(i) certain events or transactions which are not considered to
be representative of the ordinary course of business, as in the
case of environmental provisions, restructuring charges, asset
impairments or write ups and gains or losses on divestments
even though they occurred in past periods or are likely to occur
in future ones. Exchange rate differences and derivatives
relating to industrial activities and commercial payables and
receivables, particularly exchange rate derivatives to manage
commaodity pricing formulas which are quoted in a currency
other than the functional currency are reclassified in operating
profit with a corresponding adjustment to net finance charges,
notwithstanding the handling of foreign currency exchange risks
is made centrally by netting off naturally-occurring opposite
positions and then dealing with any residual risk exposure in the
derivative market. Finally, special items include the accounting
effects of fairvalued commodity derivatives relating to
commercial exposures, in addition to those which lack the criteria
to be designed as hedges, also those which are not eligible for
the own use exemption, including the ineffective portion of cash
flow hedges, as well as the accounting effects of commodity
and exchange rates derivatives whenever it is deemed that the
underlying transaction is expected to occur in future reporting
periods. As provided for in Decision No. 15519 of July 27, 2006
of the Italian market regulator (CONSOB), non-recurring material
income or charges are to be clearly reported in the management’s
discussion and financial tables.
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Leverage

Leverage is a Non-GAAP measure of the Company'’s financial
condition, calculated as the ratio between net borrowings
and shareholders’ equity, including non-controlling interest.
Leverage is the reference ratio to assess the solidity and
efficiency of the Group balance sheet in terms of incidence
of funding sources including third-party funding and equity
as well as to carry out benchmark analysis with industry
standards.

Gearing

Gearing is calculated as the ratio between net borrowings
and capital employed net and measures how much of capital
employed net is financed recurring to third-party funding.

Net cash provided by operating activities before changes in
working capital at replacement cost

Net cash provided from operating activities before changes in
working capital and excluding inventory holding gain or loss.

Free cash flow

Free cash flow represents the link existing between changes
in cash and cash equivalents (deriving from the statutory
cash flows statement) and in net borrowings (deriving from
the summarized cash flow statement) that occurred from the
beginning of the period to the end of period. Free cash flow is
the cash in excess of capital expenditure needs. Starting from
free cash flow it is possible to determine either: (i) changes
in cash and cash equivalents for the period by adding/
deducting cash flows relating to financing debts/ receivables
(issuance/repayment of debt and receivables related to
financing activities), shareholders’ equity (dividends paid, net
repurchase of own shares, capital issuance) and the effect of
changes in consolidation and of exchange rate differences;
(i) changes in net borrowings for the period by adding/
deducting cash flows relating to shareholders’ equity and
the effect of changes in consolidation and of exchange rate
differences.

Net borrowings

Net borrowings is calculated as total finance debt less
cash, cash equivalents and certain very liquid investments
not related to operations, including among others non-
operating financing receivables and securities not related to
operations. Financial activities are qualified as "not related
to operations” when these are not strictly related to the
business operations.

ROACE Adjusted

Is the return on average capital invested, calculated as the ratio
between net income before minority interests, plus net financial
charges on net financial debt, less the related tax effect and net
average capital employed.
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Coverage
Financial discipline ratio, calculated as the ratio between
operating profit and net finance charges.

Current ratio

Measures the capability of the company to repay short-term
debt, calculated as the ratio between current assets and current
liabilities.

Debt coverage

Rating companies use the debt coverage ratio to evaluate
debt sustainability. It is calculated as the ratio between net
cash provided by operating activities and net borrowings, less
cash and cash-equivalents, securities held for non-operating
purposes and financing receivables for non-operating purposes.

EBITDA

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization,
equal to operating profit plus amortization, depreciation and
impairments..

Net Debt/EBITDA adjusted

Net Debt/adjusted EBITDA is the ratio between the profit available
to cover the debt before interest, taxes, amortizations and
impairment. This index is a measure of the company’s ability pay
off its debt and gives an indication as to how long a company
would need to operate at its current level to pay off all its debt.

Profit per boe

Measures the return per oil and natural gas barrel produced. It
is calculated as the ratio between Results of operations from
E&P activities (as defined by FASB Extractive Activities - Oil and
Gas Topic 932) and production sold.

Opex per boe

Measures efficiency in the Oil & Gas development activities,
calculated as the ratio between operating costs (as defined
by FASB Extractive Activities - Oil and Gas Topic 932) and
production sold.

Finding & Development cost per boe

Represents Finding & Development cost per boe of new proved
or possible reserves. It is calculated as the overall amount of
exploration and development expenditure, the consideration
for the acquisition of possible and probable reserves as well as
additions of proved reserves deriving from improved recovery,
extensions, discoveries and revisions of previous estimates (as
defined by FASB Extractive Activities - Oil and Gas Topic 932).

The following tables report the group operating profit and Group
adjusted net profit and their breakdown by segment, as well as is
represented the reconciliation with net profit attributable to Eni's
shareholders of continuing operations.
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RECONCILIATION TABLES OF NON-GAAP RESULTS TO THE MOST COMPARABLE MEASURES OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE DETERMINED IN

ACCORDANCE TO GAAPS
]
° 2 £ g
g-g m“‘g %m g §'g
=8 50 = 2 25 =E
83 Sa 220 L ec =8
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2021 2% on 235 e 38 Esg 3
Reported operating profit (loss) 10,066 899 45 2,355 (816) (208) 12,341
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses (1,455) (36) (1,497)
Exclusion of special items:
- environmental charges 60 150 61 271
- impairment losses (impairments reversal), net (1,244) 26 1,342 20 23 167
- impairment of exploration projects 247 247
- net gains on disposal of assets 77) (22) 2) 1 (100)
- risk provisions 113 (4) 33 142
- provision for redundancy incentives 60 5 42 (5) 91 193
- commodity derivatives (207) 50 (1,982) (2,139)
- exchange rate differences and derivatives (3) 206 (14) (6) 183
- other 71 (349) 18 96 14 (150)
Special items of operating profit (loss) (773) (319) 1,562 (1,879) 223 (1,186)
Adjusted operating profit (loss) 9,293 580 152 476 (593) (244) 9,664
Net finance (expense) income® (313) (17) (32) 2 (539) (903)
Net income (expense) from investments® 681 (4) ©)] (697) a7)
Income taxes® (4,118) (394) (54) (144) 247 68 (4,395)
Tax rate (%) 50.3
Adjusted net profit (loss) 5,543 169 62 327 (1,576) (176) 4,349
of which attributable to:
- non-controlling interest 19
- Eni's shareholders 4,330
Reported net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders 5,821
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses (1,060)
Exclusion of special items (4317)
Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders 4,330

(a) Excluding special items.
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Reported operating profit (loss) (610) (332) (2,463) 660 (563) 33 (3,275)
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses 1,290 28 1,318
Exclusion of special items:
- environmental charges 19 85 1 (130) (25)
- impairment losses (impairments reversal), net 1,888 2 1,271 1 21 3,183
- net gains on disposal of assets 1 (8) (2) )
- risk provisions 114 5 10 20 149
- provision for redundancy incentives 34 2 27 20 40 123
- commodity derivatives 858 (185) (233) 440
- exchange rate differences and derivatives 13 (183) 10 (160)
- other 88 (21) (26) 6 107 154
Special items of operating profit (loss) 2,157 658 1,179 (195) 56 3,855
Adjusted operating profit (loss) 1,547 326 6 465 (507) 61 1,898
Net finance (expense) income® (316) 7) ©) (569) (893)
Net income (expense) from investments® 262 (15) (161) 6 (95) ©)]
Income taxes® (1,369) (100) (84) (147) (34) (25) (1,753)
Tax rate (%) 175.0
Adjusted net profit (loss) 124 211 (246) 329 (1,205) 36 (7571)
of which attributable to:
- non-controlling interest 7
- Eni's shareholders (758)
Reported net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders (8,635)
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses 937
Exclusion of special items 6,940
Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders (758)

(a) Excluding special items.
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Reported operating profit (loss) 7417 431 (682) 74 (688) (120) 6,432
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses (318) 95 (223)
Exclusion of special items:
- environmental charges 32 244 62 338
- impairment losses (impairments reversal), net 1,217 (5 922 42 12 2,188
- net gains on disposal of assets (145) (5 ©] (151)
- risk provisions (18) 2) 23 3
- provision for redundancy incentives 23 1 8 3 10 45
- commodity derivatives (576) (118) 255 (439)
- exchange rate differences and derivatives 14 109 (5) (10) 108
- other 100 233 (23) 6 (20) 296
Special items of operating profit (loss) 1,223 (238) 1,021 296 86 2,388
Adjusted operating profit (loss) 8,640 193 21 370 (602) (25) 8,597
Net finance (expense) income® (362) 3 (36) ©) (525) 921)
Net income (expense) from investments® 312 (21) 37 10 43 381
Income taxes® (5,154) (75) (64) (104) 218 5 (5174)
Tax rate (%) 64.2
Adjusted net profit (loss) 3,436 100 (42) 275 (866) (20) 2,883
of which attributable to:
- non-controlling interest 7
- Eni's shareholders 2,876
Reported net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders 148
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses (157)
Exclusion of special items 2,885
Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders 2,876

(a) Excluding special items.
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RECONCILIATION OF SUMMARIZED GROUP BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

TO STATUTORY SCHEMES

SUMMARIZED GROUP BALANCE SHEET
Items of Summarized Group Balance Sheet

December 31, 2021

December 31, 2020

Notes to the

Amounts from

Amounts of the Amounts from

Amounts of the

(where not expressly indicated, the item derives Consolidated statutory summarized statutory summarized
directly from the statutory scheme) (€ million) ' Financial Statement scheme Group scheme scheme Group scheme
Fixed assets
Property, plant and equipment 56,299 53,943
Right of use 4,821 4,643
Intangible assets 4,799 2,936
Inventories - Compulsory stock 1,053 995
Equity-accounted investments and other investments 7,181 7,706
Receivables and securities held for operating activities (see note 17) 1,902 1,037
Net payables related to capital expenditure, made up of: (1,804) (1,361)

-liabilities for current investment assets (see note 11) (16)

-liabilities for no current investment assets (see note 11) (87)

- receivables related to disposals (see note 8) 8 21

- receivables related to disposals non-current (see note 11) 23 11

- payables for purchase of non-current assets (see note 18) (1,732) (1,393)
Total fixed assets 74,251 69,899
Net working capital
Inventories 6,072 3,893
Trade receivables (see note 8) 15,524 7,087
Trade payables (see note 18) (16,795) (8,679)
Net tax assets (liabilities), made up of: (3,678) (2,198)

- current income tax payables (648) (243)

- non-current income tax payables (374) (360)

- other current tax liabilities (see note 11) (1,435) (1124)

- deferred tax liabilities (4,835) (5,524)

- other non-current tax liabilities (see note 11) (27) (26)

- current income tax receivables 195 184

- non-current income tax receivables 108 153

- other current tax assets (see note 11) 442 450

- deferred tax assets 2,713 4,109

- other non-current tax assets (see note 11) 182 181

- receivables for Italian consolidated accounts (see note 8) 3 3

- payables for Italian consolidated accounts (see note 18) 2) 1)
Provisions (13,593) (13,438)
Other current assets and liabilities, made up of: (2,258) (1,328)

- short-term financial receivables for operating purposes (see note 17) 39 22

- receivables vs. partners for exploration and production activities and other (see note 8) 3,315 3815

- other current assets (see note 11) 13,192 2,236

- other receivables and other assets non-current (see note 11) 824 1,061

e e s pbieo v arer forslorton peercer @ 089

- other current liabilities (see note 11) (14,305) (3,748)

- other payables and other liabilities non-current (see note 11) (2132) (1,851)
Total net working capital (14,728) (14,663)
Provisions for employee benefits (819) (1,201)
Assets held for sale including related liabilities 139 44
made up of:

- assets held for sale 263 44

- liabilities directly associated with held for sale (124)
CAPITAL EMPLOYED, NET 58,843 54,079
Shareholders' equity including non controlling interest 44,519 37,493
Net borrowings
Total debt, made up of: 27,794 26,686

- long-term debt 23,714 21,895

- current portion of long-term debt 1,781 1,909

- short-term debt 2,299 2,882
less:
Cash and cash equivalents (8,254) (9,413)
Securities held for trading (6,301) (5,502)
Financing receivables held for non-operating purposes (see note 17) (4,252) (203)
Net borrowings before lease liabilities ex IFRS 16 8,987 11,568
Lease liabilities, made up of: 5,337 5018

- long-term lease liabilities 4,389 4,169

- current portion of long-term lease liabilities 948 849
Total net borrowings post lease liabilities ex IFRS 16 14,324 16,586
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 58,843 54,079

(a) For details on net borrowings see also note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.




Eni Annual Report 2021

120

SUMMARIZED GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT

2021 2020
Items of Summarized Cash Flow Statement and Amounts from Amounts of the Amounts from Amounts of the
confluence/reclassification of items in the statutory scheme statutory ~ summarized statutory ~ summarized
(€ million) scheme Group scheme scheme Group scheme

Net profit (loss) 5,840 (8,628)
Adj_ust_ments to reconcile net profit (loss) to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization and other non monetary items 8,568 12,641
- depreciation, depletion and amortization 7,063 7,304
- impairment losses (impairment reversals) of tangible, intangible and right of use, net 167 3,183
- write-off of tangible and intangible assets 387 329
- share of profit (loss) of equity-accounted investments 1,091 1,733
- other changes (194) 92
- net change in the provisions for employee benefits 54

Gains on disposal of assets, net (102) 9)
Dividends, interests, income taxes and other changes 5,334 3,251
- dividend income (230) (150)
- interest income (75) (126)
- interest expense 794 877
-income taxes 4,845 2,650
Cash flow from changes in working capital (3,146) (18)
- inventories (2,033) 1,054
- trade receivables (7,888) 1,316
- trade payables 7,744 (1,614)
- provisions for contingencies (406) (1,056)
- other assets and liabilities (563) 282
Dividends received 857 509
Income taxes paid, net of tax receivables received (3,726) (2,049)
Interests (paid) received (764) (875)
- interest received 28 53
- interest paid (792) (928)
Net cash provided by operating activities 12,861 4,822
Investing activities (5,234) (4,644)
- tangible assets (4,950) (4,407)
- intangible assets (284) (237)
Investments and purchase of consolidated subsidiaries and businesses (2,738) (392)
- investments (837) (283)
j (a;ggsgisdhaé%%igtl)esri]ctiiaa(r:igjiraer:jd businesses net of cash (1.901) (109)
Disposals 404 28
- tangible assets 207 12
- intangible assets 1
- consolidated subsidiaries and businesses net of cash

and cash equivalent disposed of e
- tax on disposals (35)
- investments 165 16
Other cash flow related to capital expenditure, investments and disposals 289 (735)
- prepaid right of use )
- investment of securities and financing receivables held for operating purposes (227) (166)
- change in payables in relation to investing activities 386 (757)
- disposal of securities and financing receivables held for operating purposes 141 136
- change in receivables in relation to disposals ) 52
Free cash flow 5,582 (921)

Free cash flow 5,582 (921)
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continued SUMMARIZED GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Items of Summarized Cash Flow Statement and

2021
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2020

Amounts from Amounts of the

Amounts from Amounts of the

confluence/reclassification of items in the statutory scheme statutory ~ summarized statutory ~ summarized
(€ million) scheme Group scheme scheme Group scheme

Net cash inflow (outflow) related to financial activities (4,743) 1,156

_ gﬁﬁsgsagsge in securities and financing receivables held for non-operating (4.743) 1156

Changes in short and long-term finance debt (244) 3,115

- increase in long-term debt 3,556 5278

- repayments of long-term debt (2,890) (3,700)

- increase (decrease) in short-term debt (910) 937

Repayment of lease liabilities (939) (869)

Dividends paid and changes in non-controlling interest and reserves (2,780) (1,968)

- purchase of treasury shares (400)

- acquisition of additional interests in consolidated subsidiaries 17)

- dividends paid to Eni's shareholders (2,358) (1,965)

- dividends paid to non-controlling interest (5) 3)

Net issue (repayment) of perpetual hybrid bond 1,924 2,975

- issue of perpetual subordinated bonds 1,985 2,975

- coupon payment on perpetual subordinated bonds 61)

Effect of changes in consolidation, exchange differences 50 (69)

and cash and cash equivalent

- effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents and other changes 52 (69)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent (1,148) 3,419
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Risk factor and uncertainties

1 RISKS RELATED TO THE BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES AND INDUSTRIES OF ENI
AND ITS CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
(TOGETHER, THE “GROUP")

The Group's performance is exposed to the volatility of the
prices of crude oil and natural gas and to changing margins
of refined products and chemical products

The price of crude oil is the main driver of the Company’s
operating performance and cash flow, given the current size
of Eni's Exploration & Production segment relative to other
Company’s business segments. The price of crude oil has
a history of volatility because, like other commodities, it is
influenced by the ups and downs in the economic cycle and
several other macro-variables that are beyond management's
control. Crude oil prices are mainly determined by the
balance between global oil supplies and demand, the global
levels of commercial inventories and producing countries’
spare capacity. In the short-term, worldwide demand for
crude oil is highly correlated to the macroeconomic cycle.
A downturn in economic activity normally triggers lower
global demand for crude oil and possibly a supply and/or an
inventory build-up, because in the short-term producers are
unable to respond to swings in demand quickly. Whenever
global supplies of crude oil outstrip demand, crude oil prices
weaken. Factors that can influence the global economic
activity in the short-term and demand for crude oil include
several, unpredictable events, like trends in the economic
growth which shape crude oil demand in big consuming
countries like China, India and the United States, financial
crisis, geo-political crisis, local conflicts and wars, social
instability, pandemic diseases, the flows of international
commerce, trade disputes and governments’ fiscal policies,
among others. All these events could influence demands
for crude oil. Long-term demands for crude oil is driven, on
the positive side, by demographic growth, improving living
standards and GDP expansion; on the negative side, factors
that in the long-term may significantly reduce demands for
crude oil include availability of alternative sources of energy
(e.g., nuclear and renewables), technological breakthroughs,
shifts in consumer preferences, and finally measures and
other initiatives adopted or planned by governments to tackle
climate change and to curb carbon-dioxide emissions (CO,
emissions), including stricter regulations and control on
production and consumption of crude oil. Many governments
and supranational institutions, with the USA and EU leading
the way, have begun implementing policies to transition
the economy towards a low carbon model of development

through various means and strategies, particularly by
supporting development of renewable energies and the
replacement of internal combustion engine vehicles with
electric vehicles, including the possible adoption of tougher
regulations on the use of hydrocarbons such as the taxation
of CO, emissions as a mitigation action of the climate
change risk. According to Eni's management, the push to
reduce worldwide greenhouse gas emissions and an ongoing
energy transition towards a low carbon economy are likely
to materially affect the worldwide energy mix in the long-
term and may lead to structural lower crude oil demands and
prices. Eni also believes that the COVID-19 pandemic could
have possibly accelerated those trends. See the section
dedicated to the discussion of climate-related risks below.

Notwithstanding the significant growth in US tight oil
production since 2011, global oil supplies are still controlled to
a large degree by the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting
Countries (“OPEC") cartel, which has recently extended
to include other important oil producers like Russia and
Kazakhstan to form the so-called OPEC+ alliance. Saudi Arabia
plays a crucial role within the cartel, because it is estimated
to hold huge amounts of reserves and a vast majority of
worldwide spare production capacity. This explains why
geopolitical developments in the Middle East and particularly
in the Gulf area, like regional conflicts, acts of war, strikes,
attacks, sabotages, and social and political tensions can have
a big influence on crude oil prices. Also, sanctions imposed
by the United States and the EU against certain producing
countries may influence trends in crude oil prices.

To a lesser extent, extreme weather events, such as
hurricanes in areas of highly concentrated production like
the Gulf of Mexico, and operational issues at key petroleum
infrastructure may have an impact on crude oil prices.

The recovery of crude oil prices that commenced at the end of
2020 has strengthened throughout 2021 due to a favourable
combination of market and macro developments, most
notably a strong macroeconomic recovery that supported
crude oil consumption, continued financial discipline of
international oil companies, careful production management
on part of the alliance of OPEC+ producing countries in
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adding new supplies and normalizing levels of commercial
inventories in OECD countries. The macroeconomic cycle has
been driven by the gradual reopening of the economies of the
USA and Europe due to the effectiveness of the vaccination
campaign against the COVID-19 disease, an acceleration in
the pace of economic activity in Asia, robust fiscal policies
adopted by governments to help economies emerge from the
fallout of the COVID recession and accommodative monetary
policies from central banks. Furthermore, the spread of new
virus variants, like the Delta one in summer, or the Omicron
variant in the final part of 2021, did not derail the recovery
because new lockdowns were averted thanks to improved
ways of restraining the pandemic and the resilience of the
vaccinated population. Strong demand from road transport,
maritime and petrochemicals sectors and for people mobility
resulted in an increase of approximately 5.5 million barrels/d in
global crude oil demand in 2021 from the historic low of 2020
of approximately 92 million barrels/d, more than offsetting
weak consumption in the civil airline sector which continued to
suffer from low activity levels. Global oil demand is expected
to recover to the pre-COVID pandemic level of 100 million
barrels/d reported in 2019 by end the second half of 2022,
absent any disruption in the recovery of the global economy.

The better fundamentals of the oil market in 2021 were
significantly and positively affected by a more disciplined
approach adopted by producers in adding new supplies.
Throughout 2021, the OPEC+ alliance has implemented
effective production management by gradually easing the
qguotas agreed in May 2020 at the peak of the pandemic
crisis, to avoid risks of oversupplying the market by restoring
too hastily the full pre-COVID output. Differently from past oil
cycles, despite recovering prices, international oil companies
and listed shale producers in the USA have retained a prudent
approach to investing decisions, signalling a historic shift in
capital allocation policies driven by the need to repair balance
sheets and cash flows which were significantly impaired by
the pandemic downturn and by the need to boost financial
returns to shareholders. Pressured by investor demanding
higher returns and ESG considerations and, in the case of
European players, by the need to allocate more funds to the
businesses of the energy transition, Oil & Gas companies
have continued to constrain the spending in the traditional
upstream business, reinvesting in the business just a fraction
of the cash flows to maintain production, while returning
excess cash to shareholders via dividend increases and share
repurchases. According to market sources, global upstream'’s
capital expenditures in 2021 have barely increased from
2020, which represented the lowest level in fifteen years at
about $350 billion and are projected to grow modestly in
2022. According to market intelligence, that level of global
upstream investment is insufficient to hold oil production
steady at 100 million barrels/d.
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Modest growth in worldwide crude oil supplies has led to a
substantial drawdown in inventories, which have returned to
historic averages. Against this backdrop, in the final months
of 2021 many countries like China and Western European
countries have begun facing difficulties at meeting energy
needs of their economies due to a global shortage of natural
gas and coal to fire power generation, triggering a sharp rally
in energy commodities. The rally extended also to crude
oil prices due to increasing evidence of gas-to-oil switch to
produce electricity.

Due to a more constructive macro environment and better
energy fundamentals, in 2021 crude oil prices recovered
strongly with the Brent crude oil benchmark averaging about
71 S/bblinthe year, up by 70% compared to 2020. The uptrend
has continued in the first months of 2022, with Brent crude oil
prices climbing above the psychological threshold of 100 S/
bbl to reach the highest mark from 2008 at 120-130 $/bbl,
driven by the rising international tensions in connection with
the Russia-Ukraine conflict (see below).

Gas prices, also negatively affected in 2020 by the
economic crisis due to COVID-19 pandemic, recorded an
even more significant recovery than oil, due to strengthened
fundamentals driven by a global demand recovery, unusual
seasonal factors and much tighter supplies than a year ago.
Particularly, on the supply side, the worldwide oversupply
of liquefied natural gas (‘LNG”) which led to the gas
prices downturn in 2019-2020 was already expected to be
absorbed, in a typical cyclical business after the LNG wave
of the previous years, and maintenances deferred during the
previous year due to COVID-19 affected 2021 production.
This came on top of the financial discipline of the US
shale producers which reduced in 2020 the production of
associated gas. Moreover, in 2020 several LNG projects
that were under construction or in a pre-FID stage of
development have been delayed, revised or cancelled
due to a combination of lack of financial resources due
to the COVID-19 downturn, environmental and climate
considerations and producers’ capital discipline. This will
impact the global gas and LNG market balance which is
now expected to remain tight even in a mid-term horizon
(2022-2025). At the same time, global gas demand grew
significantly in 2021 driven by a strong macroeconomic
recovery and by contingent factors like a particularly cold
winter season in the South-East Asia and in Texas and
unexpectedly high demand in South America (Argentina
due to issues with domestic production and Brazil due to a
severe drought impacting power generation). The recovery
of gas prices, already remarkable in the first part of 2021,
accelerated dramatically during the summer months
and with the start of the winter season in the Northern
Hemisphere, driven by reduced supplies in Asia and Europe
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and as storage levels at the peak of the injection campaign
in Europe were at alarmingly low levels and supplies from
Russia declined. Gas prices surged well above any market
expectations and forecast in the final part of 2021, with
spot prices at continental hubs in Europe and for spot LNG
cargos to Asia reaching all-time highs over 60 S/mmBTU,
which is more than ten times the average price recorded
in 2020. In 2021, on average the spot prices of natural
gas recorded at the main continental hubs in Europe more
than quadrupled compared to 2020: the price recorded at
the spot market in Italy “PSV" averaged 487 €/thousand
cubic meters (up by 335% compared to 2020, or about 17
$/mmBTU), a similar trend was recorded by the TTF spot
price at the continental hubs which directly benefited from
decreasing LNG import flows. Due to the recent spike in
market volatility following the outbreak of the Russia-
Ukraine conflict, natural gas prices have risen materially in
late February and in March.

Looking forward, we believe that the fundamentals of the
oil and gas markets will continue to be supported by tight
supplies due to the underinvestment in the upstream sectors
occurred in previous years, oil companies’ renewed focus
on financial discipline and shareholders’ returns which will
constrain capital budgets, production management on part of
OPEC+ alliance and the global economic recovery underway.
On the negative side, high energy costs could derail the macro
economic recovery by reducing consumers' disposable
income and could lead to phenomena of demand destruction,
like the ones already observed in the final months of 2021
with several commodity producers (like metals and fertilizers)
halting plants operations. Finally, high energy costs could
drive up inflationary pressures and alter market expectations
about future inflationary rates pressuring central banks
to abandon loose monetary policies and to raise interest
rates, which could negatively impact economic growth and
hydrocarbons consumptions.

The growing geopolitical risk in connection with the Russia-
Ukraine conflict also represents a factor in the outlook
2022 because rising tensions between Russia and Western
countries, the enactment on part of the USA and European
countries of economic sanctions against Russia, and any
possible ground or military escalations could derail the
macroeconomic cycle by sapping consumers sentiment
or interfering with operators’ investment decisions and this
could lead to lower demands for hydrocarbons (see below).

The volatility of hydrocarbons prices significantly affects
the Group's financial performance. Lower hydrocarbon
prices from one year to another negatively affect the Group’s
consolidated results of operations and cash flow; the opposite
occurs in case of arise in prices. This is because lower prices
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translate into lower revenues recognised in the Company’s
Exploration & Production segment at the time of the price
change, whereas expenses in this segment are either fixed
or less sensitive to changes in crude oil prices than revenues.
With respect to our Brent crude oil price assumption of 80 $/
bbl for 2022, we estimate our cash from operations to vary by
approximately €140 million for each one-dollar change in the
price of the Brent crude oil.

Eni’s results of operations and cash flows are less sensitive
to movements in natural gas prices because a large part of
equity gas volumes are sold based on fixed pricing formulae
and also due to the forward sale executed in the final months
of 2021 of about 5 bcm of the expected 2022 equity production
at fixed prices as part of our risk management activities.

Finally, movements in hydrocarbons prices significantly affect
the reportable amount of production and proved reserves
under our production sharing agreements (“PSAs”), which
represented about 58% of our proved reserves as of end
of 2021. The entitlement mechanism of PSAs foresees the
Company is entitled to a portion of a field's reserves, the sale
of which is intended to cover expenditures incurred by the
Company to develop and operate the field. The higher the
reference prices for Brent crude oil used to estimate Eni's
proved reserves, the lower the number of barrels necessary
to recover the same amount of expenditure, and vice versa. In
2021 our reported production and reserves were lowered by
an estimated amount of respectively 13 KBOE/d and by 168
mmboe due to an increased Brent reference price. Considering
the current portfolio of 0il&gas assets, the Company estimates
its production to vary by about 0.3 KBOE/d for each one-dollar
change in the price of the Brent crude ail.

Eni's Refining & Marketing and Chemical businesses are
cyclical. Their results are impacted by trends in the supply
and demand of oil products and plastic commodities, which
are influenced by the macro-economic scenario and by
products margins. Generally speaking, margins for refined
and chemical products depend upon the speed at which
products’ prices adjust to reflect movements in oil prices.

All these risks may adversely and materially impact the
Group’s results of operations, cash flow, liquidity, business
prospects, financial condition, and shareholder returns,
including dividends, the amount of funds available for stock
repurchases and the price of Eni's share.

Risks in connection with the war in Ukraine

The crisis in the relationship between Russia and Ukraine that
in February 2022 gave rise to the Russian military invasion and
an open conflict on a large scale with violent armed clashes
and tragic loss of human lives, constitutes a macroeconomic
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risk. Possible outcomes of this situation might include a
prolonged armed conflict, a possible escalation in the military
action, risks of enlargement of the ongoing geopolitical
crisis and a further tightening up of the economic sanctions
against Russia. These factors could result in a scenario
that could eventually sap consumers’ confidence, deter
investment decisions by operators and cripple industrial
activities derailing the global recovery or, in the worst of the
outcomes, triggering a new worldwide recession, while the
economy has been still recovering from the fallout of the
COVID-19 downturn. This scenario would drove a reduction in
hydrocarbons demands and of commaodity prices and would
adversely and significantly affect our results of operations
and cash flow, as well as business prospects, with a possible
lower remuneration of our shareholders.

Shortly after the outbreak of hostilities with the Russian
military invasion of Ukraine, the European Union, the USA,
and the UK imposed a raft of tough economic and financial
sanctions against Russia, which have added up to those
already in force since 2014.

The new restrictions mainly targeted the Russian financial
sector, precluding access to funding from US and EU-based
financial institutions and several relevant Russian entities
operating in the Qil & Gas sector. This first round of sanctions
waivered the purchase of oil, natural gas and refined products
exported by Russian entities, or the maintenance of business
relationships with certain Russian entities. However, the
situation in the marketplace evolved unexpectedly, as many
Western traders, oil companies, refiners and brokers began
reducing purchases of crude oil from Russia giving rise to a
sort of spontaneous, auto-sanctioning system. Finally, the
President of the USA signed an executive order to ban all
imports of Russian energy products. Those developments
destabilized energy markets as evidenced by the material
discount of the Ural Russian crude benchmark vs. the Brent
above 20 $/bbl, triggering a spike in market volatility and
propelling the Brent price at about 130 $/bbl in the last days
of February and into early March 2022. Natural gas prices for
the continental Europe spot benchmark surged to new all-
time highs driven by fears of supply disruptions. If the conflict
continues, it is possible that increasingly tight sanctions
could be imposed.

This volatility is expected to significantly affect the Group’s
operating expenses and revenues in 2022. Furthermore, the
increased volatility could drive: (i) an increased counterparty
risk due to the significant expansion of the nominal value of
trading receivables; (ii) a higher level of financial risk of the
Company due to the need of increasing the cash deposits
to guarantee the settlement of derivative transactions with
financial institutions and commaodity exchanges to fulfil the
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margining obligations (margin call). To counter the ongoing
phase of extreme volatility in the energy commodities market
the Group is planning to strengthen its financial headroom
by increasing the liquidity reserves (cash on hands and
committed borrowing facilities).

Eni's assets in Russia are immaterial to the Group results and
business prospects. Our exploration projects in the Russian
0il & Gas sector have been suspended indefinitely following
the previous sanction regime, and the expenditures incurred
in relation to those projects in past reporting periods have
been written off. Currently, we do not have booked reserves
in Russia.

The Group has announced the intention to divest its interest
in the Blue Stream joint operations which manages the gas
pipeline that transports natural gas produced in Russia to
Turkey through the Black Sea. Those volumes of gas are
jointly marketed by Eni and Gazprom to the Turkish state-
owned company Botas. This divestment is not expected to
have a significant effect on the Group consolidated results
and balance sheet; the book value of this asset was €40
million as of December 31, 2021. Furthermore, the Group has
decided to cease signing new supply contracts of Russian
crude oil. This decision is expected to negatively affect our
refining system. In 2021 the purchase of crude oil from Russia
represented 18% of the total volumes of crudes traded by Eni
to support its refining system.

Finally, Russian Qil & Gas companies are currently joint
operators in certain upstream projects where we have
a working interest. Every possible decision about the
participation of the Russian counterparts to those projects
are in the power of the state-owned companies of the host
countries where such projects are located.

The most important transactions that involve Russian
counterparts relate to the purchase of natural gas from the
Russian state-owned company Gazprom, based on long-
term supply contracts with take-or-pay clauses. The volumes
supplied from Russia represent a material amount of our
global portfolio of natural gas supplies, being about 43% of
the total in 2021 (see table “Natural gas supply” in the Global
Gas & LNG Portfolio operating review). Eni has entered into
delivery commitments that rely in part on such supply of
natural gas. Although we have access to increased supplies
from other geographies in our portfolio and from producing
countries where we have established relationships, should
supplies from Gazprom and other Russian natural gas
suppliers be disrupted (including as a result of sanctions
prohibiting or restricting purchases of natural gas from
Russia) we may suffer adverse effects which we cannot
currently predict or quantify but could be material.
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Eni has adopted all necessary measures to ensure its
activities comply with the sanction regime currently in force
against Russia and will adapt to any new developments on an
ongoing basis.

There is strong competition worldwide, both within the
oil industry and with other industries, to supply energy
and petroleum products to the industrial, commercial and
residential energy markets

The current competitive environment in which Eni operates
is characterised by volatile prices and margins of energy
commodities, limited product differentiation and complex
relationships with state-owned companies and national
agencies of the countries where hydrocarbons reserves
are located to obtain mineral rights. As commodity
prices are beyond the Company's control, Eni's ability to
remain competitive and profitable in this environment
requires continuous focus on technological innovation, the
achievement of efficiencies in operating costs, effective
management of capital resources and the ability to provide
valuable services to energy buyers. It also depends on Eni's
ability to gain access to new investment opportunities. The
economic crisis caused by the suppression of industrial
activity and travel in response to the COVID-19 pandemic
materially and negatively impacted demand for the Company’s
products, driving a strong increase in the level of competition
across all sectors where Eni operates. Eni believes that the
pandemic will have enduring effects on the competition within
the Oil & Gas sectors, including the refining and marketing of
fuels and other energy commodities and the supply of energy
products to the retail segment.

In the Exploration & Production segment, Eni is facing
competition from both international and state-owned oil
companies for obtaining exploration and development rights
and developing and applying new technologies to maximise
hydrocarbon recovery. Because of its smaller size relative to
other international oil companies, Eni may face a competitive
disadvantage when bidding for large scale or capital intensive
projects and it may be exposed to the risk of obtaining lower
cost savings in a deflationary environment compared to
its larger competitors given its potentially smaller market
power with respect to suppliers, whereas in case of rising
input costs due to a shortage of materials, labour and other
productive factors Eni may experience higher pressure
from its suppliers to raise the price of goods and services
to the Company compared to Eni's larger competitors. Due
to those competitive pressures, Eni may fail to obtain new
exploration and development acreage, to apply and develop
new technologies and to control costs. The COVID-19
pandemic has caused Exploration & Production companies
to significantly reduce their capital investment in response
to lower cash flows from operations and to focus on the
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more profitable and scenario-resilient projects. The Company
believes that this development will be long-lasting and likely
drive increased competition among players to gain access
to relatively cheaper reserves (onshore vs. offshore; proven
areas vs. unexplored areas).

In the Global Gas & LNG Portfolio business, Eni is facing
strong competition in the European wholesale markets to
sell gas to industrial customers, the thermoelectric sector
and retail companies from other gas wholesalers, upstream
companies, traders and other players. The results of Eni's
wholesale gas business are affected by global and regional
dynamics of gas demand and supplies, as well as by the
constraints of its portfolio of long-term, take-or-pay supply,
whereby the Company is obligated to offtake minimum annual
volumes of gas or in case of failure to pay the corresponding
purchase price (see below). Due to the competitive nature
of the business, sales margins tend to be small. In 2027,
despite natural gas prices surging to record levels, our
wholesale margins were negatively affected by narrowing
spreads between prices at continental hubs, to which our gas
procurement costs are indexed, and spot prices for the main
Italian benchmark to which our selling prices are indexed. We
believe wholesale margins of gas to remain challenged in the
medium-term due to competitive pressures and as renewable
sources of energy continue growing their market share in
covering European energy needs.

The results of the LNG business are mainly influenced by the
global balance between demand and supplies, considering
the higher level of flexibility of LNG with respect to gas
delivered via pipeline.

In its Refining & Marketing segment, Eni is facing competition
both in the refining business and in the retail marketing of fuels.

Eni's refining business has been negatively affected for
many years by structural headwinds due to muted trends
in the European demand for fuels, refining overcapacity and
continued competitive pressure from players in the Middle
East, the United States and Far East Asia. Those competitors
can leverage on larger plant scale and cost economies,
availability of cheaper feedstock and lower energy
expenses. This unfavourable competitive environment has
been exacerbated by the economic downturn triggered by
the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 and the negative effects
of travel restrictions imposed by governments all over the
world to contain the spread of the virus, which were only
partially lifted during the course of 2021. The COVID-19
fallout has negatively affected Eni’'s refining sector in two
ways. On one side, the cost of the oil-based feedstock has
recovered strongly from the second half of 2020 throughout
the whole of 2021 due to effective production management
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by the OPEC+ producers alliance. On the other side, the
continuing downturn of the civil airline sector due to bans
on long-haul flights have left the market of refined products
with huge imbalances due to a depressed demand for
jet fuel and gasoil oversupplies. Finally, in the last part of
2021 escalating costs of natural gas which is a key input to
refining processes added more pressure to an already weak
margin backdrop.

Against the backdrop of these challenged fundamentals, in
2021 the Company’s own internal performance measure to
gauge the profitability of its refineries, the SERM, plunged to
historic lows, remaining into negative territory throughout the
year and averaging minus 0.9 $/bbl compared to positive 1.7 $/
bbl in 2020. Furthermore, operating expenses were negatively
affected by an increase in the cost for the purchase of emission
allowances to comply with the requirements of the European
ETS, which reached all-time highs due to a combination of
macroeconomic recovery which drove industrial production
and rising coal consumption to fire power generation due to a
shortage of gas supplies and cost competitiveness. The cost
for emission allowance was on average 53.4 €/tonn, more than
doubling versus 2020; this uptrend has strengthened further
in the first months of 2022 with the cost breaking above 90
€/tonn. On the basis of these developments in the trading
environment, management revised downwardly the projections
of refining margins in the short to medium-term, which together
with the forecast of higher compliance expenses to purchase
carbon emission allowances under the European Emission
Trading Schema led to the projections of materially lower
expected future cash flows associated with the refinery activity
driving assets impairment losses of approximately €0.9 billion.
These added to approximately €2 billion of impairment losses
recorded in the previous two reporting periods, writing-off the
entire book value of Eni's European refineries.

Eni's Chemical business has been facing for years strong
competition from well-established international players and
state-owned petrochemical companies, particularly in the
mostcommoditised market segments suchasthe production
of basic petrochemical products (like polyethylene), where
demand is a function of macroeconomic growth. Many of
these competitors based in the Far East and the Middle
East have been able to benefit from cost economies due
to larger plant scale, wide geographic moat, availability
of cheap feedstock and proximity to end-markets. Excess
worldwide capacity of petrochemical commodities has
also fuelled competition in this business. Furthermore,
petrochemical producers based in the United States have
regained market share, as their cost structure has become
competitive due to the availability of cheap feedstock
deriving from the production of domestic shale gas from
which ethane is derived, which is a cheaper raw material
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for the production of ethylene than the oil-based feedstock
utilised by Eni's petrochemical subsidiaries. Finally, it is
likely rising public concern about climate change and the
preservation of the environment will negatively affect the
consumption of single-use plastics going forward. In 2021
those challenged business fundamentals were mitigated by
the post-pandemic strong economic recovery, which drove
significant demands for all kinds of plastic products and
supply disruptions of global reach due to contingent events.
These developments supported petrochemical products
margins and the business performance, particularly in
the first part of the year. We expect products margins to
normalize in the near term, falling back to pre-pandemic
levels as more supplies come online.

Eni's retail gas and power business engages in the supply
of gas and electricity to customers in the retail markets
mainly in Italy, France, Spain and other countries in Europe.
Customers include households, large residential accounts
(hospitals, schools, public administration buildings, offices)
and small and medium-sized businesses. The retail market
is characterised by strong competition among selling
companies which mainly compete in terms of pricing and
the ability to bundle valuable services with the supply of
the energy commodity. In this segment, competition has
intensified in recent years due to the progressive liberalisation
of the market and the ability of residential customers to
switch smoothly from one supplier to another.

Eni also engages in the business of producing gas-fired
electricity that is largely sold in the wholesale market and in
the balancing market (“Mercato dei Servizi di Dispacciamento
or "MSD") to the manager of the national grid. As far as
the wholesale market is concerned, margins of electricity
production from gas-fired plants (“Clean Spark Spread” or
“CSS”") have experienced some fluctuations in recent years
due to oversupplies, weak economic growth, and inter-fuel
competition. Management believes that these factors will
progressively reduce the CSS in the future, whereas MSD
margins have shown higher resilience also in more stressed
conditions.

In case the Company is unable to effectively manage the
above described competitive risks, which may increase
in case of a weaker-than-anticipated recovery in the post-
pandemic economy or in a worst case scenario of the
imposition by governments of new lockdown measures
and other restrictions in response to the pandemic, the
Group's future results of operations, cash flow, liquidity,
business prospects, financial condition, shareholder returns,
including dividends, the amount of funds available for stock
repurchases and the price of Eni's shares may be adversely
and significantly affected.
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In the final months of 2021, European energy producers and
traders have coped with an unprecedented level of volatility,
with price increases of — in some cases - several hundred
percent within a few months for natural gas and power. This
has led to a significant increase in Eni’s financial risks

In the course of the fourth quarter 2021, a strengthening
global macroeconomic recovery has driven pent-up demand
for energy commodities across all geographies, against
the backdrop of a challenged supply particularly of natural
gas due to the sharp cuts made by QOil & Gas companies to
capital expenditures to navigate the oil downturn, resulting in
a very tight market for gas and electricity. Market imbalances
have been particularly problematic in Europe because in
addition to global macroeconomic forces, the continent has
faced regional, specific issues. The final months of 2021
have been characterized by an apparent underperformance
of plants producing renewable electricity, while natural gas
storage levels were at historical lows in correspondence to
the injection peak season before the start of the seasonal
increase in gas consumption. Markets have been also
pressured by uncertainties about the natural gas import
flows from Russia. Russia state-owned company, Gazprom
has been corresponding to their long-term supply contracts’
commitments with European traders, while limiting spot
supplies, against the backdrop of the complex regulatory
issue relating to the start-up of line 2 of the Nord Stream gas
pipeline, which would considerably increase the natural gas
flow to Europe. Finally, European gas production have been
decreasing steadily in recent years due to mature field decline,
while new developments have been constrained by the climate
targets and policies adopted by EU member states.

Those developments triggered an unprecedented volatility in
European commodity markets, with spot prices of natural gas
and power rising several hundred percentage points within
few months, setting all-times highs (the average spot price
of natural gas at the Dutch hub “TTF” increased by more than
500% in the fourth quarter 2021 vs. 2020).

The spike in commodity prices caused financial tensions
at European energy players, like Eni, which are making use
of commodity forward sale contracts and commodity
financial derivatives to hedge commercial margins or also for
speculative objectives due to the requirements of margining
payments envisaged by contracts.

Financialinstitutions which are the counterparts of derivatives
contracts and wholesale and exchange-based commodity
markets of gas, power and other energy commodities
routinely require down payments for traders to cover open
liabilities or to settle derivative contracts. Selling forward
future commodity availability (from production or long-term
supply contracts) also requires down payments, in favour of
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the buyers as guarantee in case the trader or the producer
cannot deliver. These down-payments which amount is linked
to the level and volatility of commodity prices are temporarily
and they are unwound on delivery of the commaodity, with the
deposited money flowing back to the traders.

Under normal market conditions, this way of operating does
not entail financial risks. However, when commodity prices
rise sharply as was the case during the fourth quarter of
2021 with prices increasing many times over the recent few
months, the negative value of forward sales at fixed prices and
the negative value of short positions grow proportionally and
traders are required to deposit extra funds to cover payments
tied to commodity forward sales and the settlement of
derivatives, known as margin calls. Margin calls typically arise
when the gap between spot commaodity prices and the level
at which traders have sold their commodity availability on a
forward basis becomes too wide, forcing them to post the
margin as proof that they can deliver in the event of default.

Duetothe extreme market conditions experienced in the fourth
quarter 2021, especially during the month of December, Eni
substantially increased the Company’s financial headroom
to cope with the disbursements required by its margin calls.
The Group has drawn €4 billion from its available committed
credit facilities to manage the critical market phase. The
situation improved somewhat in the final business days of
the year due to a sharp correction in commodity prices. The
underlying commodity derivatives that triggered the margin
calls were accounted at fair value through profit and loss or
as cash flow hedges in 2021 accounts.

Notwithstanding the Group retains a liquidity reserve, in case
of a prolonged phase of extreme volatility in the commodity
markets, the Group may be exposed to a financial risk of
being unable to cover its margin calls requirements, which
may force the Group to unwind positions at a loss or to sell
assets at a discount.

The outbreak of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine
triggered a spike in the volatility of commodity prices and this
could result in more financial risks to us.

Safety, security, environmental and other operational risk

The Group engages in the exploration and production of ail
and natural gas, processing, transportation and refining of
crude oil, transport of natural gas, storage and distribution
of petroleum products and the production of base chemicals,
plastics, and elastomers. By their nature, the Group’s
operations expose Eni to a wide range of significant health,
safety, security, and environmental risks. Technical faults,
malfunctioning of plants, equipment and facilities, control
systems failure, human errors, acts of sabotage, attacks,
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loss of containment and climate-related hazards can trigger
adverse consequences such as explosions, blow-outs, fires,
oil and gas spills from wells, pipeline and tankers, release
of contaminants and pollutants in the air, the ground and in
the water, toxic emissions and other negative events. The
magnitude of these risks is influenced by the geographic
range, operational diversity, and technical complexity of Eni's
activities. Eni's future results of operations, cash flow and
liquidity depend on its ability to identify and address the risks
and hazards inherent to operating in those industries.

In the Exploration & Production segment, Eni faces natural
hazards and other operational risks including those relating
to the physical and geological characteristics of oil and
natural gas fields. These include the risks of eruptions of
crude oil or of natural gas, discovery of hydrocarbon pockets
with abnormal pressure, crumbling of well openings, oil spills,
gas leaks, risks of blowout, fire or explosion and risks of
earthquake in connection with drilling activities.

Eni's activities in the Refining & Marketing and Chemical
segment entail health, safety and environmental risks related
to the handling, transformation and distribution of oil, oil
products and certain petrochemical products. These risks can
arise from the intrinsic characteristics and the overall lifecycle
of the products manufactured and the raw materials used
in the manufacturing process, such as oil-based feedstock,
catalysts, additives and monomer feedstock. These risks
comprise flammability, toxicity, long-term environmental
impact such as greenhouse gas emissions and risks of
various forms of pollution and contamination of the soil and
the groundwater, emissions and discharges resulting from
their use and from recycling or disposing of materials and
wastes at the end of their useful life.

All of Eni's segments of operations involve, to varying degrees,
the transportation of hydrocarbons. Risks in transportation
activities depend on several factors and variables, including
the hazardous nature of the products transported due to their
flammability and toxicity, the transportation methods utilised
(pipelines, shipping, river freight, rail, road and gas distribution
networks), thevolumesinvolvedandthe sensitivity oftheregions
through which the transport passes (quality of infrastructure,
population density, environmental considerations). All modes
of transportation of hydrocarbons are particularly susceptible
to risks of blowout, fire and loss of containment and, given that
normally high volumes are involved, could present significant
risks to people, the environment and the property.

Eni has material offshore operations relating to the
exploration and production of hydrocarbons. In 2021,
approximately 70% of Eni's total oil and gas production for
the year derived from offshore fields, mainly in Egypt, Norway,
Libya, Angola, Kazakhstan, Congo, Indonesia, the United
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States, the United Arab Emirates and Venezuela. Offshore
operations in the oil and gas industry are inherently riskier
than onshore activities. Offshore accidents and spills could
cause damage of catastrophic proportions to the ecosystem
and to communities’ health and security due to the apparent
difficulties in handling hydrocarbons containment in the
sea, pollution, poisoning of water and organisms, length
and complexity of cleaning operations and other factors.
Furthermore, offshore operations are subject to marine risks,
including storms and other adverse weather conditions and
perils of vessel collisions, which may cause material adverse
effects on the Group's operations and the ecosystem.

The Company has invested and will continue to invest
significant financial resources to continuously upgrade the
methods and systems for safeguarding the reliability of its
plants, production facilities, vessels, transport and storage
infrastructures, the safety and the health of its employees,
contractors, local communities and the environment, to
prevent risks, to comply with applicable laws and policies
and to respond to and learn from unforeseen incidents.
Eni seeks to manage these operational risks by carefully
designing and building facilities, including wells, industrial
complexes, plants and equipment, pipelines, storage sites
and other facilities, and managing its operations in a safe and
reliable manner and in compliance with all applicable rules
and regulations, as well as by applying the best available
techniques in the marketplace. However, these measures
may ultimately not be completely successful in preventing
and/or altogether eliminating risks of adverse events. Failure
to properly manage these risks as well as accidental events
like human errors, unexpected system failure, sabotages or
other unexpected drivers could cause oil spills, blowouts,
fire, release of toxic gas and pollutants into the atmosphere
or the environment or in underground water and other
incidents, all of which could lead to loss of life, damage to
properties, environmental pollution, legal liabilities and/or
damage claims and consequently a disruption in operations
and potential economic losses that could have a material
and adverse effect on the Group's results of operations, cash
flow, liquidity, business prospects, financial condition, and
shareholder returns, including dividends, the amount of funds
available for stock repurchases and the price of Eni's shares.

Eni also faces risks once production is discontinued because
Eni's activities require the decommissioning of productive
infrastructures, well plugging and the environmental
remediation and clean-up of industrial hubs and oil and gas
flelds once production and manufacturing activities cease.
Furthermore, in certain situations where Eni is not the operator,
the Company may have limited influence and control over
third parties, which may limit its ability to manage and control
such risks. Eni retains worldwide third-party liability insurance
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coverage, which is designed to hedge part of the liabilities
associated with damage to third parties, loss of value to
the Group's assets related to unfavourable events and in
connection with environmental clean-up and remediation. As
of the date of this Base Prospectus, maximum compensation
allowed under such insurance coverage is equal to $1.2 billion
in case of offshore incident and $1.4 billion in case of incident
at onshore facilities (refineries). Additionally, the Company may
also activate further insurance coverage in case of specific
capital projects and other industrial initiatives. Management
believes that its insurance coverage is in line with industry
practice and is enough to cover normal risks in its operations.
However, the Company is not insured against all potential
risks. In the event of a major environmental disaster, such as
the incident which occurred at the Macondo well in the Gulf
of Mexico several years ago, Eni's third-party liability insurance
would not provide any material coverage and thus the
Company's liability would far exceed the maximum coverage
provided by its insurance. The loss Eni could suffer in case
of a disaster of material proportions would depend on all the
facts and circumstances of the event and would be subject
to a whole range of uncertainties, including legal uncertainty
as to the scope of liability for consequential damages, which
may include economic damage not directly connected to the
disaster. The Company cannot guarantee that it will not suffer
any uninsured loss and there can be no guarantee, particularly
in the case of a major environmental disaster or industrial
accident, that such a loss would not have a material adverse
effect on the Company.

The occurrence of any of the above mentioned risks could
have a material and adverse impact on the Group’s results of
operations, cash flow, liquidity, business prospects, financial
condition, and shareholder returns, including dividends, the
amount of funds available for stock repurchases and the price
of Eni's shares and could also damage the Group’s reputation.

Risks deriving from Eni’s exposure to weather conditions
Significant changes in weather conditions in Italy and in
the rest of Europe from year to year may affect demand for
natural gas and some refined products.

In colder years, demand for such products is higher.
Accordingly, the results of operations of Eni's businesses
engaged in the marketing of natural gas and, to a lesser
extent, the Refining & Marketing business, as well as the
comparability of results over different periods may be
affected by such changes in weather conditions. Over
recent years, this pattern could have been possibly affected
by the rising frequency of weather trends like milder winter
or extreme weather events like heatwaves or unusually
cold snaps, which are possible consequences of climate
change.

Eni Annual Report 2021

Risks associated with the exploration and production of oil
and natural gas

The exploration and production of oil and natural gas require
high levels of capital expenditures and are subject to natural
hazards and other uncertainties, including those relating
to the physical characteristics of oil and gas fields. The
exploration and production activities are subject to mining
risk and the risks of cost overruns and delayed start-up at
the projects to develop and produce hydrocarbons reserves.
Those risks could have an adverse, significant impact on Eni’s
future growth prospects, results of operations, cash flows,
liquidity, and shareholders’ returns.

The production of oil and natural gas is highly regulated and
is subject to conditions imposed by governments throughout
the world in matters such as the award of exploration and
production leases, the imposition of specific drilling and other
work obligations, higher-than-average rates of income taxes,
additional royalties and taxes on production, environmental
protection measures, control over the development and
decommissioning of fields and installations, and restrictions
on production. A description of the main risks facing the
Company’s business in the exploration and production of oil
and gas is provided below.

Exploratory drilling efforts may be unsuccessful
Exploration activities are mainly subject to mining risk, i.e.
the risk of dry holes or failure to find commercial quantities
of hydrocarbons. The costs of drilling and completing wells
have margins of uncertainty, and drilling operations may be
unsuccessful because of a large variety of factors, including
geological failure, unexpected drilling conditions, pressure
or heterogeneities in formations, equipment failures, well
control (blowouts) and other forms of accidents. A large part
of the Company exploratory drilling operations is located
offshore, including in deep and ultra-deep waters, in remote
areas and in environmentally-sensitive locations (such as the
Barents Sea, the Gulf of Mexico, deep water leases off West
Africa, Indonesia, the Mediterranean Sea and the Caspian
Sea). In these locations, the Company generally experiences
higher operational risks and more challenging conditions and
incurs higher exploration costs than onshore. Furthermore,
deep and ultra-deep water operations require significant time
before commercial production of discovered reserves can
commence, increasing both the operational and the financial
risks associated with these activities.

Because Eni plans to make significant investments in
executing exploration projects, it is likely that the Company
will incur significant amounts of dry hole expenses in future
years. Unsuccessful exploration activities and failure to
discover additional commercial reserves could reduce future
production of oil and natural gas, which is highly dependent
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on the rate of success of exploration projects and could
have an adverse impact on Eni's future performance, growth
prospects and returns.

Development projects bear significant operational risks

which may adversely affect actual returns

Eni's future results of operations and business prospects

depend in a significant way on its ability to carry out

and operate its major projects to develop and market
hydrocarbons reserves as planned. Key factors that may
affect the economics of these projects include:

» the outcome of negotiations with joint venture partners,
governments and state-owned companies, suppliers and
potential customers to define project terms and conditions,
including, for example, Eni's ability to negotiate favourable
long-term contracts to market gas reserves;

» timely issuance of permits and licenses by government
agencies, including obtaining all necessary administrative
authorisations to drill locations, install producing
infrastructures, build pipelines and related equipment to
transport and market hydrocarbons;

» the ability to carry out the front-end engineering design in
order to prevent the occurrence of technical inconvenience
during the execution phase;

» timely manufacturing and delivery of critical plants and
equipment by contractors, like floating production storage
and offloading (FPSO) vessels and platforms. For example,
due to adoption of emergency measures to contain the
spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, activities have slowed
down at critical shipyards resulting in delays for the
execution of few projects in our portfolio;

» risks associated with the use of new technologies and the
inability to develop advanced technologies to maximise
the recoverability rate of hydrocarbons or gain access to
previously inaccessible reservoirs;

» delays in the commissioning and hook-up phase;

» changes in operating conditions and cost overruns. We
expect the prices of key input factors such as labour,
basic materials (steel, cement and other metals) and
utilities to increase meaningfully in the next year or two
due to rising inflationary pressures rippling through the
entire supply chain at our development projects driven
by higher worldwide demand for commodities and semi-
finished goods as well as a shortage of productive factors.
However, other input expenses like rental fees of rigs have
exhibited less dynamicity due to existence of idle capacity
driven by the low level of investments in capital projects in
the upstream sector;

» the actual performance of the reservoir and natural field
decline;

» and the ability and time necessary to build suitable
transport infrastructures to export production to final
markets.
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Development projects normally have long lead times due
to complexity of the activities and tasks that need to be
performed before a project final investment decision is made
and commercial production can be achieved. Those activities
include the appraisal of a discovery to evaluate the technical
and economic feasibility of the development project, obtaining
the necessary authorisations from governments, state
agencies or national oil companies, signing agreements with
the first party regulating a project’s contractual terms such as
the production sharing and cost recovery, obtaining partners'’
approval, environmental permits and other conditions, signing
long-term gas contracts, carrying out the concept design and
the front-end engineering and building and commissioning the
related plants and facilities. All these activities can take years
to be finalised. Moreover, projects executed with partners and
joint venture partners reduce the ability of the Company to
manage risks and costs, and Eni could have limited influence
over and control of the operations and performance of its
partners.

The occurrence of any of such risks may negatively affect the
time-to-market of the reserves and may cause cost overruns
and start-up delays, lengthening the project pay-back period.
Those would adversely affect the economic returns of Eni's
development projects and the achievement of production
growth targets, also considering that those projects are
exposed to the volatility of oil and gas prices which may
be substantially different from those estimated when the
investment decision was made, thereby leading to lower
return rates.

Finally, if the Company is unable to develop and operate major
projects as planned, it could incur significant impairment
losses of capitalised costs associated with reduced future
cash flows of those projects.

Inability to replace oil and natural gas reserves could
adversely impact results of operations and financial
condition, including cash flows

In case the Company’s exploration efforts are unsuccessful
at replacing produced oil and natural gas, its reserves will
decline. In addition to being a function of production, revisions
and new discoveries, the Company'’s reserve replacement is
also affected by the entitlement mechanism in its production
sharing agreements ("PSAs”), whereby the Company is
entitled to a portion of a field’s reserves, the sale of which is
intended to cover expenditures incurred by the Company to
develop and operate the field. The higher the reference prices
for Brent crude oil used to estimate Eni's proved reserves, the
lower the number of barrels necessary to recover the same
amount of expenditure, and vice versa.

Future oil and gas production is a function of the Company’s
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ability to access new reserves through new discoveries,
application of improved techniques, success in development
activity, negotiations with national oil companies and other
owners of known reserves and acquisitions.

An inability to replace produced reserves by discovering,
acquiring and developing additional reserves could adversely
impact future production levels and growth prospects. If Eni
is unsuccessful in meeting its long-term targets of reserve
replacement, Eni’s future total proved reserves and production
will decline.

Uncertainties in estimates of oil and natural gas reserves
The accuracy of proved reserve estimates and of projections
of future rates of production and timing of development
costs depends on several factors, assumptions and variables,
including:

» the quality of available geological, technical and economic
data and their interpretation and judgment;

» management's assumptions regarding future rates
of production and costs and timing of operating and
development costs. The projections of higher operating
and development costs may impair the ability of the
Company to economically produce reserves leading to
downward reserve revisions;

» changes in the prevailing tax rules, other government
regulations and contractual terms and conditions;

» results of drilling, testing and the actual production
performance of Eni's reservoirs after the date of the
estimates which may drive substantial upward or
downward revisions; and

» changes in oil and natural gas prices which could affect
the quantities of Eni's proved reserves since the estimates
of reserves are based on prices and costs existing as of
the date when these estimates are made.

Lower oil prices may impair the ability of the Company to

economically produce reserves leading to downward reserve

revisions.

Many of the factors, assumptions and variables underlying
the estimation of proved reserves involve management'’s
judgment or are outside management's control (prices,
governmental regulations) and may change over time,
therefore affecting the estimates of oil and natural gas
reserves from year-to-year.

The prices used in calculating Eni's estimated proved reserves
are, in accordance with the SEC requirements, calculated by
determining the unweighted arithmetic average of the first
day-of-the-month commodity prices for the preceding twelve
months. Accordingly, the estimated reserves reported as of
the end of any given year could be significantly different from
the quantities of oil and natural gas that will be ultimately
recovered. Any downward revision in Eni's estimated
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quantities of proved reserves would indicate lower future
production volumes, which could adversely impact Eni's
business prospects, results of operations, cash flows and
liquidity.

The development of the Group’s proved undeveloped
reserves may take longer and may require higher levels
of capital expenditures than it currently anticipates or the
Group’s proved undeveloped reserves may not ultimately be
developed or produced

As of December 31, 2021, approximately 30% of the Group's
total estimated proved reserves (by volume) were undeveloped
and may not be ultimately developed or produced. Recovery of
undeveloped reserves requires significant capital expenditures
and successful drilling operations. The Group's reserve
estimates assume it can and will make these expenditures and
conduct these operations successfully. These assumptions
may not prove to be accurate and are subject to the risk of
a structural decline in the prices of hydrocarbons due to a
possible acceleration towards a low carbon economy and
a shift in consumers’ behaviour and preferences. In case
of a prolonged decline in the prices of hydrocarbon the
Group may not have enough financial resources to make the
necessary expenditures to recover undeveloped reserves.
The Group’s reserve report as of December 31, 2021 includes
estimates of total future development and decommissioning
costs associated with the Group's proved total reserves
of approximately €32.2 billion (undiscounted, including
consolidated subsidiaries and equity-accounted entities). It
cannot be certain that estimated costs of the development
of these reserves will prove correct, development will occur
as scheduled, or the results of such development will be as
estimated. In case of change in the Company'’s plans to develop
those reserves, or if it is not otherwise able to successfully
develop these reserves as a result of the Group's inability to
fund necessary capital expenditures or otherwise, it will be
required to remove the associated volumes from the Group’s
reported proved reserves.

The Oil & Gas industry is a capital-intensive business and
needs large amount of funds to find and develop reserves.
In case the Group does not have access to sufficient funds
its Oil & Gas business may decline

The Oil & Gas industry is capital intensive. Eni makes and
expects to continue to make substantial capital expenditures
in its business for the exploration, development and
production of oil and natural gas reserves. Over the next four
years, the Company plans to invest in the QOil & Gas business
approximately €4.5 billion per year on average. Historically,
Eni's capital expenditures have been financed with cash
generated from operations, proceeds from asset disposals,
borrowings under its credit facilities and proceeds from the
issuance of debt and bonds. The actual amount and timing
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of future capital expenditures may differ materially from
Eni's estimates as a result of, among other things, changes
in commodity prices, available cash flows, lack of access
to capital, actual drilling results, the availability of drilling
rigs and other services and equipment, the availability of
transportation capacity, and regulatory, technological and
competitive developments. Eni's cash flows from operations
and access to capital markets are subject to several variables,
including but not limited to:
» the amount of Eni’s proved reserves;
» the volume of crude oil and natural gas Eni is able to
produce and sell from existing wells;
» the prices at which crude oil and natural gas are sold;
» Eni’s ability to acquire, find and produce new reserves; and
» the ability and willingness of Eni's lenders to extend credit or
of participants in the capital markets to invest in Eni's bonds.
If revenues or Eni's ability to borrow decrease significantly
due to factors such as a prolonged decline in crude oil and
natural gas prices or a more stringent investment framework
on part of lenders and financing institutions due to ESG
considerations, Eni might have limited ability to obtain the
capital necessary to sustain its planned capital expenditures.
If cash generated by operations, cash from asset disposals,
or cash available under Eni’s liquidity reserves or its credit
facilities is not sufficient to meet capital requirements,
the failure to obtain additional financing could result in a
curtailment of operations relating to development of Eni's
reserves, which in turn could adversely affect its results of
operations and cash flows and its ability to achieve its growth
plans. In addition, funding Eni's capital expenditures with
additional debt will increase its leverage and the issuance
of additional debt will require a portion of Eni's cash flows
from operations to be used for the payment of interest and
principal on its debt, thereby reducing its ability to use cash
flows to fund capital expenditures and dividends.

Oil & Gas activity may be subject to increasingly high levels
of income taxes and royalties

0il & Gas operations are subject to the payment of royalties
and income taxes, which tend to be higher than those payable
in many other commercial activities. Furthermore, in recent
years, Eni has experienced adverse changes in the tax regimes
applicable to Oil & Gas operations in a number of countries
where the Company conducts its upstream operations. As
a result of these trends, management estimates that the
tax rate applicable to the Company's Oil & Gas operations
is materially higher than the lItalian statutory tax rate for
corporate profit, which currently stands at 24%. Management
believes that the marginal tax rate in the QOil & Gas industry
tends to increase in correlation with higher oil prices, which
could make it more difficult for Eni to translate higher oil
prices into increased net profit. However, the Company
does not expect that the marginal tax rate will decrease in
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response to falling oil prices. Adverse changes in the tax rate
applicable to the Group’s profit before income taxes in its Qil &
Gas operations would have a negative impact on Eni’s future
results of operations and cash flows.

In the current uncertain financial and economic environment,
governments are facing greater pressure on public finances,
which may induce themtointervene in the fiscal framework for
the Qil & Gas industry, including the risk of increased taxation,
windfall taxes, and even nationalisations and expropriations.
Due to increasing public concern about rising energy costs in
connection with the announcement of strong profits for the
year 2021 by oil companies, governments may seek ways
to reduce the energy bill by increasing the fiscal take on oil
companies, also by enacting windfall taxes on companies’
extra-profits, or by introducing some forms of price controls.

In March 2022, the Italian government enacted a windfall
tax scheme on domestic extra-profits of energy companies.
Considering that further legislative and implementing steps
are required and since the full set of comparison data,
extending till March 2022, are not fully available, to date it not
feasible a reliable estimation of the possible impact which
however is expected non-significant at Group level.

The present value of future net revenues from Eni’s proved

reserves will not necessarily be the same as the current

market value of Eni's estimated crude oil and natural gas

reserves

The present value of future net revenues from Eni's proved

reserves may differ from the current market value of Eni's

estimated crude oil and natural gas reserves. In accordance

with the SEC rules, Eni bases the estimated discounted

future net revenues from proved reserves on the 12-month

un-weighted arithmetic average of the first day of the month

commodity prices for the preceding twelve months. Actual

future prices may be materially higher or lower than the SEC

pricing used in the calculations. Actual future net revenues

from crude oil and natural gas properties will be affected by

factors such as:

» the actual prices Eni receives for sales of crude oil and
natural gas;

» the actual cost and timing of development and production
expenditures;

» the timing and amount of actual production; and

» changes in governmental regulations or taxation.

The timing of both Eni’'s production and its incurrence of
expenses in connection with the development and production
of crude oil and natural gas properties will affect the timing
and amount of actual future net revenues from proved
reserves, and thus their actual present value. Additionally, the
10% discount factor Eni uses when calculating discounted
future net revenues may not be the most appropriate discount
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factor based on interest rates in effect from time to time
and risks associated with Eni’s reserves or the crude oil and
natural gas industry in general.

Oil & Gas activity may be subject to increasingly high
levels of regulations throughout the world, which may
have an impact on the Group’s extraction activities and the
recoverability of reserves

The production of oil and natural gas is highly regulated and
is subject to conditions imposed by governments throughout
the world in matters such as the award of exploration and
production leases, the imposition of specific drilling and
other work obligations, environmental protection measures,
control over the development and abandonment of fields and
installations, and restrictions on production. These risks can
limit the Group’s access to hydrocarbons reserves or may
cause the Group to redesign, curtail or cease its Oil & Gas
operations with significant effects on the Group’s business
prospects, results of operations and cash flow.

In Italy, the activities of hydrocarbon development and
production are performed by oil companies in accordance with
concessions granted by the Ministry of Economic Development
in agreement with the relevant Region territorially involved in
the case of onshore concessions. Concessions are granted for
an initial twenty-year term; the concessionaire is entitled to a
ten-year extension and then to one or more five-year extensions
to fully recover a field's reserves and investments on the
condition that the concessionaire has fulfilled all obligations
related to the work program agreed in the original concession
award. In case of delay in the award of an extension, the
original concession remains fully effective until completion of
the administrative procedure to grant an extension.

In February 2022, the Italian government adopted a national
plan designed to identify areas that are suitable for carrying
out exploration, development and production of hydrocarbons
in the national territory and offshore territorial waters, in
accordance with environmental and other sustainability
criteria. The granting of new concessions or the extension of
existing ones must comply with the plan criteria. However,
Eni's ongoing development concessions located partially or
totally in environmentally-sensitive areas retains their efficacy
as far as the analysis of economic costs and benefits of the
petroleum initiative proves to yield a net benefit.

Eni's future performance depends on its ability to identify and
mitigate the above-mentioned risks and hazards which are
inherent to its Oil & Gas business. Failure to properly manage
those risks, the Company’s underperformance at exploration,
development and reserve replacement activities or the
occurrence of unforeseen regulatory risks may adversely
and materially impact the Group's results of operations, cash
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flow, liquidity, business prospects, financial condition, and
shareholder returns, including dividends, the amount of funds
available for stock repurchases and the price of Eni's shares.

Risks related to political considerations

As at 31 December 2021, 80% of Eni's proved hydrocarbon

reserves were located in non-OECD (Organisation for Economic

Co-operation and Development) countries, mainly in Africa,

where the socio-political framework, the financial system and

the macroeconomic outlook are less stable than in the OECD

countries. In those non-OECD countries, Eni is exposed to a

wide range of political risks and uncertainties, which may

impair Eni's ability to continue operating economically on a

temporary or permanent basis, and Eni’s ability to access oil

and gas reserves. Particularly, Eni faces risks in connection
with the following potential issues and risks:

» socio-political instability leading to internal conflicts,
revolutions, establishment of non-democratic regimes,
protests, attacks, and other forms of civil disorder and
unrest, such as strikes, riots, sabotage, acts of violence
and similar events. These risks could result in disruptions
to economic activity, loss of output, plant closures and
shutdowns, project delays, loss of assets and threats to
the security of personnel. They may disrupt financial and
commercial markets, including the supply of and pricing
for oil and natural gas, and generate greater political and
economic instability in some of the geographical areas
in which Eni operates. Additionally, any possible reprisals
because of military or other action, such as acts of
terrorism in Europe, the United States or elsewhere, could
have a material adverse effect on the world economy and
hence on the global demand for hydrocarbons;

» lack of well-established and reliable legal systems and
uncertainties surrounding the enforcement of contractual

rights;
» unfavourable enforcement of laws, regulations and
contractual arrangements leading, for example, to

expropriation, nationalisation or forced divestiture of
assets and unilateral cancellation or modification of
contractual terms;

» sovereign default or financial instability due to the fact
that those countries rely heavily on petroleum revenues
to sustain public finance and petroleum revenues have
materially contracted in 2020 due plunging hydrocarbons
prices as a consequence of the global economic crisis
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Financial difficulties
at country level often translate into failure by state-owned
companies and agencies to fulfil their financial obligations
towards Eni relating to funding capital commitments in
projects operated by Eni or to timely paying for supplies of
equity oil and gas volumes;

» restrictions on exploration,
exports;

production, imports and
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» tax or royalty increases (including retroactive claims);

» difficulties in finding qualified international or
suppliers in critical operating environments; and

» complex processes of granting authorisations or licences
affecting time-to-market of certain development projects.

Areas where Eni operates and where the Company is

particularly exposed to political risk include, but are not

limited to Libya, Venezuela and Nigeria.

local

Eni's operations in Libya are currently exposed to significant
geopolitical risks. The social and political instability of the
Country dates back to the revolution of 2011 that brought a
change of regime and a civil war, triggering an uninterrupted
period of lack of well-established institutions and recurrent
events of internal conflict, clashes, disorders and other
forms of civil turmoil and unrest between the two conflicting
factions. In the year of the revolution, Eni’s operations in Libya
were materially affected by a full-scale war, which forced
the Company to shut down its development and extractive
activities for almost all of 2011, with a significant negative
impact on the Group’s results of operation and cash flow. In
subsequent years, Eni has experienced frequent disruptions
to its operations, albeit on a smaller scale than in 2011, due
to security threats to its installations and personnel. The
situation begun to improve in September 2020, thanks to a
peace agreement between the conflicting factions, which
enabled full resumption of operations at all Libyan oilfields,
revoking force majeure declared at the start of 2020. In 2021,
Eni's production in Libya amounted to 168 kboe/d and was
in line with management's plans. Despite this, management
believes that Libya's geopolitical situation will continue to
represent a source of risk and uncertainty to Eni's operationsin
the country and to the Group's results of operations and cash
flow. Currently, Libyan production represents approximately
10% of the Group's total production; this percentage is
forecasted to decrease in the medium-term in line with the
expected implementation of the Group’s strategy intended to
diversify the Group's geographical presence to better balance
the geopolitical risk of the portfolio by expanding the Group'’s
presence in the United Arabian Emirates and Norway.

Venezuela is currently experiencing a situation of financial
stress, which has been exacerbated by the economic
recession caused by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Lack of financial resources to support the development of
the country’s hydrocarbons reserves has negatively affected
the country's production levels and hence fiscal revenues.
The situation has been made worse by certain international
sanctions targeting the country’s financial system and its
ability to export crude oil to U.S. markets, which is the main
outlet of Venezuelan production.

Currently,the Company retains only one assetin Venezuela: the
50%-participated Carddn IV joint venture, which is operating
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an offshore natural gas field and is supplying its production
to the national oil company, Petroleos de Venezuela SA
("PDVSA"), under a long-term supply agreement. PDVSA has
failed to pay regularly the receivables for the gas volumes
supplied by Cardon IV and consequently a significant amount
of overdue receivables is outstanding at the closing date of
the financial year 2021 and a credit loss provision has been
booked to reflect the counterparty risk. The Company incurred
in past years significant impairment losses and reserves de-
bookings at the other main project in Venezuela relating to
the PetroJunin onshore oilfield; the residual book value of
the property was completely written off in 20271 due to lack
of any prospects of economic returns. As at December 37,
2021, Eni's invested capital in Venezuela was approximately
€1.3 billion, mainly relating to trade receivable owed to us
by PDVSA for the supplies of volumes of equity natural gas
produced by the Cardon IV joint venture. Due to a tightening
of the international sanction regime, during the course of
2021, Eni was unable to obtain any in-kind reimbursement of
its outstanding trade receivables owed by PDVSA.

The Group has significant credit exposure to state-owned and
privately-held local companies in Nigeria, where the financial
and economic outlook of the country has been made worse
by the contraction of petroleum revenues due to the crisis
of the oil sector in 2020 caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Eni's credit exposure amounting to about €0.7 billion relates
to the funding of the share of capital expenditures pertaining
to Nigerian joint operators at Eni-operated oil projects. Eni
has incurred significant credit losses because of the ongoing
difficulties of Eni's Nigerian counterparts to reimburse
amounts past due.

In Nigeria, the Oil Prospecting License 245 held by Eni expired
in May 2021 and a request is pending to convert the license
into an oil mining license to start reserve development before
the Nigerian authorities in charge. The management believes
therequest of conversion complies with the contractual terms,
deadline, and any other applicable conditions. However, the
Nigerian authorities are holding back the approval. Eni has
started an arbitration before an ICSID court to preserve the
value of its asset.

Sanction targets

The most relevant sanction programs for Eni are those issued
by the European Union and the United States of America and
in particular, as of today, the restrictive measures adopted by
such authorities in respect of Russia and Venezuela.

In response to the Russia-Ukraine crisis of 2014 and again
to the Russia invasion of Ukraine of February 2022, the
European Union and the United States have enacted a
broad regime of sanctions targeting, inter alia, the financial
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and energy sectors in Russia by restricting the supply of
certain oil and gas items and services to Russia and certain
forms of financing and the other measures described in the
risk factor on the Russia-Ukraine war above. In response
to these restrictions, the Company has put on hold its
projects in the upstream sectors in Russia in past years
and currently is not engaged in any Qil & Gas project in the
country. It is not possible to rule out the possibility that
wider sanctions targeting the Russian energy, banking and/
or finance industries be implemented. Further sanctions
imposed on Russia, Russian citizens or Russian companies
by the international community, such as restrictions on
purchases of Russian gas by European companies or
measures restricting dealings with Russian counterparties,
could adversely impact Eni's business, results of operations
and cash flow given Eni's exposure to natural gas supplies
from Russia as further described in the risk factor on the
Russia Ukraine war above. Furthermore, an escalation of
the international crisis, resulting in a tightening of sanctions,
could entail a significant disruption of energy supply and
trade flows globally, which could have a material adverse
effect on the Group's business, financial conditions, results
of operations and prospects.

From 2017, the United States have enacted a regime of
economic and financial sanctions against Venezuela. The
scope of the restrictions, initially targeting certain financial
instrumentsissued or sold by the Government of Venezuela, was
gradually expanded over 2017 and 2018 and then significantly
broadened during the course of 2019 when PDVSA, the main
national state-owned enterprise, has been added to the
“Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List” and
the Venezuelan government and its controlled entities became
subject to assets freeze in the United States. Even if such U.S.
sanctions are substantially “primary” and therefore dedicated
in principle to U.S. persons only, retaliatory measures and other
adverse consequences may also interest foreign entities which
operate with Venezuelan listed entities and/or in the oil sector
of the country. The U.S. sanction regime against Venezuela has
been further tightened in the final part of 2020 by restricting
any Venezuelan oil exports, including swap schemes utilised
by foreign entities to recover trade and financing receivables
from PDVSA and other Venezuelan counterparties. This latter
tightening of the sanction regime has reduced the Group's
ability to collect the trade receivable owed to Eni for its activity
in the country in the course of 2021.

Eni carefully evaluates on a case by case basis the adoption of
adequate measures to minimise its exposure to any sanctions
risk which may affect its business operation. In any case, the U.S.
sanctions add stress to the already complex financial, political
and operating outlook of the country, which could further limit
the ability of Eni to recover its investments in Venezuela.
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2 RISKS SPECIFIC TO THE COMPANY’S GAS
BUSINESS IN ITALY

Current, negative trends in the gas competitive
environment in Europe may impair the Company’s ability to
fulfil its minimum off-take obligations in connection with
its take-or-pay, long-term gas supply contracts

Eni is currently party to a few long-term gas supply
contracts with state-owned companies of key producing
countries, from where most of the gas supplies directed to
Europe are sourced via pipeline (Russia, Algeria, Libya and
Norway). These contracts which were intended to support
Eni's sales plan in Italy and in other European markets,
provide take-or-pay clauses whereby the Company has an
obligation to lift minimum, pre-set volumes of gas in each
year of the contractual term or, in case of failure, to pay the
whole price, or a fraction of that price, up to a minimum
contractual quantity. Similar considerations apply to ship-
or-pay contractual obligations which arise from contracts
with pipeline owners, which the Company has entered
into to secure long-term transport capacity. Long-term
gas supply contracts with take-or-pay clauses expose the
Company to a volume risk, as the Company is obligated
to purchase an annual minimum volume of gas, or in case
of failure, to pay the underlying price. The structure of the
Company’s portfolio of gas supply contracts is a risk to the
profitability outlook of Eni's wholesale gas business due
to the current competitive dynamics in the European gas
markets. In past downturns of the gas sector, the Company
incurred significant cash outflows in response to its take-
or-pay obligations. Furthermore, the Company’s wholesale
business is exposed to volatile spreads between the
procurement costs of gas, which are linked to spot prices
at European hubs or to the price of crude oil, and the selling
prices of gas which are mainly indexed to spot prices at the
Italian hub.

Eni's management is planning to continue its strategy
of renegotiating the Company’'s long-term gas supply
contracts in order to constantly align pricing terms to
current market conditions as they evolve and to obtain
greater operational flexibility to better manage the take-
or-pay obligations (volumes and delivery points among
others), considering the risk factors described above. The
revision clauses included in these contracts state the right
of each counterparty to renegotiate the economic terms
and other contractual conditions periodically, in relation to
ongoing changes in the gas scenario. Management believes
that the outcome of those renegotiations is uncertain in
respect of both the amount of the economic benefits that
will be ultimately obtained and the timing of recognition of
profit. Furthermore, in case Eni and the gas suppliers fail
to agree on revised contractual terms, both parties can
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start an arbitration procedure to obtain revised contractual
conditions. All these possible developments within the
renegotiation process could increase the level of risks and
uncertainties relating the outcome of those renegotiations.

Risks associated with the regulatory powers entrusted
to the Italian Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks
and Environment in the matter of pricing to residential
customers

Eni's wholesale gas and retail gas and power businesses are
subject to regulatory risks mainly in Italy’s domestic market.
The Italian Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks and
Environment (the “Authority”) is entrusted with certain
powers in the matter of natural gas and power pricing.
Specifically, the Authority retains a surveillance power on
pricing in the natural gas market in Italy and the power
to establish selling tariffs for the supply of natural gas to
residential and commercial users until the market is fully
opened. Developments in the regulatory framework intended
to increase the level of market liquidity or of deregulation or
intended to reduce operators’ ability to transfer to customers
cost increases in raw materials may negatively affect future
sales margins of gas and electricity, operating results
and cash flow. In the current environment characterized
by rising energy costs, it is increasingly possible that the
Authority may enact measures intended to put a cap on the
wholesale prices of natural gas and electricity or to reduce
the indexation of the cost of the raw materials in pricing
formulae applied by retail companies that market natural
gas and electricity to residential customers. Our GGP
business that engages in the wholesale marketing of natural
gas and our Plenitude subsidiary that engages in the retail
marketing of natural gas and electricity are exposed to this
regulatory risk.

3 RISKS RELATED TO ENVIRONMENTAL,
HEALTH AND SAFETY REGULATIONS AND
LEGAL RISKS

Eni has incurred in the past, and will continue incurring,
material operating expenses and expenditures, and is
exposed to business risk in relation to compliance with
applicable environmental, health and safety regulations
in future years, including compliance with any national
or international regulation on greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions

Eni is subject to numerous European Union, international,
national, regional and local laws and regulations regarding
theimpact of its operations on the environment and on health
and safety of employees, contractors, communities and
on the value of properties. Laws and regulations intended
to preserve the environment and to safeguard health and
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safety of workers and communities are particularly strict
in the Company’'s businesses due to their inherent nature
because of flammability and toxicity of hydrocarbons and
of objective risks of industrial processes to develop, extract,
refine and transport oil, gas and products. Generally, these
laws and regulations require acquisition of a permit before
drilling for hydrocarbons may commence, restrict the types,
quantities and concentration of various substances that
can be released into the environment in connection with
exploration, drilling and production activities, including
refinery and petrochemical plant operations, limit or prohibit
drilling activities in certain protected areas, require to remove
and dismantle drilling platforms and other equipment and
well plug-in once oil and gas operations have terminated,
provide for measures to be taken to protect the safety of the
workplace, the health of employees, contractors and other
Company collaborators and of communities involved by the
Company'’s activities, and impose criminal or civil liabilities
for polluting the environment or harming employees’ or
communities’ health and safety as result from the Group’s
operations. These laws and regulations control the emission
of scrap substances and pollutants, discipline the handling
of hazardous materials and set limits to or prohibit the
discharge of soil, water or groundwater contaminants,
emissions of toxic gases and other air pollutants or can
impose taxes on carbon dioxide emissions, as in the case
of the European Trading Scheme that requires the payment
of a tax for each tons of carbon dioxide emitted in the
environment above a pre-set allowance, resulting from the
operation of oil and natural gas extraction and processing
plants, petrochemical plants, refineries, service stations,
vessels, oil carriers, pipeline systems and other facilities
owned or operated by Eni.

Inaddition, Eni'soperationsare subjecttolawsandregulations
relating to the production, handling, transportation, storage,
disposal and treatment of waste. Breaches of environmental,
health and safety laws and regulations as in the case of
negligent or wilful release of pollutants and contaminants
into the atmosphere, the soil, water or groundwater or
exceeding the concentration thresholds of contaminants
set by the law expose the Company to the incurrence of
liabilities associated with compensation for environmental,
health or safety damage and expenses for environmental
remediation and clean-up. Furthermore, in the case of
violation of certain rules regarding the safeguard of the
environment and the health of employees, contractors and
other collaborators of the Company, and of communities,
the Company may incur liabilities in connection with the
negligent or wilful violation of laws by its employees as per
Italian Law Decree no. 231/2001.

Environmental, health and safety laws and regulations have a
substantial impact on Eni’s operations. Management expects
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that the Group will continue to incur significant amounts
of operating expenses and expenditures in the foreseeable
future to comply with laws and regulations and to safeguard
the environment and the health and safety of employees,
contractors and communities involved by the Company
operations, including:

» costs to prevent, control, eliminate or reduce certain
types of air and water emissions and handle waste and
other hazardous materials, including the costs incurred
in connection with government action to address climate
change (see the specific section below on climate-related
risks);

» remedial and clean-up measures related to environmental
contamination or accidents at various sites, including
those owned by third parties;

» damage compensation claimed by individuals and entities,
including local, regional or state administrations, should Eni
cause any kind of accident, oil spill, well blowouts, pollution,
contamination, emission of air pollutants and toxic gases
above permitted levels or of any other hazardous gases,
water, ground or air contaminants or pollutants, as a
result of its operations or if the Company is found guilty of
violating environmental laws and regulations; and

» costs in connection with the decommissioning and
removal of drilling platforms and other facilities, and well
plugging at the end of Qil & Gas field production.

As a further consequence of any new laws and regulations
or other factors, like the actual or alleged occurrence of
environmental damage at Eni's plants and facilities, the
Company may be forced to curtail, modify or cease certain
operations or implement temporary shutdowns of facilities.
If any of the risks set out above materialise, they could
adversely impact the Group’s results of operations, cash
flow, liquidity, business prospects, financial condition, and
shareholder returns, including dividends, the amount of funds
available for stock repurchases and the price of Eni's shares.

Climate change-related risks

Increasing worldwide efforts to tackle climate change may
lead to the adoption of stricter regulations to curb carbon
emissions and this may end up suppressing demands for
our products in medium-to-long-term

Governments of the nations that have signed the 2015
COP 21 Paris Agreement have been advancing plans and
initiatives intended to transition the economy towards a low
carbon model in the long run to pursue the objective to limit
the temperature increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels
and tackle risks of structural modifications to the Earth
climate, which would pose serious threat to life on the planet.
The scientific community has been sounding alarms over
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the potential, catastrophic consequences caused by rising
global temperatures to the environment and has established
that the release in the atmosphere of carbon dioxide (CO,)
as a result of burning fossil fuels and other human activities
and the emissions of other harmful gases like methane are
the main drivers of climate change. The rising in frequency
and dangerousness of many extreme weather events
has been widely recognized as a direct consequence of
the climate change such as floods, drought, hurricanes,
heat waves, cold snaps, rising sea levels, fires and other
environmental mutations, which have been causing material
damage to economies, loss of human lives and destruction
of ecosystems and other negative impacts. The energy
transition, as well as increasingly stricter regulations in the
field of CO, emission, could adversely and materially affect
demands for the Group’s products and hence our business,
res